

City of Fayetteville FINAL DRAFT Comprehensive Plan

July 6, 2017

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL

Edward J. Johnson, Jr. Mayor Scott Stacy, Mayor Pro Tem Kathaleen Brewer Paul C. Oddo, Jr. Harlan Shirley James B. Williams

CITY STAFF

Ray Gibson, City Manager Anne Barksdale, City Clerk LaShawn Gardiner, City Planner Julie Brown, Senior Planner Reggie James, Planner

STEERING COMMITTEE

Greg Aikin Janice Boyd Robert Burch Cathy Cochran Ken Collins Larry Dell Michelle Fowler Rachel Goergen Len Gough Karen Graiser Rick Halbert Rich Hoffman Jeff Hollis Abe Morrall Brett Nolan Katie Pace Lauren Panter Debra Renfroe Ken Steele Carlotta Ungaro Cam Williams



Resolution R-24-17

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE RESOLUTION TO ADOPT 2017 Comprehensive Plan

WHEREAS, the City of Fayetteville has completed the update of the 20-year Comprehensive Plan;

WHEREAS, this document was prepared according to the Rules of the Georgia Department of Community Affairs, Chapter 110-12-1, Minimum Standards and Procedures for Local Comprehensive Planning, effective March 1, 2014 and established by the Georgia Planning Act of 1989, and the required public hearings were held.

BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED, that the City of Fayetteville Council does hereby adopt the 2017 Comprehensive Plan.

APPROVED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE at a regular meeting of the Mayor and Council on the 7th day of September, 2017, by the following voting for adoption:

ATTEST:

Edward J. Johnson, Jr. Mayor

Anne Barksdale, City Clerk

Scott Stacy, Mayor Pro Tem

athaleen Brewer, Council Member

all C. Offo

Paul C. Oddo, Jr., Council Member

Harlag Shirley, Council Membe

James B. Williams, Council Member

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive Summary
Population and Demographics
Race
Income
Education
Population Projections
Housing
Housing Occupancy
Type of Housing Structures12
Housing Age and Condition
Housing Value
Employment-Housing Balance
Housing For Special Populations
Economic Development
Residents Employment
Economic Data
Recent Economic Development Studies17
Economic Development Opportunities18
Economic Development Programs21
Transportation
Fayette County Comprehensive Transportation Plan23
Regional transportation Plan23
City of Fayetteville Transportation Improvements25
Land Use
Existing Land Use
Zoning
Community Participation
Issues
Opportunities
Vision Statement
Community Goals

Transportation Goals	
Housing Goals	
Economic Development Goals	44
Land Use Goals	
Future Land Use	
Capital Improvements Element	67
Community Work Program	69
Report of Accomplishments	75
Appendix A - Community Survey Results	83
Appendix B - Public Participation	85

MAPS

Map 1: Existing Land Use Map	29
Map 2: Future Land Use Map	65

TABLES

Table 1: Fayetteville Population 7
Table 2: Income Distribution
Table 3: Educational Attainment
Table 4: Residential Certificates of Occupancy
Table 5: Housing Occupancy
Table 6: Number of Units in Occupied Housing Structures 12
Table 7: Age of Housing Stock 13
Table 8: Median Home Values 13
Table 9: Employment-Housing Balance 14
Table 10: Resident Labor force Characteristics 15
Table 11: Jobs by Sector
Table 12: Major Private Sector Employers 17
Table 13: Regional Transportation Plan Projects
Table 14: SPLOST Distribution
Table 15: SPLOST Projects
Table 16: Existing Land Use Categories
Table 17: Community Work Program
Table 18: Report of Accomplishments

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Georgia Department of Community Affairs (DCA) has established standards and procedures for Local Comprehensive Planning to provide a framework for local governments to create a long term plan that will address critical planning issues and opportunities. These standards and procedures reflect the state's interest in promoting healthy and communities. economically vibrant The Comprehensive Plan should act as a guide for communities in achieving their goals and objectives, and should be used as a decision-making guide by local officials and community leaders for a 20-year planning period.

Fayettevilie's Comprehensive Plan includes the following elements:

- An examination of the Issues and Opportunities facing the City of Fayetteville
- Foundational data and analysis related to:
 - o Housing
 - o Economic Development
 - o Transportation
 - o Land Use
- Community Goals and Strategies for achieving the Goals of four main focus areas:
 - o Housing
 - o Economic Development
 - o Transportation
 - o Land Use
- Community Work Program
- Report of Accomplishments
- Capital Improvements Element

Public input, coupled with an engaged Steering Committee, helped to identify issues and opportunities, which in turn helped to shape community goals. Projects and initiatives which will help the City of Fayetteville achieve its goals are enumerated in the Community Work Program.



The Housing Element examines the adequacy and suitability of existing housing to meet current and future needs. It includes data on housing occupancy, age of housing stock, median home values, jobs-housing balance, and housing for special populations.

The Economic Development Element addresses the vitality of Fayetteville and considers factors such as economic diversity of the city, the local labor force, assets, economic development programs, broadband availability, and projected economic growth.

The Transportation Element anticipates participation in the upcoming Fayette County Comprehensive Transportation Plan and highlights projects and policies that will benefit the City of Fayetteville.

The Land Use Element is a key part of the Comprehensive Plan, as it includes the Existing Land Use Map, Future Land Use Map, and detailed descriptions of the character of the various types of land use designations. The map and descriptions should be referenced as decisions about land use and development are made, as well as in determining areas for infrastructure upgrades and additional services. The Future Land Use Map reflects the community's vision for growth and development, as determined through the community input process, and a review of existing land uses and market conditions. Within each land use map designation, there are appropriate land uses and zoning categories listed, as well as photos of the preferred types and style of development.

While the Future Land Use Map should be the guide for the 20-year planning period, it is important to note that regular review of the map is necessary to ensure that it meets the latest market trends, which may change the demands for development. Further, if a rezoning which does not fit the designated future land use is granted, there should be an amendment to the Future Land Use Map in order to ensure that it reflects the use of the parcel.

The Community Work Program includes projects and initiatives which will help with implementation of the Community Goals. While the Comprehensive Plan as a whole incorporates policies and strategies for a 20-year planning period, the Community Work Program outlines specific implementation strategies in a five-year timeframe.

The Capital Improvements Element includes all of the capital investments that the City of Fayetteville plans to make in the next five years in order to facilitate achievement of the City's goals.

POPULATION AND DEMOGRAPHICS

The City of Fayetteville has seen substantial growth since 2000. According to the 2000 Census, the City's population was 11,148. In the 2010 Census, the population of the City of Fayetteville increased substantially, to 15,945 people, which is a 43-percent increase.

In 2015, the US Census Quick Facts estimated the City of Fayetteville population was 16,990, which accounts for a six-percent increase from 2010. The US Census American FactFinder estimates the 2015 population at 16,500. The City of Fayetteville Community Development Department estimates the current population to be 16,842, based on the number of residential certificates of occupancy issued since 2010 and the City's average household size.

According to the US Census, there are 6,167 households in Fayetteville and the average household size is 2.6 persons. Of the 6,167 households, 68.4 percent of the households are family households and 31.6 percent are non-family households.

Of the family households, 52.7 percent are married couples with children under 18. Of the non-family households, 30.5 percent are people living alone and 14.5 percent are over 65.

Age Distribution	Stage of Life	Number of Fayetteville Residents 2015	Percentage of Fayetteville Population 2015	Percentage of Atlanta Region Population 2015
Under 5	Pre-	804	4.0 %	7.0 %
years old	School			
5 - 19	School	3,765	22.0 %	22.0 %
years old	Age			
20 - 24	College	920	5.0 %	7.0 %
years old				
25 - 44	Family	3,598	21.0 %	30.0%
years old	Forming			
45 - 64	Peak	4,588	27.0 %	25.0%
years old	Earning			-
65+ years old	Seniors	2,825	17.0 %	9.0 %
Estin	nated Total	16,500	100 %	•

TABLE 1: FAYETTEVILLE POPULATION

The age distribution data for the City of Fayetteville compared to the age distribution of the Atlanta region shows that the city has a little more than half of the percentage of preschool age children that metro Atlanta has. Consistent with this finding, the City of Fayetteville has several closed day care centers. The percentage of school aged children is consistent with the rest of the Atlanta region, likely due to Fayette County's excellent school system. However

the Fayette County school system enrollment has decreased since 2007. The 2016-2017 school year enrollment was flat.

In a recent study of high school students in the area, fewer than 20 percent indicated that they would return to Fayetteville after they finished college. This sentiment may be reflected in the percentage of college aged young adults (20 - 24) that is slightly lower than the rest of metro Atlanta (5 percent compared to 7 percent) and the percentage of adults in the 25 to 44 age group that is significantly lower than the rest of metro Atlanta (21 percent compared to 30 percent). Attracting college graduates back to Fayetteville and keeping the college graduates who already live in Fayetteville is a challenge for the City.

Another significant challenge faced by the City of Fayetteville is having nearly double the metro Atlanta region's percentage of senior citizens, 17 percent compared to the Atlanta region's nine percent. Residents who are 65 and older do not pay school taxes.

RACE

Between the years of 2000 and 2015, the City of Fayetteville became more racially diverse.

Currently, 97.6 percent of Fayetteville's population identifies as being one race. The remaining 2.4 percent identify as being two or more races. Of those who identify with one race, the largest racial group in Fayetteville is White, accounting for approximately 55.7 percent of the total population of the city. The second largest racial group is Black or African American with 35 percent of the population. Asians make up 5.4 percent of the city's population. Other races make up less than one percent each of the city's population.

Hispanics of any race make up 4.7 percent of Fayetteville's population; 8.3 percent of Fayetteville's population is foreign born.

INCOME

The US Census 2011-2015 American Community Survey five-year estimates Fayetteville's median income at \$63,691, which is higher than the 10-county Atlanta region median income of \$58,844. The percentage of Fayetteville residents living in poverty is estimated to be 10.7 percent, which is lower than the 15.8 percent of Atlanta region residents living in poverty.

Table 2: Income Distribution

Income	Fayetteville	and the second second
Distribution		Atlanta Region
Under \$25,000	17%	19%
\$25,000 to \$49,999	2 5%	2 1%
\$50,000 to \$74,999	14%	18%
\$75,000 to \$99,999	18%	11%
\$100,000 to \$149,999	18%	21%
\$150,000 to \$199,999	6%	5%
\$200,000 or more	2%	5%

EDUCATION

The US Census 2011-2015 American Community Survey five year estimates provide information about educational attainment. Of adult residents over 25 years of age, 92.2 percent have earned a high school diploma, 39.6 percent have earned a bachelor's degree or higher. Fayetteville's educational attainment is similar to the Atlanta region as a whole.

TABLE 3: EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT

Educational Attainment	Fayetteville	Atlanta Region
Less than High School	7.8%	11.0%
High School	24.3%	22.3%
Some College or Associates	28.3%	27.5%
Bachelors Degree	28.2%	24.9%
Graduate or Professional Degree	11.4%	14.3%

Fayetteville is part of the Fayette County school district. Fayette County's 91.2 percent high school graduation rate ranks highly among the school districts in the 10-county Atlanta region. Fayette County schools' graduation rate is surpassed only by Forsyth County (92.7 percent), Buford City Schools (91.4 percent) and Decatur City Schools (96.7 percent).

POPULATION PROJECTIONS

To estimate Fayetteville's population growth, the City of Fayetteville Planning Department tracks the number of available platted residential lots in the city, the acreage of undeveloped residentially zoned properties, and the number of lots that could be developed. Additional pending multi-family dwelling units are also considered.

Year	Residential
	Certificates of
	Occupancy Issued
2011	8
2012	16
2013	147
2014	80
2015	51
2016	43
Annual Average	69

TABLE 4: RESIDENTIAL CERTIFICATES OF OCCUPANCY

Utilizing an average household size of 2.6 persons, the City of Fayetteville Planning Department estimates that when all of the currently zoned single-family and multi-family residential land is developed, the city's population projection is 22,275. This does not account for any population growth that may come from new land annexed into the City of Fayetteville or land that may be rezoned from non-residential to residential zoning.

The predicted rate of growth is based on the number of new residential units completed in the previous five years. The average annual number of new residential certificates of occupancy for new residential units in the past five years is 69. If the City grows at the 2011 - 2016 average rate of 69 new residential units per year, it will gain 179 new residents each year. (69 units multiplied by average household size of 2.6)

HOUSING

The US Census Bureau provides housing data for all communities. It should be noted that US Census housing data is sampled. That means that the information contained here is based on the long form that one in six households receives during each census. Information from that one household out of six is then extrapolated to get overall housing data. It assumes that the one household responding to the long census form is representative of six households. Because of the use of sampled data from the US Census, data collected locally will almost always be more accurate than US Census housing data. Data from both the US Census data and City of Fayetteville provided data are contained within.

HOUSING OCCUPANCY

From 2010 to 2016, 345 new housing units were constructed. The 2011-2015 American Community Survey five-year estimates that The City of Fayetteville had 6,575 housing units in 2105 and 6,167 of those units were occupied. Of the occupied housing units, 72.3 percent were

owner occupied and 27.7 percent were renter occupied. Owner occupied means that the person or persons living in the dwelling unit, regardless of the type of structure (single family detached, duplex, multi-family), own that dwelling unit. Renter occupied means that the person or persons living in the dwelling unit, regardless of the type of structure (single family detached, duplex, multi-family), rent that dwelling unit.



TABLE 5: HOUSING OCCUPANCY

Housing Occupancy	2010	Percentage of Total 2010	2015	Percentage of Total 2015
Total Housing Units	6,499	100.0%	6,575	100.0%
Total Occupied Units	6,006	92.4%	6,167	93%
Total Vacant Units	493	7.6%	408	7.0%
Owner Occupied	4,410	73.4%	4,460	72.3%
Renter Occupied	1,596	26.6%	1,707	27.7%

Sources: United States Census Bureau; City of Fayetteville

TYPE OF HOUSING STRUCTURES

In 2015, the US Census estimated that 74 percent of housing units in the City of Fayetteville were single-family detached homes, eight percent were duplexes, and 17.7 percent were multi-family units. The terms single-family detached, duplex, and multi-family refer to the type of construction and not to the type of ownership. For example, a single-family detached home may be owned by the household living there or it may be rented by them.

Units In Structure	2010	Percentage of Total (2010)	2015	Percentage of Total (2015)
1-unit, detached	4,321	66.0%	4,865	74.0%
1-unit, attached	508	7.0%	525	8.0%
2 units	72	1.0%	91	1.4%
3 or 4 apartments	271	4.0%	150	2.3%
5 to 9 apartments	464	7%%	548	8.3%
10 to 19 apartments	198	3.0%	149	2.3%
20 or more apartments	155	2.0%	223	3.4%

TABLE 6: NUMBER OF UNITS IN OCCUPIED HOUSING STRUCTURES

United States Census Bureau and 2010-2015 American Community Survey; City of Fayetteville



HOUSING AGE AND CONDITION

There over 150 historic (over 50 years old) homes in Fayetteville. An inventory of historic structures in Fayette County was done in 1991. The City of Fayetteville Zoning Ordinance limits modifications to historic structures and requires that historic properties proposed for demolition be posted for public review.

There was a surge of residential building in Fayetteville in the 1980s, 1990s and 2000s, with almost 83% of the City's housing stock being constructed in that time frame. Most of the houses constructed during that time were built for families and contain three or more bedrooms. Those houses are located in subdivisions that were designed to be separate from neighborhoods.

Year Structure was Built	2015	Percentage of Total (2015)
1939 or earlier	70	1.1%
1940 - 1949	30	0.5%
1950 - 1959	49	0.7%
1960 - 1969	329	5.0%
1970 - 1979	620	9.4%
1980 - 1989	1,362	20.7%
1990 - 1999	2,046	31.1%
2000 - 2009	2,045	31.1%
2010 - 2013	11	0.2%
2014 - or later	13	0.2%

TABLE 7: AGE OF HOUSING STOCK

Source: US Census and 2010-2014 American Community Survey

HOUSING VALUE

The median value of Fayetteville owner-occupied housing in 2015 was \$184,500. Median rent in the City of Fayetteville was \$1,023.

TABLE 8: MEDIAN HOME VALUES

Value, Owner Occupied Units	2015	Percentage of Total
Less than \$50,000	152	3.4%
\$50,000 - \$99,999	301	6.7%
\$100,000 - \$149,999	1,044	23.4%
\$150,000 - \$199,999	1,051	23.6%
\$200,000 - \$299,000	1,488	33.4%
\$300,000 - \$499,999	407	9.1%
\$500,000 - \$999,999	8	0.2%
\$1,000,000 or more	9	0.2%
Total number of units	4,460	-

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2000 - 2015 American Community Survey

EMPLOYMENT-HOUSING BALANCE

Table 9 illustrates the balance between housing and employment with Fayetteville residents. For this purpose, employment represents the number of Fayetteville residents that work, either within Fayetteville, or outside of the City. As the balance improves, Fayetteville should become more of a live/work community where people can live closer to their jobs and traffic congestion will be reduced. A balanced community generally has an employment-housing ratio of 1.25 to 1.75. Fayetteville had a ratio of 1.21 in 2010, which decreased from 1.25 in 2000, and decreased again in 2015.

Category	2000	2010	2015
Population	11,148	15, 94 5	16,990
Average Household Size	2.48	2.59	2.6
Number of Households	4,338	6,006	6,167
Housing Units	4,572	6,499	6,575
Employment	5,727	7,881	7,827
Employment/Population Ratio	.51	.49	.46
Employment/Housing Unit Ratio	1.25	1.21	1.19

TABLE 9: EMPLOYMENT-HOUSING BALANCE

Source: U.S. Census Bureau

More people commute into Fayetteville to go to work than commute out to go to work. 10,842 people who live outside of Fayetteville commute here to work. 6,241 people live in Fayetteville but commute elsewhere to work. Only 747 people live and work in Fayetteville. See the Economic Development Element for more information.

HOUSING FOR SPECIAL POPULATIONS

There are no homeless shelters or special housing for those infected with HIV located in the City of Fayetteville. There is a hospice located on Highway 54 West near Fayette Community Hospital.

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

More people commute in to Fayetteville to work than commute out to work. 10,842 people who live outside of Fayetteville commute here to work. 6,241 people live in Fayetteville but commute elsewhere to work. Only 747 people live and work in Fayetteville. This is likely due to the different employment industries of residents, versus the types of jobs available in Fayetteville.

RESIDENTS EMPLOYMENT

Regardless of the location of their employment, the largest employment industry among Fayetteville residents is Transportation and Warehousing. Historically, many Fayetteville residents worked at or near Hartsfield Jackson International Airport. That trend continues today. Other major employment sectors include Retail Trade, Healthcare, and Educational Services.



TABLE 10: RESIDENT LABOR FORCE CHARACTERISTICS

Labor Force	Fayettev	Fayetteville		
	Total	percent		
Labor Force Participation Rate (Age 16+)	7,827	60.47		
Unemployed (Age 16+)	611	4.7%		
Occupation				
TOTAL Civilian Employed Population (Age 16+)	7,186	100.0%		
Transportation and Warehousing	869	12.1%		
Retail Trade	799	11.1%		
Healthcare and Social Assistance	791	11.0%		
Educational Services	760	10.6%		
Accommodation and Food Services	629	8.8%		
Waste Management and Remediation	477	6.6%		
Public Administration	449	6.2%		
Wholesale Trade	395	5.5%		
Professional, Scientific, and Technical Services	374	5.2%		
Manufacturing	358	4.9%		
Other	1285	18.0%		

Source: US Census, Atlanta Regional Commission

ECONOMIC DATA

The largest employment industry located in Fayetteville is healthcare, due to the presence of Piedmont Fayette Hospital. Other major employment sectors are educational services, retail trade, and accommodation and food services. The film industry is growing with the presence of Pinewood Atlanta Studios.



TABLE 11: JOBS BY SECTOR

Fayetteville Jobs by Sector	Number of Jobs
Healthcare and Social Assistance	2879
Educational Services	1670
Retail Trade	1371
Accommodation and Food Services	1370
Public Administration	1015
Construction	681
Professional, Scientific, Technical Services	628
Finance and Insurance	493
Wholesale Trade	324
Other Services	296



The US Census 2012 Survey of Business Owners indicates that there were 2,456 companies in Fayetteville. The table below lists major private sector employers, ranked in descending order, by number of employees. Pinewood Atlanta Studios is now the second largest film studio in the United States with a total of 18 sound stages and over one million square feet. The studio can accommodate multiple tent-pole productions, who may employ up to 2,000 employees per

show. Because this workforce is predominantly contractors for the duration of the show, this labor force is not captured in standard employment data reporting.

Public sector employers are not listed. The largest public sector employers in The City of Fayetteville are the Fayette County government, City of Fayetteville government, and the Fayette County School Board.

Major Employers in Fayetteville, 2016	Employees
Piedmont Fayette Hospital	2,000
Walmart	400
Kindred Transitional Care and Rehab	210
Lowe's	150
Target	150
Kroger (Banks Crossing)	140
Publix	140
Home Depot	1 2 5
Kroger (South Glynn)	120

TABLE 12: MAJOR PRIVATE SECTOR EMPLOYERS

Source: Fayette County Development Authority, Business Wise 2016

RECENT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STUDIES

The City of Fayetteville recently commissioned two in-depth economic development-related studies. First was the Competitive Realities Report in December 2015, which sought to provide to the City the product improvement, marketing, and potential organizational changes it must make to ensure that the City strengthens its competitive position and is able to attract and retain the types of businesses that will create jobs and opportunities for its citizens.

In assessing Fayetteville as a competitive place to locate and grow a business, the economic development consulting team found that the City falls behind its peers, the State of Georgia, and national averages in many criteria considered important to a community's competitive

economic position. While Fayetteville has enjoyed recent positive gains—for example, the location of Pinewood Atlanta Studios and the building of the City's film industry—there are many areas the City needs to improve if it is to be successful in attracting and retaining the types of companies that will provide better opportunities for its residents.

To begin mitigating these challenges and strengthening the City's overall position, the second economic development study, "An



Economic Development Strategy to Grow the Economy of Fayetteville, Georgia" was drafted in 2016. The strategy created a customized, comprehensive plan for Fayetteville's economic development for the next several years. Its end goal is to give the City the tools it needs to grow along a positive trajectory and provide the community and the people that live and work there with a steadily growing economic future.

Because the two recent economic development studies are far more detailed than information that would be included in a Comprehensive Plan document, those studies will be incorporated into the Comprehensive Plan document by reference.

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT OPPORTUNITIES

Available Development Sites

There are currently approximately 608.18 acres of vacant land (also called greenfield sites) available for development inside the current city limits. Greenfield sites, usually located on the edge of the city are considered to be relatively easy to develop. However those locations at the edge of the city are not always appropriate for the type of development proposed. More intensive development and higher residential densities are generally more appropriate for the center of the city, usually on redevelopment sites known as greyfields.

Greyfields

Historically, the term "greyfield" has been applied to formerly-viable retail and commercial shopping sites (such as regional malls and strip centers) that have suffered from lack of reinvestment and have been "outclassed" by larger, better-designed, better-anchored malls or shopping sites.

Unlike brownfields, which feature actual or perceived levels of environmental contamination, greyfields typically do not require remediation in order to unlock value to an investor. The hidden value, in many cases, comes from underlying infrastructure (such as plumbing and sewerage, electrical systems, foundations, etc.), the presence of which allows a developer to improve the site efficiently through capital expenditures (sometimes quite minor) that may easily lead to increased rents and greater value.

Within Fayetteville, there are several shopping centers located on North Glynn Street that could be considered greyfield sites. At present, the City maintains an online listing of available industrial, office and retail/shopping center sites that are available for redevelopment, or are ready to be occupied.

Tax Allocation District

Tax increment financing districts, called Tax Allocation Districts (TAD) in Georgia, are a widely used economic development tool that offers local governments a way to revitalize their communities by expanding the tax base. TADs can act as a catalyst to attract further private investment into economically depressed areas. TADs help local governments attract private development and new businesses which create jobs, attract customers, and in turn generate additional private investment. Essentially, the creation of a TAD generally leads to an increase in tax revenues above what already exists.

Georgia's Redevelopment Powers Law, adopted by the General Assembly in 1985, gave local governments the authority to sell bonds to finance infrastructure and other redevelopment costs within a specifically defined area, a Tax Allocation District (TAD). The bonds are secured by the increase in property tax revenues resulting from the redevelopment activities taking place within the tax allocation district. The city, county, and school district who are funded with property tax revenues, all agree that until the TAD bonds are repaid, they will receive the same amount of property tax revenue as they were getting when the TAD was created. The Redevelopment Powers Law outlines the possible uses for TAD funds. In Georgia, TAD funds can be used for grants for capital costs, which include: construction of new buildings; public works or improvements; renovation, rehabilitation, demolition, or expansion of existing buildings; acquisition of equipment; and clearing and grading of land.

When using a TAD, a city designates a specific geographic area that has the potential for redevelopment, but which suffers from blight or other economically or socially distressed conditions. As public improvements and private development take place in the area, the taxable value of property in the TAD increases. The city collects the total revenues, putting the increase in revenues as a result of new development into a special fund to pay off the bonds that financed the public improvements, while the remainder goes back into the city's general fund. The TAD is dissolved when the bonds have been retired and any other public financing has been repaid.

Local legislation is required to authorize the city to create a TAD. In 2013, the voters within the City of Fayetteville approved the TAD by a majority vote in a referendum. The city formed a Redevelopment Agency with the responsibility of carrying out the Redevelopment Plan that outlines the scope of the economic development project and project costs; estimates the original tax base and tax increment amounts; and estimates proceeds that would be realized from a bond referendum.

The Redevelopment Plan specifies the permissible uses of the funds that support the goals outlined in the Plan. TAD funds must be spent on uses consistent with the Redevelopment Plan for the TAD as approved by City Council. Funds must be allocated to projects and spent within the boundaries of the district, as set forth in the Redevelopment Plan. TAD bond proceeds cannot be used for any operational expenses, including salaries. Therefore, TAD bond proceeds cannot be redirected to the City's General Fund for operational costs. TAD funding is limited to projects that would not be economically feasible without public subsidy.



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS

LOCAL INCENTIVES

Tax Allocation District (TAD)

The City's core has a designated TAD, offering infrastructure financing and special development incentives for qualifying projects. The district was created to incentivize development in a targeted area of downtown Fayetteville.

Downtown Development Authority function is to attain development; purchase and sell property; and promote trade, commerce, industry and employment opportunities by facilitating certain development projects through special financing and tax incentives.

Fayette County Development Authority

The Fayette County Development Authority (FCDA) is the lead economic development entity for Fayette County, Georgia. FCDA focuses on recruitment, retention and expansion of major industry and corporate office operations as well as workforce issues, primarily in the cities of Fayetteville, Peachtree City and Tyrone.

The Fayette County Development Authority works with government leaders, community leaders and business leaders to foster an environment that welcomes new investment and new jobs. FCDA researches and provides information that site selectors and companies need to make informed location decisions.

The Fayette County Development Authority was established by resolution of the Fayette County Board of Commissioners on April 10, 1986 to "develop and promote trade, commerce, industry and employment opportunities" for Fayette County.

Though originally tasked with promoting only the unincorporated areas of the county, in later years the charter was amended to represent the interests of Fayetteville, Peachtree City and Tyrone. Today FCDA promotes and markets the entire county as a prime location for new and expanding businesses. FCDA is also one of only two local agencies in Georgia to have received the prestigious Accredited Economic Development Organization designation by the International Economic Development Council.

Major services include:

- Website a resource for companies and site selectors to conduct a complete site search online. The website contains the demographics and business information to make the site selection process easier.
- Special Data Requests FCDA can provide specialized research and analysis on workforce, demographics, site information and community data.
- Site and Building Tours FCDA provides a complete familiarization tour of Fayette County and its cities, customized for a company's unique needs.

- Expansion Assistance FCDA coordinates a number of partner agencies who can assist in energy audits, facility layouts, workforce training and numerous other programs as part of business growth and expansion activities.
- Privacy and Confidentiality Inquiries are treated with the highest degree of confidentiality. The prospect will remain confidential until the prospect chooses to announce.

Fayetteville Main Street Association

A program of the National Trust for Historic Preservation, Main Street's goal is to help revitalize historic downtowns through the preservation and adaptive re-use of historic and culturally significant resources. The core of any Main Street program follows the nationally recognized Main Street Approach:

Economic Vitality- The goal is to build a commercial district that responds to contemporary needs, while maintaining the community's historic character. It involves a commitment to making the most of a community's unique sense of place and existing historic assets, harnessing local economic opportunity and creating a supportive business environment

Design- Successful Main Street programs take advantage of the visual opportunities inherent in a commercial district by directing attention to all of its physical elements

Promotion- It can take many forms, but the goal is to create a positive image that will renew community pride and tell the Main Street story to the surrounding region.

Organization- Establishes consensus and cooperation by building partnerships among the various groups that have a stake in the commercial district. The focus is on ensuring that all organizational resources (partners, funding, volunteers, etc.) are mobilized to effectively implement strategies.

Chamber of Commerce

The Fayette Chamber of Commerce's mission is to promote business and to enhance economic and community development through leadership, service and advocacy for Fayette County. In addition to providing traditional networking and education opportunities, the Fayette Chamber works closely with existing business, the Fayette County Development Authority, and local governments to promote and market Fayette County as a pro-business location. It is important for the City to utilize the resources that this organization provides.

TRANSPORTATION

According to the U.S. Census Bureau, the average commute for employed (16 and over) Fayetteville residents is 31.1 minutes. This is higher than the average commute time for the entire State of Georgia (27.2 minutes), and slightly higher than the average commute in metro Atlanta (30.4 minutes). This illustrates that a large number of Fayetteville residents work outside of the city.

According to the US Census American Community Survey estimates from 2011 to 2015, of employed residents, 83.3 percent drive alone to work, while 10.9 percent carpool, and .9 percent take public transportation to work. The remaining workers walk (1.9 percent), use some other means to get to work (.2 percent), or work from home (2.8 percent).

FAYETTE COUNTY COMPREHENSIVE TRANSPORTATION PLAN

The Fayette County Comprehensive Transportation Plan was completed in 2003. At this time, the Atlanta Regional Commission is preparing to engage a transportation planning firm to develop a new Comprehensive Transportation Plan for Fayette County.



REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN

There are a number of projects in the Atlanta Regional Transportation Plan (RTP), in either the short term (the Transportation Improvement Program - TIP) or long range parts of the plan, that impact the City of Fayetteville. For more information regarding funding sources for the projects, please see the Atlanta Regional Transportation Plan available at www.atlantaregional.com.

TABLE 13: REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION PLAN PROJECTS

ARC	Project Description	Project Phase	Year	Project Cost
Project				
Number				tas (20 00)
FA-085	5R 85 Widening from 2 to 4 lanes	Right of Way Acquisition	Long Range 2022-2030	\$25,639,284
FA-085	SR 85 Widening from 2 to 4 lanes from Grady Avenue to SR 92	Construction	Long Range 2022-2039	\$41,876,617
FA-236	East Fayetteville Bypass from South Jeff Davis to SR 85	Construction	2017	\$11,134,000
FA-349	Ebenezer Church Road Bridge Replacement	Right of Way Acquisition	2019	\$463,000
FA-349	Ebenezer Church Road Bridge Replacement	Utility Relocation	2020	\$196,500
FA-349	Ebenezer Church Road Bridge Replacement	Construction	2020	\$2,955,425
FA-353	Fayetteville Multi-Use Bridge and Paths	Right of Way Acquisition	2017	\$840,000
FA-353	Fayetteville Multi-Use Bridge and Paths	Utility Relocation	2018	\$100,000
FA-353	Fayetteville Multi-Use Bridge and Paths	Construction	2018	\$3,006,545
FA-355	SR 85 Bridge Replacement	Right of Way Acquisition	2018	\$250,000
FA-355	SR 85 Bridge Replacement	Construction	2020	\$2,059,893
FA-356	Fayette County Master Path Plan	Planning	2017	\$180,000
CL-101	Widening McDonough Road from SR 54 in Fayette County to US 19/41 in Clayton County	Right of Way Acquisition	2017	\$20,746,616
CL-101	Widening McDonough Road from SR 54 in Fayette County to US 19/41 in Clayton County	Utility Relocation	Long Range 2022-2039	\$1,986,950
CL-101	Widening McDonough Road from SR 54 in Fayette County to US 19/41 in Clayton County	Construction	Long Range 2022-2039	\$36,999,301
CL-041	Widening SR 54 from McDonough Road in Fayette County to US 19/41 in Clayton County	Construction	2017	\$38,134,261
CL-015	Widening SR 85 from SR 279 in Fayette County to Roberts Drive in City of Riverdale	Right of Way Acquisition	2018	\$3,555,046
CL-015	Widening SR 85 from SR 279 in Fayette County to Roberts Drive in City of Riverdale	Utility Relocation	2019	\$1,064,247
CL-015	Widening SR 85 from SR 279 in Fayette County to Roberts Drive in City of Riverdale	Construction	2019	\$21,610,247

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENTS

On March 21, 2017, in a county-wide referendum, Fayette County citizens voted to approve the 1% (or $1 \notin$) SPLOST. The acronym SPLOST stands for "Special Purpose Local Option Sales Tax" and is a specific sales tax rate for a specific period of time. The SPLOST will increase the sales tax in Fayette County from $6 \notin$ on every dollar spent to $7 \notin$. Counties and cities can use SPLOST funds for specific capital projects.

In Georgia, the State receives $4\notin$ of the sales taxes collected in every county. A $1\notin$ Local Option Sales Tax (LOST) is shared among a county and any of its municipalities based on an agreed-upon formula. LOST funds can be used by local governments as part of their General Fund operating expenses. Fayette County also has a $1\notin$, voter-approved E-SPLOST, which is invested solely for use by the Board of Education. This comprises our current $6\notin$ Local Option Sales Tax.

Fayette County and the municipalities of Brooks, Fayetteville, Peachtree City, and Tyrone will share the SPLOST proceeds based on population. An intergovernmental agreement allocates the estimated revenue from a five-year SPLOST as follows:

Jurisdiction	2017 SPLOST Distribution
Fayette County	\$ 64,646,530
Peachtree City	\$ 45,472,835
Fayetteville	\$ 21,098,538
Tyrone	\$ 9,102,463
Brooks	\$ 693,791
Total	\$141,014,157

TABLE 14: SPLOST DISTRIBUTION

Approximately \$7,000,000 of SPLOST proceeds will be allocated for transportation projects. Transportation projects are inclusive of, road resurfacings, highway median landscaping, pedestrian trails and cart paths, bridges, road networks, and roundabouts.

Fayetteville has compiled a list of projects that represent a significant investment in the facilities and infrastructure that contribute to our quality of life. Many of the projects have been requested by the community (road resurfacing, intersection improvements for traffic flow, and enhancements to recreation areas), while others, such as new connections to Fayetteville's multi-use path system, have been planned for years without any identified funding source. The recent recession also caused several years of delays in street repaying and repair, leaving Fayetteville with a tremendous amount of catchup to return to a regular maintenance cycle for the street system.

Without a SPLOST, funding these capital projects would require a significant property tax increase, significant cuts in other programs, or both. The SPLOST allowed Fayette County voters to choose to make investments in their community, and the funding comes from everyone shopping and dining in Fayette County, instead of being imposed only on those who own property and pay property taxes within the County.

Table 15: SPLOST Projects

Table 15. Steost r		
Project Type	Description	Project Cost
Resurfacing	Milling, patching, leveling, and resurfacing of approximately 21+ miles of roadway.	\$4,550,872
Roundabout	Construction of roundabout to add capacity, maintain level of service and ensure safety.	\$1,200,000
Bridge Crossing	Construction project to connect the Fayette Piedmont Hospital/West Fayetteville Area to the existing path system.	\$600,000
Downtown Master Plan	Preliminary engineering for road and path network.	\$500,000
Multi-Use Path Master Plan	Design master plan for expansion of the multi-use path systems.	\$75,000
Median Landscaping	Engineering and design of landscaped medians on Highway 85.	\$75,000

Additional City of Fayetteville transportation priorities were identified in the City's previous Comprehensive Plan. Some of the projects did not have identified funding sources.

- Support the County CTP, including bypass to alleviate congestion on HWY85.
- Provide educational material for residents that promotes alternative transportation modes (i.e. walking, biking, etc.) in the City
- Require inter-connectivity of roadways within and between new and existing commercial and mixed use developments.
- Continue to implement the City Sidewalk Plan and update as necessary.
- Bradley Sidewalk
- Implement LCI Plan transportation projects as funding becomes available.
- Lafayette/Tiger Trail Alt. B (Ph. 2)
- Hospital Area Paths and Crosswalk
- Hood Avenue Connector
- Church St. Extension
- Hood/92 Realignment Project
- Hwy 54 Hospital Area Multi-Use Bridge
- Redwine/Ramah Road Roundabout

LAND USE

EXISTING LAND USE

The City of Fayetteville is 11.1 square miles in size. The majority of the land in the city, nearly 46 percent, is single family residential. The city also has a significant amount of commercial land, over 14 percent of the City's land area, owing to the presence of the Fayette Pavilion shopping center. Fayette Pavilion has over 1.5 million square feet of big box retail and draws shoppers from outside of the City of Fayetteville and Fayette County.

Land Use Category	Category Definition	Acres	Percent
Single Family Residential	Single family detached houses of various lot sizes with fee simple ownership.	3,449.61	45.86%
Duplex/ Townhouse Residential	Two or more units in a single structure, located primarily within predominantly single-family residential areas. Aesthetically may resemble a single family detached house.	443.48	5.89%
Multi-Family Residential	Attached residential buildings with three or more units designed as flats. Units are rented or have condominium ownership.	362.41	4.82%
Commercial	All commercial development regardless of scale or design, includes neighborhood commercial, regional commercial, etc.	1,057.19	14.05%
Mixed Use	Fine grained mix of land uses, often located in the same building or on the same parcel.	476.30	6.33%
Office	Includes professional Class A and Class B office parks and buildings.	276.85	3.68%
Industrial	Businesses that concentrate on the manufacturing, processing plants, factories, warehousing and wholesale trade facilities.	323.34	4.30%
Public/ Institutional	Includes state, federal, and local government uses, schools, places of worship, as well as quasi-public institutions.	246.29	3.27%
Park/Recreation/ Conservation	Includes City parks, greenspace, wetlands, and other environmentally sensitive or protected areas.	279.42	3.71%
Transportation/ Communication/ Utilities	Includes areas owned and operated by utilities, power lines, transmission lines, and highways and road rights of way.		
Vacant/ Undeveloped		608.17	8.08%

TABLE 16: EXISTING LAND USE CA	TEGORIES
--------------------------------	----------

The Existing Land Use Map provides a citywide perspective of current growth and land-use patterns for the City of Fayetteville. The analysis was completed by conducting a thorough

review of GIS data provided by city staff. In addition, a windshield survey was conducted to further capture accurate data to analyze and update the Existing Land Use Map.

The Existing Land Use Map is updated by color coding the respective land use identified for that particular parcel of land. Table 16 identifies existing land-use categories, definitions, and amount and percentage of land dedicated to each land use type.

ZONING

The City of Fayetteville has an old zoning ordinance dating back to 1990. When this Comprehensive Plan document is completed, an audit of the zoning

ordinance will need to be conducted to ensure consistency between the two documents. The zoning ordinance and associated zoning map are key components to the implementation of the Comprehensive Plan.











Page intentionally left blank

COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION

In September of 2016, the Mayor and City Council appointed the Steering Committee to guide the Comprehensive Plan process. The Comprehensive Plan Steering Committee was made up of 21 Fayetteville citizens volunteering their time and expertise to work on the Comprehensive Plan. Steering Committee membership was not just an honorary position. Steering Committee members assisted the planning team with community outreach, community meeting facilitation, review of planning documents and local data, and understanding the input received by the community. The Steering Committee also reviewed and edited sections of the Comprehensive Plan as they were drafted.

STEERING COMMITTEE

Rachel Goergen Len Gough Karen Graiser Rick Halpert Rich Hoffman Jeff Hollis Abe Morrall Brett Nolan Katie Pace Lauren Panter Debra Renfroe Ken Steele Carlotta Ungaro Cam Williams

The Steering Committee held ten meetings. They took place on:

October 3, 2016	January 9, 2017	March 20, 2017
October 17, 2016	January 30, 2017	April 10, 2017
November 14, 2016	February 13, 2017	
December 12, 2016	March 6, 2017	

Community Participation

The planning team and Steering Committee needed input from the community to formulate the plan. The Fayetteville comprehensive planning process had four steps, each of which heavily depended on input from the community.

The city planning team began their work by asking the community questions about land uses, development patterns, transportation, housing, architecture, economic development, and community amenities. A Community Survey was created to ask citizens all about development, housing, roads, sidewalks, economic development, and community amenities. The Community Survey was created in both paper and online formats.

		-	Phone in the second	
	1997 - 19		The LANS OF THE R. P. LEWIS CO., LANSING MICH.	1
		the subscription of the su	support the opposite to the last ten	- 1
	other designed in the local division of the	and the second se	of the owners of the owner which the	- 1
	state of the second second second	or the owner. The owner of	and the second sec	
- and the	and in case of the local division in which the	of the Avenue of the Party of t		1
-	A DESCRIPTION OF THE PARTY OF T		Company of the local day	
-			No. of Concession, Name	1
	And the second s	1 au	Mar days a star	
			April 2 10 100	
	And Designed in the local division of the lo	And the party state of the		C 1
	on the state of th			
			and the same of the same of the same	
		And the part of the local of th		
	NAME AND ADDRESS OF TAXABLE PARTY.			-
	Provide the of Female Street of Females	And the Party of the local division of the l	and the second s	
	the state of the s	And a set of the set o		
	Frain, Con & Der Call of Factor	and Property lies 7	all the sector	
	To an a state of the second	1	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	and a second sec
	 Monte and the second sec		and the owner of the	
	a second se	A DESCRIPTION OF TAXABLE PARTY.	and Married	-
	A REAL PROPERTY OF THE OWNER.	: Sector		
	Bart bem lente	L March D		
	Support for her and			
	Barristered 30%			_
			41.5	-
	s and an other states of the		1.24	
	The second se	1.44	*	
	100	-		
	1 MAR	and the state of t	Carlos and	the state of the s
	1 went batter start and	transfer to be the second	- Paragente and	
	2 Mar 14 200 1 20	al openant i the second of		
	and the second second second	Contraction City (MI)	And Designed in the local division of the lo	
	All and a second se	distantia di secondaria di secondaria	Transfer and	and the second s
	C. Barning and of State	San and the other		
1	States of Females, Street, Str	and the second second		
1	-			
			المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع المراجع	
	a stand participation for Barn	State of the local division of the local div	and the same adjuster where a few	H¢
	I Address of the owners of the	ADDRESS OF TAXABLE PARTY.	ALC: NOT THE OWNER OF THE OWNER OWNER OF THE OWNER OWNE	
1	and stands whether	di propio di sciali di la constante di sciali	1	
1				
1				
	A REAL PROPERTY OF TAXABLE PROPERTY.	No. of Concession, Name		
	and the second s	and Manager's Solid and Prop.		
	A REAL PROPERTY AND A REAL PROPERTY.	statement with t		
	L the state of the	statement with t		

The Community Survey was open from October 27 to December 8, 2016. On Saturday, October 29, the last Market Day of the season was held in Downtown Fayetteville. The planning team had a tent with information about the Comprehensive Plan, invitations to the first Community Meeting held on November 1, and paper copies of the survey. Participants completed 158 paper surveys at Market Day.

At the November 1 Community Workshop, 66 paper surveys were filled out. 281 surveys were filled out online and 49 paper surveys were filled out at City Hall or brought to City Hall. At total of 554 responses were received. Complete Community Survey results can be found in the appendix of this document.

November 1, 2016 Community Meeting

The first Community Meeting was held on November 1, 2016. Outreach for the meeting included:

- Press Releases
- Announcements on the City of Fayetteville Facebook page
- Email invitations through the individual networks of the:
 - o Steering Committee
 - o City staff
 - o Main Street organization
 - Downtown Development Authority
 - o Planning and Zoning Commission
 - o Mayor and City Council
- Email invitations to:
 - Attendees of recent Town Hall meetings
 - o Homeowners associations
 - o All churches in the city limits
 - Fayette County High School Government teachers
- Meeting invitation flyers and posters distributed and posted in the following locations:
 - o Early voting at Fayette County building
 - o City Hall customer service area
 - o Downtown businesses
 - o All schools in city, school board, facilities building
 - o Tent at Market Day on October 29
 - o Planning and Zoning Commission meetings
 - o City Council meetings



The November 1 Community Meeting had over 120 attendees. At the meeting, Workshop, participants were asked what they like about Fayetteville and want to preserve, what they'd like to change about Fayetteville, and what their vision is for Fayetteville in 20 years.

Workshop participants viewed displays of all the development related projects underway in the City before participating in a Visual Preference Survey (VPS). Because it can be hard to describe what types of development are appropriate for the City, the Visual Preference Surveys asks those questions with pictures. Workshop participants were shown a series of pictures of various development types and patterns and were asked to rank each photo on a scale of one to ten based on how appropriate it is for the City of Fayetteville.



November 29, 2016 Community Meeting

The second Community Meeting was held on November 29, 2016. Outreach for the meeting included:

- Press Releases
- Announcements on the City of Fayetteville Facebook page
- Email invitations through the individual networks of the:
 - o Steering Committee
 - o City staff
 - Main Street organization
 - Downtown
 Development Authority
 - Planning and Zoning Commission
 - o Mayor and City Council
- Email invitations to:
 - Attendees of recent Town Hall meetings
 - Homeowners associations
 - All churches in the city limits
 - Fayette County High School Government teachers
- Meeting invitation flyers and posters distributed and posted in the following locations:
 - City Hall customer service area
 - o Downtown businesses
 - o All schools in city, school board, facilities building
 - Planning and Zoning Commission meetings
 - o City Council meetings



The November 29 Community Meeting had more than 80 attendees. The city planning team shared the results of the Visual Preference Survey. Meeting attendees were divided into small groups to discuss the most highly ranked development types and to communicate to the planning team where each development type should be located in the City of Fayetteville. In addition to development, participants discussed roads, sidewalks, housing, jobs, and parks as part of their 20-year vision for the City.




March 27, 2017 Community Meeting

Input from the two previous community meetings and the results from the Community Survey guided the Steering Committee and the city planning team in writing the first draft of Fayetteville's Comprehensive Plan. From November, 2016 to March, 2017, the planning team and the Steering Committee worked together to write the Draft Comprehensive Plan.

On March 27, the city planning team presented to the public the Draft Comprehensive Plan based on all of the input from the community. At this open house meeting, the planning team and Steering Committee checked with citizens to make sure that the community's goals and objectives for the next 20 years were accurately captured in the Comprehensive Plan.

Based on feedback from the March 27 meeting, the city planning team went back to work, to make small changes and corrections, and to continue to flesh out the details of the Comprehensive Plan. The Comprehensive Plan includes a Community Work Plan, which is the "To Do List" for City employees in order to implement the Comprehensive Plan.

Additional Public Hearings

After the completion of the Draft Comprehensive Plan, the city planning team presented to the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City Council the final draft of the Comprehensive Plan.

Additional public hearings on the Comprehensive Plan were held on: March 28, 2017 at the Planning and Zoning Commission meeting April 6, 2017 at the City Council meeting April 20, 2017 at the City Council meeting May 18, 2017 at the City Council meeting

The Comprehensive Plan will create an environment of predictability for businesses, investors, developers, property owners, and the public. It will help to recognize and implement important economic development and revitalization initiatives and, more importantly, it communicates the citizens' vision to elected officials so they can make decisions that will implement the plan.

ISSUES

Based on public input gathered from the Community Survey and two public meetings, following are issues facing the City of Fayetteville:

TRANSPORTATION

- Community Prioritized Transportation improvements ranked by Comprehensive Plan Community Survey participants yielded the following local transportation priorities from the community. Projects are listed in priority order.
 - o 85 and 54 intersection improvements, signal timing, develop alternative routes
 - Citywide add sidewalks
 - o 85 South widen to four lanes
 - o Downtown get rid of one way streets
 - o Citywide add bike lanes
 - o Fayette Bypass complete
 - Citywide create grid/connect neighborhoods
 - o Hood Avenue connect to Sandy Creek
 - o Citywide synchronize traffic signals
 - o 85, 314, and Jeff Davis improve flow, add safety improvements
- Need for sidewalks/ multi use paths/ cart paths improvements and connectivity
- Improved walkability
- Pedestrian infrastructure that levels the playing field between cars and people

CITY IDENTITY AND AESTHETICS

- City needs to distinguish itself from surrounding communities and create its own identity within the Atlanta region
- Need to continue to improve aesthetics, especially at gateways
- Need for increased code enforcement

PUBLIC SAFETY

Reducing crime and the perception of crime

EDUCATION

- Cooperation with the Board of Education
- Cohesive strategy to support further improvement of school district which will help make the City a more desirable place to live
- More post-secondary educational institutions

HOUSING

- Housing for all stages of life cycle
- Demand for smaller single family detached housing with a higher architectural design standard located in a walkable mixed use environment.

LAND USE

- Parks and Recreation (Need to determine if the City should have its own parks and/or recreation system)
- More parks, greenspace, and trees in general
 - o Dog park
 - o Big Downtown park
 - o Canal/river and riverwalk or some other water feature focal point

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

- Creation of a vibrant walkable downtown area which would necessitate:
 - More businesses downtown
 - More people living downtown
 - More events and festivals
 - o More current music offerings at amphitheater and events
 - More unusual events and festivals
- Attracting high paying salaried jobs/offices/ corporate headquarters
- Building a market of people who would patronize
 - o Better restaurants: "No fast food, no chains", "Unique, great"
 - Specialty stores and services
 - Bookstore
 - Mommy and me/ play-related
 - More fitness options, wellness/spa-related
 - Indoor recreation/ entertainment



OPPORTUNITIES

Based on public input gathered from the Community Survey and two public meetings, these are opportunities to be built on over time to ensure the continued long-term success of the City of Fayetteville:

TRANSPORTATION

- Traffic for traffic-dependent businesses
- SPLOST approved by voters allows the city to make many needed infrastructure improvements

PIEDMONT FAYETTE HOSPITAL

• Top 50 Hospital and all the related uses that want to locate close to a hospital



PINEWOOD ATLANTA STUDIO

 Pinewood Atlanta Studio and all the related businesses and workers that contribute to the Fayetteville economy

HISTORIC DOWNTOWN

- Existing street network is a great foundation to build upon in creating a vibrant walkable downtown
- Historic buildings that contribute to the Southern/ small town charm

LOCATION

- Proximity to Hartsfield-Jackson International Airport
- Proximity to Atlanta

EDUCATION

- Fayette County Schools are highly rated
- Presence of Georgia Military College and Georgia Film Academy

DEVELOPMENT AND REDEVELOPMENT POTENTIAL

- Available land to develop
- Old shopping centers that could be redeveloped

PER CAPITAL INCOME

PARKS

• \$3.4 million in SPLOST funding available for land acquisition

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 2017-2037

VISION STATEMENT

A unique place to call home, a community building from the past, working together creating a better future, while preserving our small town charm.

COMMUNITY GOALS

The City of Fayetteville is a diverse and forward-looking community engaged in shaping its own future. The people of Fayetteville are working to capitalize on the qualities and values that have made it successful. As the City of Fayetteville moves forward in implementing the Comprehensive Plan, these goals should continue to be monitored to ensure that they are still relevant to the community.

TRANSPORTATION GOALS

GOAL ONE: Participate in the Fayette Caunty Transportation Plan.

- A. Prioritize projects that have the most impact to the most people.
- B. Prioritize safety improvements based on accident data.
- C. Prioritize creating more of a grid street network to ensure alternative routes.
- D. Prioritize projects that support a more walkable Downtown.
- E. Pursue state and federal funding for community identified transportation priorities:
 - 1. SR 85 and SR 54 intersection improvements, signal timing, develop alternative routes
 - 2. Citywide add sidewalks
 - 3. SR 85 South -widen to four lanes
 - 4. Study Downtown one way pair traffic pattern to determine if this traffic pattern will further the goal of having a vibrant walkable Downtown.
 - 5. Citywide add multi-use paths
 - 6. Fayette Bypass -- complete
 - 7. Citywide -create grid street network/connect neighborhoods
 - 8. Hood Avenue connect to Sandy Creek
 - 9. Citywide synchronize traffic signals
 - 10. SR 85, SR 314, and Jeff Davis improve flow, add safety improvements

GOAL TWO: More Multi Use Trails

Strategies:

- A. Participate in Fayette County Trails Plan in order to connect Fayetteville to larger countywide network.
- B. Develop a City of Fayetteville Trails Plan.

GOAL THREE: Develop a more cooperative relationship with the Georgia Department of Transportation to help meet local objectives for state controlled roads.

Strategies:

- A. Improved/additional wayfinding signage.
- B. Pedestrian improvements including crosswalks and signals.

GOAL FOUR: Continue progress of making Downtown more walkable.

- A. Participate in Fayette County Transportation Plan (see Goal 1).
- B. Coordinate with Land Use Goals.
- C. Connect streets to create more of a grid.
- D. Utilize shorter blocks to increase walkability.
- E. Update Downtown commercial and mixed use zoning districts to enhance the pedestrian experience by creating scenic vistas and promoting street facing retail with store windows and sidewalk cafes.
- F. Develop a downtown streetscape plan.
- G. Add more parks and fountains that will enhance the pedestrian experience.
- H. Provide more downtown parking and signage for the parking.





HOUSING GOALS

GOAL ONE: Get more people living Downtown to support businesses

Strategies:

- A. Allow apartments for rent or for sale in Downtown Fayetteville, only as part of a mixed use development.
- B. Actively recruit mixed use developers.
- C. Encourage development of mixed use buildings with commercial or office on the ground floor and apartments or condominiums upstairs. Buildings should be oriented toward the street and not be separated from the street by fences or walls.
- D. Encourage the development of townhouses that are externally oriented toward the street and neighborhood, not inwardly oriented or oriented toward parking lots.
- E. Encourage the development of single family detached homes in walking distance of Downtown amenities.

GOAL TWO: Encourage development of housing for every step of the life cycle

- A. Investigate strategies to promote workforce housing, especially for city employees.
- B. Address identified need for smaller single family detached housing with a higher architectural design standard located in walkable mixed use environments. This could be downtown or in a developer created mixed use environment. Care should be taken to limit the number of walkable mixed use developments outside of Downtown so as to not reduce the demand for living Downtown.
- C. Encourage ADA accessible and visit-able housing units.



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GOALS

GOAL ONE: Attract people to live here who:

- Will appreciate the Fayetteville lifestyle which can best be described as:
 - Active
 - Outdoors
 - Family- oriented
- Embrace a sense of community
- Are part of the educated workforce needed to fill the jobs that we want to attract

Strategies:

- A. Reconsider City standards for required open space set aside for all zoning districts.
- B. Create a green ribbon of parks and trails that connects the entire city.

GOAL TWO: Develop a Downtown Plan to create a unique destination in Downtown Fayetteville

- A. Work with consultant on economically feasible development strategies.
- B. Create a comprehensive marketing plan for Downtown.

GOAL THREE: Business Retention and Expansion

Strategies:

- A. Create synergy with local businesses by communicating with existing businesses
- B. Working together with the Fayette County Development Authority and Chamber of Commerce on business retention, expansion, and attracting developing the workforce local businesses need.
- C. Foster partnerships between Fayette County schools and local post secondary educational institutions to support workforce development needed for local businesses.
- D. Encourage educational enhancements to make Fayetteville the place to live for all school attendance zones.

GOAL FOUR: Business Attraction and Recruitment

- A. Develop the City's brand and begin branding campaign.
- B. Working together with the Fayette County Development Authority and Chamber of Commerce on business attraction and recruitment, as well as attracting and developing the workforce needed by target businesses.
- C. Foster partnerships between Fayette County schools and local post secondary educational institutions to support workforce development needed for target businesses.
- D. Investigate a City sponsored business incubator.
- E. Provide incentives for green buildings.



LAND USE GOALS

GOAL ONE: Improve Property Tax Base

Strategies:

- A. Pursue more Business Park development to accommodate our economic development targets.
- B. Pursue goals of the Economic Development Plan.
- C. Investigate the development of more TAD districts.

GOAL TWO: Improve Aesthetics

- A. More parks, street trees, median landscaping and landscaping at gateways,
- B. Continue with high architectural and site design standards,
- C. Update zoning ordinance to address common code enforcement gray areas such as dumpster doors and outdoor storage.
- D. Revisit the sign ordinance rules for temporary signs to ensure that the City maintains its appearance.

- E. Increase code enforcement activities and consider adding another code enforcement officer.
- F. Add public art.

GOAL THREE: Make Downtown Fayetteville more vibrant and walkable

- A. Get more people living Downtown to support businesses
 - 1. Allow apartments only in Downtown Fayetteville.
 - Encourage development of mixed use buildings with commercial or office on the ground floor and apartments or condominiums upstairs. Buildings should be oriented toward the street and not be separated from the street by fences or walls.
 - 3. Encourage the development of townhouses that are externally oriented toward the street and neighborhood, not inwardly oriented or oriented toward parking lots.
 - Encourage the development of single-family detached homes in walking distance of Downtown amenities.
- B. Amend the Zoning Ordinance
 - 1. Amend Downtown zoning to address historic inspiration for new structures.
 - 2. Amend Downtown zoning to address mixed uses.
- C. Recruit more businesses to Downtown.
 - 1. Businesses for residents to patronize.
 - 2. Employers.
- Add more park area and outdoor event space
- E. Study financial and engineering feasibility of regional stormwater detention in a water feature (such as a lake or enhanced creek/river/canal) Downtown.
- F. Locate new civic buildings Downtown.
- G. Improved/additional wayfinding signage.
- H. Pedestrian improvements within Downtown and sidewalks and multi use trails connecting neighborhoods to Downtown.
- I. Study Downtown Fayetteville in greater depth, with a focus on urban design and other above listed goals.



GOAL FOUR: Develop or redevelop in accordance with the Future Land Use Map/Character Area Descriptions and Map

Strategies:

- A. After adoption of the Comprehensive Plan, audit the Official Zoning Map and Zoning Ordinance for consistency with the Comprehensive Plan.
- B. Make amendments to the Official Zoning Map and Zoning Ordinance to encourage and facilitate development and redevelopment in accordance with the Comprehensive Plan.

FUTURE LAND USE

The Future Land Use Map for the City of Fayetteville was developed based on input from the community through several sources. It is a representation of the community's vision for the ideal development/redevelopment pattern for Fayetteville. It illustrates the future character of all areas of the city desired by the community, as expressed through the community participation process. For each Future Land Use/Character Area shown on the Future Land Use Map, a narrative describing the type of development and appropriate land uses is included, as well as representative pictures of the type and style of development and strategies to guide implementation.

It should be noted that the Future Land Use Map does not change the current zoning of any property. The Map, like the entire Comprehensive Plan, is intended to guide policy decisions for a twenty-year planning period. Development should proceed in a manner and a timeframe that is consistent with the needs of the population, market demands, environmentally appropriate, and sustainable.



HOW COMMUNITY INPUT FORMED THE FUTURE LAND USE MAP

Information gathered from the results of the community survey, the visual preference survey, and the two community meetings formed the type of character desired for each area. In the first community meeting, participants expressed the type and character of development that they would like to see in Fayetteville. Preferences for building type and height were noted, as well as preferences for architecture, site design, lot size, and density of development. In the second community meeting, through the community mapping exercise, participants indicated where they would like to see each preferred development type and character located.

It was the responsibility of the Steering Committee to distill the input from the community and shape the Future Land Use Map. Critical areas of discussion for the Steering Committee were:

Apartments:

The Steering Committee debated the appropriateness of apartments in Fayetteville. Steering Committee members balanced community concerns regarding apartments with the need to have more people living in Downtown Fayetteville to create vibrancy in the area. The Steering Committee decided that apartments should be allowed Downtown and only as a part of a walkable mixed use development, rather than stand alone apartment buildings or complexes.

Downtown:

For Downtown Fayetteville, the community requested streetscape improvements to create a more easily walkable environment. Survey participants wanted a mix of land uses including more upscale and locally owned shops; more restaurants; arts, music and entertainment venues; and more people living Downtown. The Steering Committee recognized the need for more study of the area and for redevelopment of North Glynn Street from Lafayette to SR 314.

Business Parks:

The Steering Committee recognized that more land needed to be set aside to facilitate job creation requested by the community in the Comprehensive Plan process. Land devoted to office and business park uses is important to achieve this goal.

Greyfields:

Greyfields are formerly viable shopping centers that have suffered from lack of reinvestment and have been "outclassed" by larger, better-designed, better-anchored shopping centers. Greyfields value to developers comes from underlying infrastructure (such as plumbing and sewerage, electrical systems, foundations, etc.), the presence of which allows a developer to improve the site efficiently through capital expenditures (sometimes quite minor) that may easily lead to increased rents and greater value. Within Fayetteville, there are several shopping centers located on North Glynn Street that could be considered greyfield sites.

Participants in the community workshops indicated that the 692 and old Big Lots shopping centers that are part of the Tax Allocation District, should be redeveloped to a higher aesthetic standard and should compliment the existing walkable Downtown Fayetteville.

All of the input from the community was evaluated by the city planning team and steering committee with technical considerations and recognized best practices in mind. For commercial, office, business park and industrial land uses, market data, vacancy rates and business location criteria were examined.

Single family residential:

Participants in the first community workshop and participants in the visual preference survey indicated that acceptable lot sizes in the City of Fayetteville range from 7,000 square feet to 43,560 (one acre). It was noted by the city planning team and steering committee that on smaller lots, no houses that had attached front facing garages were well liked. The only houses with front facing garages that were well liked were very large homes on large lots (30,000 square feet or larger). It was also noted that the well liked houses that were located on small lots had traditional architecture that included front porches and garages located in the rear of the house (attached or detached with driveway or alley access).

The Steering Committee debated the concepts of net density and gross density. Net density is the number of residential units per acre after undevelopable areas such as wetlands and floodplains are removed from calculations. Gross density is simply the number of units per acre. The Zoning Ordinance currently requires 700 square feet of open space in a Planned Unit Development (PUD). Most subdivisions are developed as PUDs and dedicated open space is held in common area by the homeowners association.

It was determined that when the Zoning Ordinance is audited, the open space requirements must be revisited. There must be clear definitions of open space and green space in the Zoning Ordinance. The Zoning Ordinance must also to address how much green space should be set aside for public use versus common area and the permissible uses of green space. The ratio of green space to residential density will be especially important in smaller lot subdivisions and for the creation of conservation subdivisions.

The Future Land Use categories in this document list the current associated zoning districts. When the new Zoning Ordinance is in place, the names of the zoning districts may change. For the single family residential designations listed in this document, only lot size is addressed. Required open space and green space will be determined in the Zoning Ordinance audit and text amendments that will follow the adoption of the Comprehensive Plan.

Parks:

The Steering Committee determined that it was not feasible at this time for the City of Fayetteville to consider the development of an active recreation department at this time. However, the Steering Committee decided that the City should maintain play parks and passive parks for city residents' use. The Steering Committee determined that the City should conduct a study to determine if there is enough parkland to support our growing populations and what types of park resources the City should have.

Low Density Single Family Residential

Located throughout the City of Fayetteville are neighborhoods with single-family detached homes on lots that are 30,000 square feet size or larger. These areas are intended for larger single family homes of any architectural style.

Corresponds with the current City of Fayetteville R-70, R-40, and R-30 zoning districts. The City of Fayetteville Zoning Ordinance may be amended to promote this development pattern in the areas of the city designated for Low Density Residential uses.







Medium Density Single Family Residential

Located throughout the City of Fayetteville are neighborhoods with lot sizes between 15,000 to 29,999 square feet in size. Lots are narrow and deep, garages are typically located in the rear yard, and the streets are tree lined. Traditional architecture is common and house sizes will vary.

Corresponds with the current City of Fayetteville R-15 and - R22 zoning districts. The City of Fayetteville Zoning Ordinance may be amended to promote this development pattern in the areas of the city designated for Medium Density Residential uses.







High Density Single Family Residential

These areas are located in Downtown Fayetteville and other locations throughout the City. The design of all sites and buildings is pedestrian oriented. Streets are tree lined with sidewalks. Sidewalk requirements may be wider in areas in or close to Downtown Fayetteville.

Single family homes on narrow lots that are smaller than 15,000 square feet in size. Traditional architecture is common and house sizes will vary. All houses have front porches. If there are garages, they may be attached or detached. Garages are located in the rear yard and are accessed by a driveway that goes around the side of the house or by an alley.

Corresponds with the current City of Fayetteville R-THC zoning district. The City of Fayetteville Zoning Ordinance may be amended to promote this development pattern in the areas of the city designated for High Density Single Family Residential uses.







Multi-Family Residential

Traditional suburban garden apartments separated from other uses within the City of Fayetteville. Multifamily lots may be of any size that allows all site requirements (i.e. setbacks, landscaping, parking, impervious surface) to be met.

It should be noted that the community does not want any new apartment complexes to be constructed, but has created this designation to maintain existing apartment complexes. New apartments will be part of mixed-use structures/developments.









Townhouse Residential

Fee simple townhouses located in Downtown Fayetteville or within a five minute walk of the Mixed Use Commercial future land use designation. Townhouses should be connected to the street, not to a parking lot. If townhouses have fences between the building and the street, each unit should have its own gate.

The City of Fayetteville Zoning Ordinance may be amended to clearly define important building and site design parameters for townhouses and to clearly designate the appropriate locations for townhouses.







Walkable Mixed Use

These areas are generally located in historic Downtown Fayetteville, the SR 85 corridor from Lafayette Avenue north to SR 314, on the tract of land known as the Williams property, and in the Pinewood Forrest development.

The character of the area is pedestrian oriented. People living, working and visiting these parts of the city will be able to park their cars and easily walk from place to place. All sites are designed for the convenience of pedestrians first and vehicles second. Buildings are also designed with the convenience of pedestrians in mind. All buildings have street entrances and the primary façade(s) and architectural treatments are street facing.

Blocks are small and streets are interconnected in a grid fashion to the extent practicable. Streets are tree lined and sidewalks are wide. These areas are connected to surrounding residential areas via streets with sidewalks, paths/trails, and parks.

Uses in this area may include commercial, office, or residentiał. Lots are small and may have only one use or may have a mix of uses. Lots or buildings may be any combination of retail, office, and residential. Residential uses should generally be located above the first floor.

Historic buildings, that were originally constructed for residential use, must retain their residential architecture regardless of the use or mix of uses. Residential, office, or commercial uses are allowed as long as the architecture and site design is residential in scale and character. The City of Fayetteville Zoning Ordinance may be amended to promote this development pattern in the areas of the city designated for Walkable Mixed Uses.





















Suburban Office

Sites are generally under five acres in size. Sites are designed for vehicular access and convenience, although pedestrian connections are present. Land may be assembled and existing street pattern may change.

Development is contextually sensitive to surrounding residential and commercial uses through appropriate landscape buffering mechanisms and high quality architecture building materials.

This is an office environment that would include medical, dental, legal, financial, architectural, engineering, real estate, insurance, and governmental offices; and hospitals, medical, and dental clinics. Other complimentary supportive uses, oriented to the businesses inside the structure, may be located inside the office buildings.

The City of Fayetteville Zoning Ordinance may be amended to promote this development pattern in the areas of the city designated for Suburban Office uses. Site design, parking, and landscaping requirements would also be addressed at that time.





Suburban Commercial

This category is for conventional suburban commercial development. The design of all sites and buildings is for the ease of those arriving in a vehicle. However, pedestrian access is present. In the Visual Preference Survey, very few suburban commercial photos scored above 3.5, regardless of landscaping and building materials.

The City of Fayetteville Zoning Ordinance may be amended to promote this development pattern in the areas of the city designated for Suburban Commercial uses. Site design, parking, and landscaping requirements would also be addressed at that time.









Business Park

Business parks are intended to maximize the potential for job creation. This classification is for land dedicated to offices, research and development, healthcare and education. It will be supportive of other related uses such as hotels, restaurants, and small scale retail.

Business park sites will typically be over five acres and master planned to have easy internal circulation in a planned campus atmosphere.

Architectural styles will vary, but site design will have a character similar to that of a college campus with significant greenspace and pleasant pedestrian connections between buildings.

Sites are clean, well landscaped, and heavily buffered. Buildings are constructed with high quality building materials and have a modern design and appearance. This designation corresponds to the current Office and Institutional, Medical Office, and Business Park zoning districts. In general, business park uses will not generate significant truck traffic.

The City of Fayetteville Zoning Ordinance may be amended to promote this development pattern in the areas of the city designated for Business Park uses. Site design, parking, and landscaping requirements would also be addressed at that time.











CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 2017-2037

Industrial

Located to minimize impact on surrounding uses, the Industrial classification is for land dedicated to manufacturing facilities, processing plants, factories, warehousing and wholesale trade facilities, and any other uses with significant truck traffic or any use that has detrimental visual (or other sensory) impact that cannot be concealed by its building and landscaping.

Sites have a traditional industrial design and appearance.

Uses include warehousing, distribution and logistics, assembly, manufacturing, and other industry.

Corresponds with Fayetteville's Light Industrial and Heavy Industrial zoning districts. The City of Fayetteville Zoning Ordinance may be amended to promote this development pattern in the areas of the city designated for Industrial uses.











Public Institutional

This area allows for the location of public non-profit institutions. and and organizations that provide regular services to and for the general public. This includes certain state, federal, and/or local government uses and institutional land uses. These are ideally located in areas distributed throughout the city with emphasis being on proximity to residential areas and areas with intense population activity during the day. While some of these areas are found in areas generally envisioned solely for Public/Institutional use, there are times that these uses will be found in other appropriate character areas.

Appropriate land uses include educational facilities, churches, cemeteries, hospitals, and government uses such as city hall, government building complexes, public safety stations, libraries, post offices, community centers, senior centers, recycling collection centers, and recreation and fitness centers.

The City of Fayetteville Zoning Ordinance may be amended to promote this development pattern in the areas of the city designated for Public Institutional uses.



Transportation and Utilities

This category encompasses various land use types associated with transportation and utilities and includes major transportation routes, public transit stations, power generation plants, railroad facilities, radio towers, airports, water authority facilities, and similar uses.

Because much of this character area is along public rights-of-way and for purposes of clarity, only non-right-of-way parcels are delineated on the Future Land Use Map. Therefore, much of the acreage may be accounted for in one of the other classifications listed on the Future Land Use Map, particularly roads and their right-ofways, which are absorbed into the context of a more dominant land use.

Appropriate land uses include major transportation routes, public transit stations, power generation plants, railroad facilities, radio towers, airports, water authority facilities, and similar uses.



Parks and Conservation

This category is for land dedicated to active or passive recreational uses, as well as for green space and wildlife management. It is in this area that residents have an opportunity to connect with nature and the City of Fayetteville through activities that promote physical activity and healthy lifestyles. These areas may be either publicly or privately owned. They are generally located in an array of locations throughout the city near residential character areas. Additionally, uses that are found in this character area may often be located within other character areas.

Appropriate land uses include playgrounds, public parks, nature preserves, golf courses, recreation centers, pedestrian and/or bike trails, dog parks, ball fields, pavilions, amphitheaters, and similar uses.

The City of Fayetteville Zoning Ordinance may be amended to promote this development pattern in the areas of the city designated for Public Institutional uses.











CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS ELEMENT

The Capital Improvements Element Annual Update has been prepared based on the rules and regulations pertaining to impact fees in Georgia, as specified by the *Development Impact Fee Act* (DIFA) and the Department of Community Affairs (DCA) documents *Development Impact Fee Compliance Requirements* and *Standards and Procedures for Local Comprehensive Planning.* These three documents dictate the essential elements of an Annual Update, specifically the inclusion of a financial report and a schedule of improvements.

According to DCA's Compliance Requirements, the Annual Update:

"must include: 1) the Annual Report on impact fees required under O.C.G.A. 36-71-8; and 2) a new fifth year schedule of improvements, and any changes to or revisions of previously listed CIE projects, including alterations in project costs, proposed changes in funding sources, construction schedules, or project scope." (Chapter 110-12-2-.03(2)(c))

This Annual Update itself is based on the City of Fayetteville *Capital Improvements Element*, as amended by the City in June of 2007.

Financial Report

The Financial Report included in this document is based on the requirements of DIFA, specifically:

"As part of its annual audit process, a municipality or county shall prepare an annual report describing the amount of any development impact fees collected, encumbered, and used during the preceding year by category of public facility and service area." (O.C.G.A. 36-71-8(c))

The required financial information for each public facility category appears in the main financial table (page 2); each of the public facility categories has a single, city-wide service area. The status of all impact fee projects, by public facility category, is shown on the tables on pages 3 and 4

The City's fiscal year runs from August 1 to July 31.

Schedule of Improvements

In addition to the financial report, the City has prepared a five-year schedule of improvements a community work program (CWP)—as specified in DCA's Compliance Requirements (Chapter 110-12-2-.03(2)(c)), which states that local governments that have a CIE must "update their entire Short Term [i.e., Community] Work Programs annually.")¹

¹ Note that DCA's Compliance Requirements specify that the work program is to meet the requirements of Chapter 110-12-1-.04(7)(a), which is a reference to the work program requirements in a previous version of the *Standards* and *Procedures for Local Comprehensive Planning*. The correct current description is found at Chapter 110-12-1-.04(2)(b)1.

According to DCA's requirements,² the CWP must include:

- A brief description of the activity;
- Legal authorization, if applicable;
- Timeframe for undertaking the activity;
- Responsible party for implementing the activity;
- Estimated cost (if any) of implementing the activity; and,
- Funding source(s), if applicable.

All of this information appears in the Community Work Program portion of this document. The Capital Improvements Program and Annual Impact Fee Update, contained in a separate companion document, is adopted by the City of Fayetteville each year.

² Chapter 110-12-1-.03(3).

COMMUNITY WORK PROGRAM

TABLE 17: COMMUNITY WORK PROGRAM

Project	Start Year	Comp. Year	Cost Estimate	Funding Source	Responsible Party
N	atural & C	ultural Reso	ources		
Build a new Downtown Park	2019	2020	Included in new City Hall cost estimate	GF	Administration/ Public Services
Parks Study to include engineering and feasibility study for water feature in a park	2018	2019	\$35,000	GF	Planning
Continue diverse programming at the Amphitheater	2006	Ongoing	\$165,000/yr	Main Street Tourism Assoc./	Continue diverse programming at the Amphitheater
Promote organized walking tours of the Downtown Historic District from the Holliday Dorsey Fife Museum	2004	Ongoing	N/A	Main Street/DDA	Main Street/DDA
Continue to implement Main Street objectives as they relate to preservation of cultural resources.	1996	Ongoing	N/A	N/A	Main Street/DDA
Continue to sponsor cultural activities and events in the Main Street District	1996	Ongoing	\$40,000	Main Street Hotel/Motel Tax Vendor Fees	Main Street/DDA
	Economi	c Developmo	ent		
Plan to update and expand Downtown wayfinding signage	2019	2020	\$30,000	GF	Main Street/DDA

Project	Start Year	Comp. Year	Cost Estimate	Funding Source	Responsible Party
Hire Economic Development Director to pursue the Comprehensive Plan Economic Development Goals of business retention and expansion, business attraction and recruitment AND the Land Use Goal of Improving the City's property tax base.	2017	2017	\$80,000	GF	Administration
Utilize TAD #1 to ensure the appropriate redevelopment of greyfields	2006	Ongoing	Project based	TAD increment	Planning
Host events/activities to attract residents and tourists to the downtown area	1996	Ongoing	\$40,000	Main Street Tourism/ Hotel Motel Tax	Main Street/DDA
	L	and Use			
Downtown Plan	2017	2018	\$30,000	GF	Planning
Audit and revise the City's Zoning Ordinance to achieve the goals of the Comprehensive Plan	2017	2020	\$70,000	GF	Planning
Audit and revise the City's Sign Ordinance to achieve the goals of the Comprehensive Plan	2017	2020	\$20,000	GF	Planning
Hire additional Code Enforcement Officer to pursue the City's aesthetic goals	2018	2018	\$40,000	GF	Planning
Facilitate the implementation of the LCI Plan recommendations where feasible.	2003	Ongoing	\$12,247,000	LCI, SPLOST	Public Services
	Faciliti	es & Service	es estatemente e estatemente estatemente estatemente estatemente estatemente estatemente estatemente estatemente estatemente estat		
Design/Construct New Fire Station 93	2017	2019	\$2,222,000	100% Impact Fees	Fire Department
Fire Apparatus - Engine	2018	2018	\$638,718	100% Impact Fees	Fire Department

Project	Start Year	Comp. Year	Cost Estimate	Funding Source	Responsible Party
Police Dept. Office Space Expansion	2017	2018	\$467,927	100% Impact Fees	Police Department
Park improvements: Gazebo	2018	2018	\$11,342	87.87% Impact Fees; SPLOST, GF	Public Services
Park improvements: The Ridge	2018	2018	\$105,477	87.87% Impact Fees; SPLOST, GF	Public Services
The Ridge Trails 2	2018	2018	\$11, 79 5	100% Impact Fees	Public Services
The Ridge Boardwalk	2018	2018	\$227,740	100% Impact Fees	Public Services
Work with public institutions to redevelop vacant or underutilized public buildings in the DHD.	2002	Ongoing	\$5,000/yr	GF/Grants/LCI	Planning
Utilize existing infrastructure by encouraging infill and redevelopment as opposed to Greenfield development	2002	Ongoing	\$5,000/yr	GF	Planning
Build a new City Hall	2018	2019	\$14,000,000	GF	Administration
Design/Construct New Fire Station #3	2016	2018	\$2,222,000	63.99percent IFF/36.01percent CPF	Fire Department
Aerial Fire Apparatus	2015	2015	\$1,000,000	100% IFF	Fire Department
Tactical Support Fire Apparatus	2018	2018	\$600,000	CPF	Fire Department
	ł	lousing			
Review Zoning Ordinance and design standards to ensure that they allow for and encourage a variety of housing options	2000	Ongoing	\$2,000/yr	GF	Planning
Project	Start Year	Comp. Year	Cost Estimate	Funding Source	Responsible Party
--	---------------	---------------	---------------	----------------------------------	------------------------------
and the factor of the second s	Trans	sportation			1
Develop SR 85 North Corridor study to transition the corridor from suburban to urban	2018	2019	\$80,000	GF, LCI	Planning/ Public Services
Development of a Downtown Grid Street Plan	2018	2019	\$35,000	GF	Planning, Public Services
Participate in the Fayette County Transportation Plan	2017	2018	\$40,000	GF	Planning, Public Services
Participate in the Fayette County Trails Plan	2017	2018	\$40,000	GF	Planning, Public Services
Develop a City trails plan that will include identification of opportunities to provide connectivity between residential areas and other uses through multi-use trails/sidewalks and greenspace.	2018	Ongoing	\$75,000	SPLOST	Planning, Public Services
Install additional street trees and landscape medians as funding becomes available	2017	Ongoing	\$5,000/yr	GF (Tree Bank)	Planning, Public Services
Conceptual plan for new pedestrian crossings on Highway 85 North and Highway 54 East as identified in the Comprehensive Plan	2017	2018	\$10,000	GF	Planning
Lafayette Ave Extension	On-going	2020	\$768,535	40.7% Impact Fees; SPLOST, GF	Public Services
Lafayette/Glynn Extension	On-going	2020	\$282,222	40.7% Impact Fees; SPLOST, GF	Public Services
Jeff Davis Shoulder	On-going	2018	\$444,203	40.7% Impact Fees; SPLOST, GF	Public Services

Project	Start Year	Comp. Year	Cost Estimate	Funding Source	Responsible Party
Grady/Beauregard	On-going	2020	\$958,643	40.7% Impact Fees; SPLOST, GF	Public Services
Lafayette/Tiger Trail	Ongoing	2017	\$585,408	40.7% Impact Fees; SPLOST, GF	Public Services
Highway 54/Gingercake	Ongoing	2017	\$11,715	40.7% Impact Fees; SPLOST, GF	Public Services
Highway 85 Streetscape	Ongoing	2017	\$30,134	40.7% Impact Fees; SPLOST, GF	Public Services
Redwine/Ramah Road Roundabout	Ongoing	2020	\$1,053,387	40.7% Impact Fees; SPLOST, GF	Public Services
Veterans Pkwy Large Roundabout x 2	Ongoing	2022	\$3,240,834	40.7% Impact Fees; SPLOST, GF	Public Services
Veterans Pkwy Small Roundabout (Sandy Creek)	Ongoing	2022	\$1,121,827	40.7% Impact Fees; SPLOST, GF	Public Services
Veterans Pkwy 4-lane expansion (1.5 mile)	Ongoing	2022	\$9,971,797	40.7% Impact Fees; SPLOST, GF	Public Services
Fischer Road Extension (Downtown Expansion)	Ongoing	2020	\$14,045,156	40.7% Impact Fees; SPLOST, GF	Public Services
Highway 54/Grady Avenue	Ongoing	2019	\$567,082	40.7% Impact Fees; SPLOST, GF	Public Services
Require inter-connectivity of roadways within and between new and existing commercial and mixed use developments.	2004	Ongoing	\$1,000/yr	GF	Public Services
Bradley Sidewalk	2013	2018	\$500,000	SPLOST	Public Services
Implement City SPLOST program	2006	2022	\$11,649,324	SPLOST, LCI, DOT, Grants, Private	Public Services

Project	Start Year	Comp. Year	Cost Estimate	Funding Source	Responsible Party
Implement LCI Plan transportation projects as funding becomes available.	2006	2020	\$12,247,000	LCI, SPLOST, Private	Public Services
Hospital Area Paths and Crosswalk	2011	2018	\$650,000	GF, Grants	Public Services
Church St. Extension	2011	2018	\$140,000 (City)	IFF (100%)	Public Services
Hwy 54 Hospital Area Multi-Use Bridge	2013	2018	\$2,400,000	GF, Grants	Planning/Public Services
Inte	ergovernm	ental Coord	lination	der Carlos	
Work with local governments to coordinate adjacent land uses and ensure efficient provision of services	2000	Ongoing	N/A	N/A	Administration

REPORT OF ACCOMPLISHMENTS

TABLE 18: REPORT OF ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Project	Start Year	Comp. Year	Cost Estimate	Funding Source	Responsible Party	Status May 2017
	Natu	ral & Cultur	al Resources			
Utilize available material to educate and increase awareness of community resources	2002	2017	\$2,000/yr	GF, Stormwater Fees	Public Services	Complete
Implement Openspace Plan that includes development of recreational parks, protection of existing greenspace, establishment of greeenways/multiuse trails, connectivity between parks, multi-use trials, identification/addition of new areas for preservation, and environmental education	2000	2017	\$2,000/yr	GF, Stormwater Fees, Grants	Public Services	Complete
Seek funding sources to implement the Openspace Plan	2000	2017	\$1,000/yr	GF, Stormwater Fees	Public Services	Complete
Implement SWMP including compliance with Cities Phase II MS4 NPDES permit and masterplanning/CIP program. Costs include debt service and personnel salaries.	2003	2016	\$500,000/yr	Stormwater Utility	Public Services	Complete
Continue to maintain and update inventory of historic resources in Fayetteville	2003	2016	N/A	Main Street/DDA LCI study	Main Street/DDA	Complete
Utilize the Art & Architectural Committee to compliment preservation efforts	2003	2016	\$2,000/yr	GF	Planning	Complete
Work with historic preservation groups to identify funding sources for public/private sponsored restoration and redevelopment projects in the DHD	2006	2016	N/A	Main Street/DDA	Main Street/DDA	Complete

75

Project	Start Year	Comp. Year	Cost Estimate	Funding Source	Responsible Party	Status May 2017
Coordinate appropriate signage for historic resources.	2002	2016	\$5,000	Main Street/DDA	Main Street/DDA	Complete
Promote organized tours of the DHD	2004	Ongoing - HDF Museum's Walking Tour	N/A	Main Street/DDA	Main Street/DDA	Ongoing
Continue to implement Main Street objectives as they relate to preservation of cultural resources.	1996	Ongoing	N/A	N/A	Main Street/DDA	Ongoing
Continue diverse programming at the Amphitheater	2006	Ongoing	\$165,000/yr	Main Street Tourism Assoc./ Event Admission Fees/ Sponsorships	Main Street/DDA	Ongoing
Continue to sponsor cultural activities and events in the Main Street District	1996	Ongoing	\$40,000	Main Street Hotel/Motel Tax Vendor Fees	Main Street/DDA	Ongoing
	E	conomic Dev	elopment	The second	and the second	1.00
Hire Economic Development Director to pursue the Comprehensive Plan Economic Development Goals of business retention and expansion, business attraction and recruitment AND the Land Use Goal of Improving the City's property tax base.	2017	2017	\$80,000	GF	Administration	Complete
Utilize TAD #1 to ensure the appropriate redevelopment of greyfields.	2006	Ongoing	Project based	TAD increment	Planning	Ongoing

Project	Start Year	Comp. Year	Cost Estimate	Funding Source	Responsible Party	Status May 2017
Host events/activities to attract residents and tourists to the downtown area	1996	Ongoing	\$40,000	Main Street Tourism/ Hotel Motel Tax	Main Street/DDA	Ongoing
		Land U	se	34-2-		
Review Historic District Overlay to ensure appropriate design and architectural standards for new development, infill development, and redevelopment match the historic character of the area and provide consistency with surrounding land uses.	2002	2015	\$2,500/yr	GF	Planning	Complete
Review design and architectural plans for redevelopment and new development in regional commercial areas to ensure consistency with established standards and surrounding land uses.	2000	2015	\$5,000/yr	GF	Planning	Complete
Work with developers to promote/encourage mixed- use developments in identified areas	2000	2016	\$7,000/yr	GF/Grants/LCI/ Private	Planning / Main Street/DDA	Complete
Work with developers to facilitate the development of Conservation and/or New Urbanist subdivision where appropriate.	1999	2016	\$7,000/yr	GF	Planning / Main Street/DDA	Complete
Review Zoning Ordinance to ensure that appropriate commercial uses are allowed in proximity to residential neighborhoods to serve residents of those neighborhoods.	2000	2016	\$5,000/yr	GF	Planning	Complete
Encourage cooperative master planning of large greenfield areas.	1994	2016	\$5,000/yr	GF/Private	Planning	Complete

Project	Start Year	Comp. Year	Cost Estimate	Funding Source	Responsible Party	Status May 2017
Identify opportunities to provide connectivity between residential areas and other uses through multi-use trails/sidewalks and greenspace. Include in the Openspace Plan.	2000	2016	\$1,000/yr	GF/Private	Planning/Public Services	This will become part of the City Trails Plan
Facilitate the implementation of the LCI Plan recommendations where feasible.	2003	Ongoing	\$12,247,000	LCI, SPLOST	Public Services	Ongoing
	141	Facilities & S	Services	D.		- Alma
Work with developers to meet the needs of the aging population as it relates to housing and associated services.	1997	2017	\$5,000/yr	GF/ARC grants	Planning	Will be part of Zoning Ordinance amendments
Continue to implement capital improvement programs.	1995	Ongoing	N/A	GF/Grants/LCI/ SPLOST/ Bonds/GDOT	Administration	Each project is now listed separately for more clarity
Utilize existing infrastructure by encouraging infill and redevelopment as opposed to Greenfield development	2002	Ongoing	\$5,000/yr	GF	Planning	Ongoing
Continue to assess the needs of a growing community and update infrastructure accordingly.	1995	Ongoing	N/A	All Funds	Administration	Each project is now listed separately for more clarity
Promote expanded development of regional medical facilities consistent with the Character Area Map and Future Land Use map.	2007	2017	\$5,000/yr	GF	Planning	Complete

Project	Start Year	Comp. Year	Cost Estimate	Funding Source	Responsible Party	Status May 2017
Design/Construct New Fire Station #3	2016	2018	\$2,222,000	63.99% IFF/36.01% CPF	Fire Department	Postponed (change in priorities)
Aerial Fire Apparatus	2015	2015	\$1,000,000	100% IFF	Fire Department	Complete
Tactical Support Fire Apparatus	2018	2018	\$600,000	CPF	Fire Department	On schedule
		Housi	ng			
Identify areas desirable for residential infill development and redevelopment	2000	2015	\$5,000/yr	GF	Planning	Complete
Identify existing structures appropriate for conversion or restoration to provide housing.	2000	2015	\$5,000/yr	GF	Planning	Complete
Facilitate infill development and redevelopment in identified areas.	2000	2015	\$5,000/yr	GF/TAD Increment	Planning	Complete
Encourage mix of residential densities in appropriate areas near the DHD or employment centers	2000	2015	\$5,000/yr	GF/Grants/LCI/Pri vate	Planning	Complete
Review Zoning Ordinance and design standards to ensure that they allow for and encourage a variety of housing options	2000	2015	\$2,000/yr	GF	Planning	Will be part of Zoning Ordinance amendments
		Transport	tation			
Support the County CTP, including bypass to alleviate congestion on HWY85.	2003	2017	\$200,000,00	Cities, County, SPLOST, DOT	Public Services	Complete/ New CTP underway

Project	Start Year	Comp. Year	Cost Estimate	Funding Source	Responsible Party	Status May 2017
Provide educational material for residents that promotes alternative transportation modes (i.e. walking, biking, etc.) in the City	2006	2015	\$1,000/yr	GF	Public Services	Complete
Require inter-connectivity of roadways within and between new and existing commercial and mixed use developments.	2004	Ongoing	\$1,000/yr	GF	Public Services	Ongoing
Continue to implement the City Sidewalk Plan and update as necessary.	2006	Ongoing	\$540,000 +	SPLOST, DOT, Private	Public Services	Each project is now listed separately for more clarity
Bradley Sidewalk	2013	2018	\$500,000	SPLOST	Public Services	Underway
Implement City SPLOST program	2006	Ongoing	\$11,649,324	SPLOST, LCI, DOT, Grants, Private	Public Services	Ongoing
Implement LCI Plan transportation projects as funding becomes available.	2006	Ongoing	\$12,247,000	LCI, SPLOST, Private	Public Services	Ongoing
Lafayette/Tiger Trail Alt. B (Ph. 2)	2009	2021	\$214,375	IFF (100percent)	Public Services	Postponed (change in priorities)
Hospital Area Paths and Crosswalk	2011	2018	\$650,000	GF, Grants	Public Services	Postponed (will be planned as part of City Trails Plan)

Project	Start Year	Comp. Year	Cost Estimate	Funding Source	Responsible Party	Status May 2017
Hood Avenue Connector	2011	2017	\$560,000 (City)	IFF (100percent)	Public Services	Complete
Church St. Extension	2011	2017	\$140,000 (City)	IFF (100percent)	Public Services	Complete
Hood/92 Realignment Project	2011	2017	\$8,700,000 (net)	SPLOST	Public Services	Complete
Hwy 54 Hospital Area Multi-Use Bridge	2013	2018	\$2,400,000	GF, Grants	Planning/Public Services	Postponed (lack of funding)
Redwine/Ramah Road Roundabout	2019	2021	\$900,000	SPLOST, GF, Private	Public Services	Not started
	Interg	overnmental	Coordination			
Work with local governments to coordinate adjacent land uses and ensure efficient provision of services	2000	Ongoing	N/A	N/A	Administration	Ongoing
Develop local and regional partnerships to protect greenspace, develop a regional system of multiuse trials	2000	2017	N/A	N/A	Administration	Will become part of countywide Trails Plan



APPENDIX A -COMMUNITY SURVEY RESULTS

CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 2017-2037



swer Choices	Responses
I live in Fayetteville but I don't work here	44.95%
I live in Fayetteville and I work in Fayetteville	23.83%
I work in Fayetleville but I don't live here	17.15%
I don't live or work in Fayetteville	14.08%
otal	

Q1 Do you live or work in the City of Fayetteville?

Q2 If you don't live in Fayetteville, what is the zip code where you live?

Answered: 146 Skipped: 408

#	Responses	Date
1	30296	12/8/2016 4:24 PM
2	30269	12/4/2016 7:16 PM
3	30269	12/4/2016 10:32 AM
4	30290	12/3/2016 6:21 PM
5	30269	11/30/2016 3:37 PM
6	30269	11/30/2016 1:52 PM
,	30205	11/30/2016 1:44 PM
5	30290	11/30/2016 11:03 AM
)	30269	11/30/2016 10:35 AM
0	30218	11/29/2016 9:31 AM
1	30215	11/29/2016 9:28 AM
2	30215	11/29/2016 9:22 AM
3	30214	11/29/2016 9:04 AM
4	30215	11/29/2016 8:47 AM
5	30215	11/29/2016 8:45 AM
6	30269	11/29/2016 8:26 AM
17	30269	11/29/2016 8:22 AM
8	30291	11/29/2016 8:18 AM
9	30233	11/28/2016 4:50 PM
0	30296	11/28/2016 4:41 PM
1	30276	11/28/2016 3:50 PM
2	30269	11/28/2016 3:44 PM
3	30269	11/28/2016 3:41 PM
24	30269	11/28/2016 3:35 PM
15	30269	11/28/2016 3:33 PM
26	30290	11/28/2016 3:13 PM
27	30205	11/28/2016 1:40 PM
28	30205	11/28/2016 11:37 AM
9	30238	11/28/2016 10:28 AM
30	30294	11/28/2016 10:26 AM
91	30214	11/28/2016 10:17 AM
32	30291	11/28/2016 10:06 AM
33	30290	11/28/2016 9:54 AM
34	30269	11/28/2016 9:33 AM

SurveyMonkey

35	30214	11/28/2016 9:27 AM
36	30213	11/28/2016 9:00 AM
37	30274	11/28/2016 8:58 AM
8	30214	11/24/2016 9:26 PM
9	30276	11/23/2016 4:09 PM
0	30290	11/23/2016 3:27 PM
1	30215	11/23/2016 3:22 PM
2	30215	11/23/2016 3:19 PM
3	30290	11/23/2016 3:16 PM
4	30251	11/23/2016 3:14 PM
5	30290	11/23/2016 3:10 PM
6	30228	11/23/2016 2:51 PM
7	30215	11/23/2016 11:39 AM
8	30215	11/23/2016 11:37 AM
9	30274	11/22/2016 4:00 PM
0	30274	11/22/2016 3:58 PM
1	30238	11/22/2016 2:01 PM
2	30224	11/22/2016 11:46 AM
3	30215	11/22/2016 11:32 AM
4	30078	11/22/2016 9:25 AM
5	30215	11/22/2016 9:20 AM
6	30126	11/22/2016 9:17 AM
7	30290	11/22/2016 9:15 AM
8	30214	11/21/2016 4:43 PM
9	30214	11/21/2016 4:42 PM
0	30215	11/21/2016 4:31 PM
1	30215	11/21/2016 4:24 PM
2	30215	11/21/2016 4:02 PM
3	30215	11/21/2016 3:56 PM
4	30215	11/21/2016 3:51 PM
5	30214	11/21/2016 3:07 PM
6	30214	11/21/2016 2:20 PM
7	30327	11/21/2016 2:03 PM
8	30269	11/21/2016 1:55 PM
9	30141	11/21/2016 1:51 PM
0	30214	11/21/2016 1:36 PM
'1	30342	11/21/2016 11:50 AM
2	30215	11/21/2016 10:59 AM
'3	30269	11/21/2016 10:48 AM
4	30215	11/20/2016 10:54 AM
'5	30214	11/17/2016 8:35 PM

76	30215	11/17/2016 4:25 PM
7	30215	11/17/2016 3:50 PM
8	32214	11/17/2016 3:42 PM
'9	30215	11/17/2016 3:37 PM
30	30306	11/17/2016 10:49 AM
31	30319	11/15/2016 4:28 PM
32	30214	11/15/2016 11:19 AM
33	30215	11/14/2016 10:11 PM
34	30215	11/14/2016 9:28 PM
35	30215	11/14/2016 9:20 PM
36	Senoia GA 30276	11/14/2016 8:57 PM
87	30312	11/10/2016 4:29 PM
96	30290	11/9/2016 8:10 PM
39	30276	11/9/2016 5:02 PM
90	30290	11/4/2016 9:48 AM
91	30307	11/3/2016 3:40 PM
92	30269	11/3/2016 3:02 PM
93	30276	11/3/2016 2:56 PM
94	30263	11/3/2016 2:50 PM
95	30292	11/3/2016 2:45 PM
96	30214	11/3/2016 2:43 PM
97	30215	11/3/2016 1:19 PM
98	30290	11/2/2016 9:00 PM
99	30269	11/2/2016 10:26 AM
100	30214	11/2/2016 9:57 AM
101	30215	11/2/2016 9:32 AM
102	30215	11/2/2016 7:19 AM
103	30252	11/1/2016 10:27 PM
104	30215	11/1/2016 8:56 PM
105	30269	11/1/2016 8:21 PM
106	30269	11/1/2016 7:58 PM
107	30339	11/1/2016 7:47 PM
108	30269	11/1/2016 7:40 PM
109	30215	11/1/2016 7:23 PM
110	30205	11/1/2016 6:50 PM
111	30269	11/1/2016 4:40 PM
12	30291	11/1/2016 4:12 PM
113	30354	11/1/2016 3:13 PM
114	30269	11/1/2016 12:52 PM
115	30215	11/1/2018 10:58 AM
116	30265	11/1/2016 10:54 AM

SurveyMonkey

117	30294	11/1/2016 7:10 AM
18	74127	11/1/2016 4:49 AM
119	30269	11/1/2016 3:36 AM
120	30269	10/31/2016 9:20 PM
121	30296	10/31/2016 8:47 PM
122	30269	10/31/2016 8:40 PM
23	30234	10/31/2016 3:59 PM
124	30268	10/31/2016 1:06 PM
25	30294	10/31/2016 11:20 AM
26	30228	10/31/2016 10:15 AM
27	30276	10/31/2016 9:58 AM
28	30265	10/31/2016 9:24 AM
29	30265	10/31/2016 7:42 AM
130	30276	10/31/2016 7:31 AM
131	30205	10/31/2016 7:21 AM
132	30215	10/31/2016 4:50 AM
133	30214	10/31/2016 1:15 AM
134	30224	10/30/2016 6:56 PM
35	30269	10/29/2016 9:36 PM
36	30236	10/29/2016 4:45 PM
137	30215	10/29/2016 7:58 AM
138	30277	10/28/2016 8:11 PM
139	30295	10/28/2016 5:48 PM
140	30269	10/28/2016 5:19 PM
141	30215	10/28/2016 5:11 PM
142	30276	10/28/2016 4:59 PM
143	30276	10/28/2016 4:58 PM
144	30224	10/28/2016 4:56 PM
145	30215	10/28/2016 4:47 PM
146	30214	10/28/2016 2:28 PM

Q3 If you don't live in Fayetteville, why is the future of the City important to you?

Answered: 130 Skipped: 424

#	Rеsponses	Date
1	shop, bank, eat out, vet, gym and hospital	12/8/2016 4:24 PM
2	We live nearby. We shop, dine and are in Fayetteville quite often.	12/4/2016 7:16 PM
3	Fayetteville is a reflection of Fayette county, and I would like Fayette county to remain nice so that we can attract potential residents that will add to our society in a positive way.	12/4/2016 10:32 AM
4	I want to see a batter environment for those who are growing up in it. I want them to enjoy themselves and not be misetable like how I was. I don't like it.	12/3/2016 6:21 PM
5	It is a part of my community	11/30/2016 3:37 PM
9	still part of community	11/30/2016 1:52 PM
7	own business	11/30/2016 1:44 PM
В	play with friends/family	11/30/2016 11:03 AM
9	I live in very close proximity and Fayetteville affects PTC as well	11/30/2016 10:35 AM
10	concerned about quality of life, safety, transportation & congestion	11/29/2016 9:28 AM
11	live in unincorporated Fayetteville	11/29/2016 9:22 AM
12	retiring in the area	11/29/2016 9:04 AM
13	live in the county & concerned about all of Fayette	11/29/2016 8:47 AM
14	I live here and what happens effects me	11/29/2016 8:45 AM
15	musical work is in/around Fayetteville; considering living here after college	11/29/2016 8:26 AM
16	a lot of my musical work is in/around Fayetteville; I'd consider living her after college is over	11/29/2016 8:22 AM
17	plan to move here	11/29/2016 8:18 AM
18	for the growth of my business	11/28/2016 4:50 PM
19	beauliful and qulet	11/26/2016 4:41 PM
20	work here, want it to succeed	11/28/2016 3:50 PM
21	care what happen; its a part of Fayette county	11/28/2016 3:44 PM
22	business	11/26/2016 3:35 PM
23	this is part of the county we live in	11/28/2016 3:33 PM
24	proximity - spend time here	11/28/2016 3:13 PM
25	live in county	11/28/2016 1:40 PM
26	lived there all my life and love the community	11/28/2016 11:37 AM
27	business growth	11/28/2016 10:28 AM
28	as they develop businesses & job maintains millinials	11/28/2016 10:26 AM
29	to be more college attention gerting	11/28/2016 9:54 AM
30	come to the business here	11/28/2016 9:33 AM
31	lovely city	11/28/2016 9:00 AM
32	close to home and work	11/28/2016 8:58 AM
33	1 live several hundred yards from it.	11/24/2016 9:26 PM

34	live in Fayette county	11/23/2016 4:09 PM
35	growth is important to our youth who are our future adults	11/23/2016 3:27 PM
6	the people	11/23/2016 3:22 PM
37	the people	11/23/2016 3:19 PM
38	live in Fayette county and concerned	11/23/2016 3:16 PM
39	to oversee population	11/23/2016 3:14 PM
40	closest city next to Tyrone	11/23/2016 3:10 PM
41	travel shop here often	11/23/2016 2:51 PM
42	live outside city limits, work/voluntser in city of fayetteville	11/23/2016 11:39 AM
43	live outside city limits, work/volunteer in city of fayetteville	11/23/2016 11:37 AM
44	Realtor, want to eee it grow	11/22/2016 4:00 PM
15	Realtor want to see it grow	11/22/2016 3:58 PM
46	Its home	11/22/2016 3:30 PM
47	I would want to live here because its fun	11/22/2016 1:52 PM
48	husband works in the city and we live in the county	11/22/2016 9:20 AM
49	traffic control	11/22/2016 9:15 AM
50	live just outside the city limits	11/21/2016 4:43 PM
51	live just outside the city limits	11/21/2016 4:42 PM
52	would love to be able to shop etc. w/o the crime and traffic	11/21/2016 4:31 PM
53	expect to continue to live here	11/21/2016 4:24 PM
54	live just outside city limits	11/21/2016 4:02 PM
55	l shap & díne here	11/21/2016 3:56 PM
56	growth	11/21/2016 3:51 PM
57	It's my community, it's where I shop	11/21/2016 3:07 PM
58	It's my community, it's where I shop	11/21/2016 2:20 PM
59	family property and apartment ownership	11/21/2016 2:03 PM
60	I am the Fayetie county outreach coordinator for sc habitat for humanity	11/21/2016 1:55 PM
61	I am a realtor. smart, flexible zoning/planning is important to the work I do.	11/21/2016 1:51 PM
62	Closest city downtown area	11/21/2016 1:36 PM
63	future resident	11/21/2016 11:50 AM
64	It has so much potential & should be one of the most desirable places in the region	11/21/2016 10:59 AM
65	I shop and recreate in Fayetteville	11/21/2016 10:48 AM
66	I don't feel like driving to peachtree city to hang out	11/20/2016 10:54 AM
67	I work there, and spend a lot of time at restaurants and other family activities, and live in unincorporated Fayetteville	11/17/2016 8:35 PM
68	I am close in proximity so what happens in Fayetheville affects me & my household	11/17/2016 4:25 PM
69	I do a lot of business & volunteering in the city	11/17/2016 3:42 PM
70	I live in the community (Hayes Crossing), shop here and as a member of the school board, want to see the city grow and prosper.	11/17/2016 3:37 PM
71	1 live in Fayetta County, just outside of the city limits.	11/15/2016 11:19 AM
72	Because it is the lown I most closely associate with, shop In, commute through. It is where my mail is directed.	11/14/2016 10:11 PM
73	I live in the unincorporated county. The city of Fayetleville is vital to this community.	11/14/2016 9:28 PM

74	It is my county	11/14/2016 9:20 PM
75	I'm from Fayetteville originally, work here, and still live nearby along with many family members.	11/14/2016 8:57 PM
76	I like it here.	11/10/2016 4:29 PM
77	My children were raised in Fayetteville.	11/9/2016 8:10 PM
78	I have businesses (26 yrs) in Fayette and Coweta counties	11/9/2016 5:02 PM
79	Because I own a business located there	11/4/2016 9:48 AM
80	Own a business in Fayetteville	11/3/2016 3:40 PM
B1	My county seat	11/3/2016 3:02 PM
82	It is where I work and spent most of my time.	11/3/2016 2:56 PM
33	i work here and family members live here	11/3/2016 2:50 PM
34	Because I do most of my spending in Fayetteville and my mother lives here	11/3/2016 2:45 PM
35	I live outside City limits, but Fayetteville is my home.	11/3/2016 2:43 PM
86	Grew up here and work for a small business in Fayetteville	11/3/2016 1:19 PM
37	own a business there and own commercial property	11/2/2016 9:00 PM
88	The growth of Fayetteville will help Peachtree City.	11/2/2016 10:26 AM
19	Because I live on the North side of Fayette County and whats good for the County Seat is good for me. I also work in Fayetteville and investment in the city directly affects my financial well being.	11/2/2016 9:57 AM
90	t live in the county.	11/2/2016 9:32 AM
91	To not be like Riverdale or Jonesboro. The city needs to remain safe otherwise all the plans to improve are for nothing.	11/2/2016 7:19 AM
92	Economy	11/1/2016 10:27 PM
93	close proximity to PTC and lack of growth planning seems to be the norm (trust me, I live in PTC, I know) Too much, too soon as far as planning.	11/1/2016 8:21 PM
34	I grew up there, my family lives there, and could potentially move back there If the town ends up being set up for mid 20-30 year olds	11/1/2016 7:47 PM
15	I live just outside the city limits. What happens in the city greatly effects the traffic I deal with on a dally basis, as well as, my property value.	11/1/2016 7:23 PM
6	I live in fayelte county	11/1/2016 6:50 PM
97	It is the seat of the county. If Fayetteville thrives, then the county will thrive.	11/1/2016 4:40 PM
98	I've lived there through my childhood and now work there.	11/1/2016 4:12 PM
99	It has huge polential to be a great, authentic city.	11/1/2016 3:13 PM
100	Because reasons	11/1/2016 12:52 PM
101	I live in Fayette County and spend time in Fayetteville.	11/1/2016 10:58 AM
102	I work there for a community organization that makes a large impact.	11/1/2016 10:54 AM
103	I HAVE WATCH TO CITY CHANGE OVER THE YEARS, SINCE I GREW UP IN FAYETTEVILLE	11/1/2016 7:10 AM
104	The future of Fayetteville is important to me because I visit Fayetteville a lot throughout the year and could eventually see myself moving there.	11/1/2016 4:49 AM
105	As a neighbor, I frequently visit Fayetteville for recreation and shopping.	11/1/2016 3:36 AM
106	I shop and travel through Fayetteville	10/31/2016 9:20 PM
107	Because I am a Business Owner	10/31/2016 8:47 PM
108	Part of my community	10/31/2016 8:40 PM
109	because it effects the way I can do my job	10/31/2016 3:59 PM
110	I work in the City of Fayettev/ile and LOVE ITI	10/31/2016 1:06 PM

SurveyMonkey

111	It would provide job security.	10/31/2016 11:20 AM
112	I work here	10/31/2016 10:15 AM
113	i work here, and lived in the area for 30+ years	10/31/2016 9:58 AM
114	i work here.	10/31/2016 9:24 AM
115	I live in the vicinity area and it is important to me to know the surroundings and future of the county.	10/31/2016 7:42 AM
116	Fayetteville is my home town, county seat of the county in which I live and pay taxes and serves as the historic center of the county.	10/31/2016 7:31 AM
117	Because Fayetteville is an Important economic center in the county.	10/31/2016 7:21 AM
118	I live close by	10/31/2016 4:50 AM
119	Because I shop in the city and attend church in Fayetteville	10/31/2016 1:15 AM
120	I work for Fayetteville	10/30/2016 6:56 PM
121	Because the citizens are worth tti They/ we appreciate our public safety.	10/29/2016 9:36 PM
122	Worked here for over 25 years	10/29/2016 4:45 PM
123	Live in the county. Fayetteville has a drastic effect on my property values, crime level and overall quality of life	10/29/2016 7:58 AM
124	I have been a part of Fayetrville for the last 32 years. It's future is and has always been important to me. I hope to see it grow in a positive direction. It is the future of our children.	10/26/2016 8:11 PM
125	Vested interest with department I work for.	10/26/2016 5:48 PM
126	Cause it helps my job here	10/26/2016 5:19 PM
127	Because I am an employee of the City of Fayetteville	10/28/2016 4:59 PM
128	I work here so I spend a lot time in Fayetteville	10/28/2016 4:58 PM
129	It is where I work and spend majority of my days	10/28/2016 4:55 PM
130	I work in Fayetteville and would like to relocate from the county to the city in the near future. I Love Fayetteville and want it to be great!	10/28/2016 2:28 PM

Q4 If you work in Fayetteville but do not live in Fayetteville what would make you want to move here?

Answered: 89 Skipped: 465

#	Responses	Date
1	sell my current home	12/8/2016 4:24 PM
2	Schools that can compare with the schools of Peachtree City.	12/4/2016 10:32 AM
3	Better looking environment. It's not as nice as Tyrone.	12/3/2016 6:21 PM
4	more accessable	11/30/2016 1:52 PM
5	nothing	11/30/2016 1:44 PM
5	opportunities to perform live musicals, playhouse, etc. more income	11/29/2016 8:26 AM
7	opportunities to perform as musical, a play house, etc. more income	11/29/2016 8:22 AM
3	growth	11/29/2016 8:16 AM
9	schools, cost of living	11/26/2016 4:50 PM
10	happy where I am	11/26/2018 3:50 PM
11	nothing	11/28/2016 3:35 PM
12	fix traffic around the square	11/28/2016 3:33 PM
13	city life	11/28/2016 3:13 PM
14	na development	11/28/2016 1:40 PM
15	more evening events	11/23/2016 3:22 PM
16	more evening events	11/23/2016 3:19 PM
17	lots of shopping	11/23/2016 3:10 PM
18	improve walkable safety, schools, walk aisle grocery & retail, farmers market weekly	11/23/2016 11:39 AM
19	improve walkable safety, schools, walk aisle grocery & retail - framers market weekly	11/23/2016 11:37 AM
20	reatly closewould not	11/22/2016 4:00 PM
21	really closewould not	11/22/2016 3:58 PM
22	Hilo road	11/22/2016 3:30 PM
23	low crime / good schools	11/22/2016 11:46 AM
24	community development, smart legislation, great a& safe neighborhoods	11/22/2016 9:25 AM
25	don't live in the city 'proper' but dose enough	11/21/2016 4:43 PM
26	don't live in the city 'proper' ut close enouth	11/21/2016 4:42 PM
27	resolve the issued of vacant store fronts	11/21/2016 4:02 PM
28	rural atmosphere	11/21/2016 3:56 PM
29	live outside of the city limits	11/21/2016 3:51 PM
30	good mix of shopping, living, working, recreation	11/21/2016 2:09 PM
31	plan to retire here	11/21/2016 2:03 PM
32	quick highway access	11/21/2016 1:51 PM
33	vibrant community	11/21/2016 11:50 AM

SurveyMonkey

34	I live right outside so likely would not move	11/21/2016 10:59 AM
5	n/a	11/20/2016 10:54 AM
6	I am happy where I live.	11/17/2016 8:35 PM
7	young adults	11/17/2016 10:49 AM
8	Smaller houses with better architecture that are not deed restricted to 55+. Single people don't need gigantic houses on gigantic lots. Fayetteville should be more welcoming to people under 55 who aren't married and don't have kids.	11/15/2016 4:28 PM
39	NA	11/14/2016 10:11 PM
0	Live in 30215. I don't officially live in the city limits.	11/14/2016 9:28 PM
1	NA	11/14/2016 9:20 PM
2	More culture, more residents my age, more shops and restaurants that are of interest to me	11/14/2016 8:57 PM
43	The addition of many divorced professional men over 40 year old, better restaurents, live music, new small Craftsman style homes with a lot of architectural detail that are not marketed to grandmas, and lots of cool stuff that is easily walkable from that Craftsman style home.	11/10/2016 4:29 PM
н	Schools	11/9/2016 6:10 PM
15	depends on housing	11/9/2016 5:02 PM
16	Nothing	11/4/2016 9:48 AM
17	More culture, creativity, nightlife, diversity, energy and public transportation all in walking or biking distance from my home.	11/3/2016 3:40 PM
18	Nothing, I like where I live.	11/3/2016 3:02 PM
19	lower taxes would be good	11/3/2016 2:50 PM
50	A safer environment, less congestion	11/3/2016 2:45 PM
51	Next move will be to the beach	11/3/2016 1:19 PM
52	I live just outside of Fayetteville,	11/2/2016 10:26 AM
53	More affordable housing.	11/2/2016 9:57 AM
54	More affordable housing I am single and would prefer to have my own place without a roommate but the cost of living is too high in the area, i would ideally love to live in a tiny house community!	11/2/2016 8:54 AM
55	Hive in the county just out of the city limits. I have lived in Fayette county over 40 years	11/2/2016 7:19 AM
56	N/A	11/1/2016 10:27 PM
57	NA	11/1/2016 7:23 PM
58	I live in the county	11/1/2016 6:50 PM
59	Better schools and neighborhoods like in Peachtree City with the golf cart paths	11/1/2016 4:40 PM
60	Seeing the town grow with more small business.	11/1/2016 4:12 PM
61	more things to do outside of work (dlning, walking, live music)	11/1/2016 3:13 PM
62	Better fireworks	11/1/2016 12:52 PM
63	The rural atmosphere and proximity to the airport.	11/1/2016 10:58 AM
64	Homes with additional acreage and safer communities.	11/1/2016 10:54 AM
65	CITY OF FAYETTEVILLE IS A SAFE CITY TO LIVE IN.	11/1/2016 7:10 AM
66	Right now, the only motivating factor to move to Fayetteville would be closer to friends and family.	11/1/2016 4:49 AM
67	Less development	10/31/2016 9:20 PM
68	I would love to live in Fayette cheaper taxes would be great.	10/31/2016 8:47 PM
69	Nothing	10/31/2016 8:40 PM
70	a pay increase	10/31/2016 3:59 PM

SurveyMonkey

71	The shops in the Pavilion and restaurants.	10/31/2016 1:06 PM
72	The school system and if I had the ability to purchase home at the great price and would give me the space that I wanted.	10/31/2016 11:20 AM
73	schools	10/31/2016 10:15 AM
74	Downtown shopping and eating similar to Newnan and what is happening in Senoia. Lower crime rate	10/31/2016 9:58 AM
75	Nothing	10/31/2016 9:24 AM
76	better commercial developmenta, up-scale shops and restaurants.	10/31/2016 7:42 AM
77	I have lived in Fayette County most of my life.	10/31/2016 7:31 AM
78	Good government.	10/31/2016 7:21 AM
79	nothing	10/31/2016 4:50 AM
80	Nothing	10/30/2016 6:56 PM
81	Nothing, crime is getting worse, drugs crimes are increasing and the police dept has no specialized unit to even start to handle it, they don't even have a K9, game on.	10/29/2016 9:36 PM
82	Closeness to good entertainment and restaurants	10/29/2016 4:45 PM
83	Right now nothing. The city itself has an appearance of a ghetto type atmosphere and look. Buildings are from the 60's & 70's, more thrift stores than needed and overall very trashy looking	10/29/2016 7:58 AM
84	Better schools	10/28/2016 8:11 PM
85	Nothing could	10/28/2016 5:48 PM
86	A younger group of young adults	10/28/2016 5:19 PM
87	More community activities such as bigger names for acts at the amphitheater and exciting nightlife.	10/28/2016 4:59 PM
88	Better shopping downtown and on the southside	10/28/2016 4:58 PM
89	Affordable housing. Not everyone wants a 3,500 sf house. I am single with grown children. I want 1,500 sf max (current home is 1, 850 sf) Would love to see Tiny houses in Fayetteville- I could do Tiny Living!!!!	10/28/2016 2:28 PM

Q5 If you live in the City of Fayetteville, what is the name of your street?

Answered: 297 Skipped: 257

#	Responses	Date
	Rolling Brook Trail	12/8/2016 4:37 PM
2	30215	12/8/2016 4:34 PM
3	30215	12/8/2016 4:32 PM
1	30215	12/8/2016 4:27 PM
5	Morning Springs Walk	12/7/2016 8:51 PM
5	Chesterfield Ct	12/7/2016 4:06 PM
,	S Jeff Davis Drive	12/7/2016 11:48 AM
3	North Hampton dr	12/6/2016 4:44 PM
)	S Jeff Davis Drive	12/5/2016 8:24 AM
0	Savannah Ct	12/3/2016 10:48 PM
11	Waterisce	12/3/2016 7:13 PM
12	Knight Way	12/a/2016 7:05 PM
13	Newhaven	12/3/2016 7:04 PM
14	Newhaven	12/3/2016 5:59 PM
15	Adverstone Court	12/3/2016 6:46 PM
16	Adverstone Court	12/3/2016 6:28 PM
17	Newhaven dr	12/3/2016 6:27 PM
18	Newhaven dr	12/3/2018 6:24 PM
19	Hidden Lake Drive	12/3/2016 6:19 PM
20	Morning Springs Walk	12/3/2016 6:18 PM
21	Newhaven	12/3/2016 6:16 PM
22	Hidden Lake Drive	12/3/2016 6:16 PM
23	test	12/3/2016 6:07 PM
24	Lamberth Lake Dr	12/1/2015 10:06 AM
25	White Oak Trail	11/30/2016 2:15 PM
26	Chase Dr	11/30/2016 2:12 PM
27	Highview Trace	11/30/2016 2:07 PM
28	Gingercake	11/30/2016 2:01 PM
29	Forrest Ave (Hwy 92N)	11/30/2016 1:54 PM
30	Bay Branch Blvc	11/30/2016 1:50 PM
31	Hidden Lake Dr	11/30/2016 1:47 PM
32	Rabbits Run	11/30/2016 11:33 AM
33	Hidden Lake Dr	11/30/2016 11:28 AM
34	Hidden Lake Dr	11/30/2016 11:15 AM

SurveyMonkey

35	Woodbyne Dr	11/30/2016 10:49 AM
36	Legends Drive	11/30/2016 10:38 AM
37	N. Jeff Davis Dr	11/30/2016 10:29 AM
38	Rolling Brook Trail	11/30/2016 10:26 AM
39	Clandon Park Terr	11/30/2016 10:19 AM
40	Weatherly Drive	11/30/2016 10:14 AM
11	Lakemont Drive	11/30/2016 10:12 AM
42	Windridge Drive	11/30/2016 10:05 AM
43	Grande Court	11/29/2016 9:36 AM
14	Grande Court	11/29/2016 9:33 AM
15	Youngs Circle	11/29/2016 9:25 AM
16	Overlook Ct	11/29/2016 9:20 AM
17	Misty Forest dr	11/29/2016 9:18 AM
48	Misty Forest	11/29/2016 9:15 AM
19	braemar rd	11/29/2016 9:01 AM
50	braemar rd	11/29/2016 8:55 AM
51	braemar rd	11/29/2016 8:53 AM
52	N. Fayetle Dr	11/29/2016 8:51 AM
53	Harbour Town Pkwy	11/29/2016 8:39 AM
54	Lake Circle dr	11/29/2016 8:30 AM
55	Lake Circle dr	11/28/2016 4:43 PM
56	New Hope rd/Padgett rd	11/28/2016 4:30 FM
57	Wendolyn trace	11/28/2016 3:56 PM
58	hwy 92 s	11/28/2016 3:38 PM
59	Plunkett Dr	11/28/2016 3:26 PM
50	Majesty Lane	11/28/2016 3:19 PM
31	Femvliff	11/28/2016 3:17 PM
32	River Forest	11/28/2016 3:09 PM
63	Stolen hours In	11/28/2016 3:04 PM
54	Oak st	11/28/2016 2:45 PM
35	Oak st	11/28/2016 1:43 PM
66	Hillsdale dr	11/28/2016 11:24 AM
37	Zelkova dr	11/28/2016 11:03 AM
58	Vickry Ln	11/28/2016 10:23 AM
59	Manmouth dr	11/28/2016 10:21 AM
70	Redwine	11/28/2016 10:19 AM
71	Stonebridge	11/28/2016 10:11 AM
72	Stolen hours in	11/28/2016 10:03 AM
73	Beauregard Ct	11/28/2016 10:00 AM
74	Hickory ave	11/28/2016 9:44 AM
75	Hilisdale dr	11/28/2016 9:43 AM

76	Merrydale dr	11/28/2016 9:41 AM
77	Lindsey Terr	11/26/2016 9:40 AM
8	Gantt Ln	11/26/2016 9:35 AM
9	Kellens court	11/28/2016 9:30 AM
30	Merrydale dr	11/26/2016 9:18 AM
81	Beacon rd	11/26/2016 9:09 AM
32	Gantt Ln	11/26/2016 9:04 AM
33	Gant Ln	11/26/2016 9:03 AM
34	Handover Way	11/26/2016 8:54 AM
35	rosewood dr	11/23/2016 4:27 PM
36	rosewood driv	11/23/2016 4:17 PM
37	Marthas cove	11/23/2016 4:14 PM
38	fawn brook pass	11/23/2016 4:05 PM
39	stayman park	11/23/2016 4:00 PM
90	Wedgewood Dr	11/23/2016 3:57 PM
91	Virgìnia Highlands	11/23/2016 3:54 PM
92	Forrest Ave	11/23/2016 3:51 PM
03	Magmar Ln	11/23/2016 3:46 PM
94	cobblestone blvd	11/23/2016 3:37 FM
95	cobblestone blvd	11/23/2016 3:35 PM
96	Zoic Court	11/23/2016 3:32 PM
97	Raiston Ct	11/23/2016 3:29 PM
98	Kent dr - weatherty	11/23/2016 3:08 PM
99	springdale	11/23/2016 2:53 PM
100	Raiston Ct	11/23/2016 10:38 AM
101	Fiddlers Ridge	11/23/2016 9:23 AM
102	Fiddlens Ridge	11/23/2016 9:21 AM
103	Fiddlers Ridge	11/23/2016 8:59 AM
104	Oxford Lane	11/23/2016 8:45 AM
105	Fiddlers Ridge	11/23/2018 8:41 AM
106	Bernhard Rd	11/22/2016 3:54 PM
107	Knight Way	11/22/2016 3:52 PM
108	Shamrock	11/22/2016 3:49 PM
109	S Jeff Davis Dr	11/22/2016 3:44 PM
110	Knight Way	11/22/2016 3:41 PM
111	Woolsey Ck Tr	11/22/2016 3:39 PM
112	Edgewood Ln	11/22/2016 3:37 PM
113	Sheldon Way	11/22/2016 3:35 PM
114	Sheldon Way	11/22/2016 3:33 PM
115	Newberry St	11/22/2016 3:24 PM
116	Hickory Ave	11/22/2016 3:09 PM

117	54 W	11/22/2016 3:03 PM
118	Magman Lane	11/22/2016 3:03 PM
119	Selwyn Court	11/22/2016 2:38 PM
120	Selwyn Court	11/22/2016 2:36 PM
121	Selwyn Ct	11/22/2016 2:33 PM
122	Redwine Lane	11/22/2016 2:30 PM
123	Fawn Brook Pass	11/22/2016 2:27 PM
124	Inman Rd	11/22/2016 2:25 PM
125	Inman Rd	11/22/2016 2:23 PM
126	Inman Rd	11/22/2016 2:20 PM
127	Wendell Cl	11/22/2016 2:03 PM
28	Nomandy Dr	11/22/2016 1:55 PM
129	Grooms Road	11/22/2016 1:48 PM
130	Nomandy Dr	11/22/2016 1:46 PM
131	Nomandly Dr	11/22/2016 11:55 AM
32	Bamsley Ct	11/22/2016 11:50 AM
133	Bellevue Loop	11/22/2016 11:49 AM
134	Zelkova Dr	11/22/2016 11:28 AM
35	S Jeff Davis	11/22/2016 9:13 AM
136	Rosemont Trace	11/22/2016 9:10 AM
137	Zelkova Dr	11/22/2016 9:08 AM
138	Zelkova	11/22/2016 9:05 AM
139	Hwy 314	11/22/2016 9:01 AM
40	Apple Blossom Lane	11/21/2016 4:48 PM
41	30215	11/21/2016 4:38 PM
42	Lakeland Circle	11/21/2018 4:22 PM
43	Fenwyck Commoms	11/21/2016 4:20 PM
44	Apple Blossom Lane	11/21/2016 4:06 PM
145	Harp Rd	11/21/2018 3:41 PM
146	Virginia Highlands	11/21/2016 3:39 PM
47	Virginia Highlands	11/21/2016 3:37 PM
148	Braemar Rd	11/21/2016 3:27 PM
149	Braemar Rd	11/21/2016 3:21 PM
150	Braemar Rd	11/21/2016 3:17 PM
51	Wedgewood Dr	11/21/2016 2:12 PM
52	West Lanier	11/21/2016 2:07 PM
153	Bay Branch Blvd	11/21/2016 1:59 PM
54	Hunters Walk	11/21/2016 1:47 PM
155	Early Ct	11/21/2016 1:40 PM
156	Early Ct	11/21/2016 1:37 PM
157	Lindsay Terrace	11/21/2016 1:21 PM

158	Highview Trace	11/21/2016 11:46 AM
59	cannon drive -weatherly subdivision	11/21/2016 11:41 AM
60	Sparrows Cove	11/21/2016 11:38 AM
61	Rehobeth Way	11/21/2016 11:35 AM
62	Bay Branch Blvd	11/21/201 5 11:32 AM
63	Bellemeade Ct	11/21/2016 11:22 AM
64	Millwood Ln	11/21/2016 9:30 AM
65	South Jeff Davis Drive	11/20/2016 10:02 AM
66	Gambrel Pt	11/19/2016 8:17 AM
67	Hillsdale Drive	11/17/2016 4:48 PM
68	Hillsdale Drive	11/17/2016 4:44 PM
69	Early Ct	11/17/2016 4:36 PM
70	Bridgestone Cove	11/17/2016 4:32 PM
71	Baywatch Circle	11/17/2016 4:27 PM
72	Hidden Lake Dr	11/17/2016 4:20 PM
73	Forrest Ave	11/17/2016 4:13 PM
74	Forrest Ave (92 N)	11/17/2016 4:06 PM
75	Hidden Lake Dr	11/17/2016 3:56 PM
76	Lindsay Terrace	11/17/2016 3:53 PM
77	Early Ct	11/17/2016 3:28 PM
178	Plikett drive	11/17/2016 3:26 PM
179	Sparrows Cove	11/17/2016 3:18 PM
180	Moming Creek	11/17/2016 3:13 PM
81	Deer Forest Rd - unincorporated	11/17/2016 3:06 PM
82	Brennon Drive	11/17/2016 3:01 PM
83	Bridgestone Cove	11/17/2016 2:54 PM
184	Churchhill Coart	11/17/2016 2:45 PM
85	Creekside Traii	11/17/2016 2:41 PM
166	Jeff Davis Place	11/17/2016 10:43 AM
187	Gladeknoll trail	11/17/2016 8:02 AM
188	Rising Slar Road	11/16/2016 3:27 PM
189	Rabbit Run	11/16/2016 2:41 PM
190	Running Bear	11/18/2016 2:24 PM
191	Addison	11/16/2016 12:27 PM
192	Edgewater	11/16/2016 7:50 AM
193	Grady Avenue	11/15/2016 7:54 PM
194	Sunderland Circle	11/15/2016 4:40 PM
195	Pamela Couri	11/15/2016 1:51 PM
196	Otter Circle	11/15/2016 9:17 AM
197	Bellfair Run	11/15/2016 7:33 AM
198	Mimosa Drive	11/15/2016 4:32 AM

199	Asbury Way	11/14/2016 11:19 PM
200	Windsor Drive	11/14/2016 9:35 PM
201	Hillsdale Dr	11/14/2016 9:25 PM
202	Lakepoint Lane	11/14/2016 9:06 PM
203	Marron Road	11/14/2016 9:00 PM
204	Zelkova	11/14/2016 8:59 PM
205	Bramblebush Chase	11/7/2016 9:59 AM
206	Chesterfield Court	11/7/2016 7:25 AM
207	Sparrows Cove	11/7/2016 6:49 AM
208	Woodgate Drive	11/6/2016 9:58 PM
209	Campaign Trl	11/6/2016 5:20 PM
10	Georgia Avenue	11/6/2016 5:09 PM
211	Brandon Mill Circle	11/5/2016 11:12 PM
212	Ridgecrest Drive	11/5/2016 9:11 PM
213	Brandon Mill	11/4/2016 11:31 AM
214	San Remo Ct	11/4/2016 9:50 AM
215	Lester Rd	11/3/2016 11:10 PM
216	Lakeshore	11/3/2018 9:04 PM
217	Diana Dr	11/3/2016 8:00 PM
218	Mimosa drive	11/3/2016 5:40 PM
219	North Hampton Dr.	11/3/2016 2:57 PM
220	Intown Place	11/3/2016 2:45 PM
221	Meintosh Place Dr.	11/3/2016 2:24 PM
222	Brandon Mill Circle	11/3/2016 1:17 PM
223	Fenwyck Commons	11/2/2016 8:33 PM
224	Brandenburg way	11/2/2016 7:32 PM
225	S Jeff Davis dr	11/2/2016 5:23 PM
226	addison drive	11/2/2016 12:23 PM
227	Woodcrest overlook	11/2/2016 11:46 AM
226	Squire lane	11/2/2016 11:30 AM
229	Lodge Trall	11/2/2016 10:23 AM
230	northwind Trail	11/2/2016 8:19 AM
231	Fletcher Ford Rd	11/2/2016 8:16 AM
232	Mimosa	11/2/2016 7:47 AM
233	Nora drive	11 /2/ 2016 7:28 AM
234	Emerald Lake Drive	11/2/2016 7:12 AM
235	Jelf Davis Place	11/2/2016 6:37 AM
236	Sourwood	11/2/2016 6:23 AM
237	Stonewall	11/2/2016 6:17 AM
238	Stanley Oaks Pl	11/2/2016 4:04 AM
239	Forrest ave	11/1/2016 11:46 PM

.

240	Summit point dr	11/1/2016 11:12 PM
241	Cornwallis way	11/1/2016 8:16 PM
42	Ashland Way	11/1/2016 8:00 PM
43	hood avenue	11/1/2016 6:32 PM
244	Doe Hollow Trace	11/1/2016 5:25 PM
245	antebellum way	11/1/2016 5:04 PM
246	Virginia highlands	11/1/2016 4:17 PM
247	Brookdear In	11/1/2016 4:13 PM
248	Laura Lane	11/1/2016 4:06 PM
249	Creek side Tr	11/1/2016 3:50 PM
250	Rosewood	11/1/2016 3:49 PM
51	Beauregard Blvd	11/1/2016 3:43 PM
252	Hwy 54	11/1/2016 3:38 PM
253	Goza Rd	11/1/2016 3:37 PM
254	Glade Knoll Trail	11/1/2016 3:29 PM
255	Apple Biossom Lane	11/1/2016 3:29 PM
256	County Line Rd	11/1/2016 3:15 PM
257	Bordeaux Drive	11/1/2016 3:14 PM
258	Tanglewood Dr.	11/1/2016 1:10 PM
259	Rosemont Trace	11/1/2016 1:08 PM
2 6 0	Medford dr	11/1/2016 1:04 PM
261	Woodward	11/1/2016 12:43 PM
262	Wakefield	11/1/2016 12:41 PM
263	Nancy Lane	11/1/2016 11:45 AM
264	Argonne Dr.	10/31/2016 7:40 PM
265	Cattall Court	10/31/2016 7:21 PM
:66	Cannon Drive	10/31/2016 7:00 PM
267	South Fairfield Drive	10/31/2016 4:23 PM
268	Forrest ave	10/31/2018 4:15 PM
269	Shenandoah Trace	10/31/2016 3:56 PM
270	Helcomb Ct.	10/31/2016 3:40 PM
2 7 1	Birkdale Drive	10/31/2016 12:29 PM
272	Watercrest Lane	10/31/2016 11:29 AM
273	Hwy 54w	10/31/2016 11:17 AM
274	Goodman Drive	10/31/2016 11:01 AM
275	Sharon Drive	10/31/2016 10:20 AM
276	RED WINE	10/31/2016 9:19 AM
277	Highview Trace	10/31/2016 B:57 AM
278	Beauregard Court	10/31/2016 7:36 AM
279	Chesterfield Ct	10/31/2016 6:52 AM
280	Magmar Lane	10/31/2016 6:39 AM

281	Madeleine Rose Ct	10/31/2016 6:23 AM
282	Old Greenville	10/31/2016 5:59 AM
283	Highview Trace	10/30/2016 11:58 PM
284	Summit Point Drive	10/30/2016 11:31 PM
285	Landing Drive	10/30/2016 10:46 PM
286	Ridgewood Dr	10/30/2016 10:44 PM
287	Lester Road	10/30/2016 12:29 PM
288	Knivht Way	10/30/2016 9:42 AM
289	Creekside Trail	10/29/2016 8:40 PM
290	Grady Ave.	10/29/2016 2:58 PM
291	Virginia highlands	10/29/2016 12:21 PM
292	Knight way	10/29/2016 7:16 AM
293	Mackenzie Lane	10/29/2016 6:40 AM
294	Benjamin circle	10/28/2016 8:25 PM
295	Knight way	10/28/2016 8:00 PM
296	Jeff Davis Drive S	10/28/2016 4:54 PM
297	Hunters Lane	10/28/2016 2:18 PM



Q6 How long have you lived in the City of Fayetteville?

swer Choices	Responses	
Less than five years	29.41%	95
Five to ten years	16.72%	54
10-15 years	15.17%	49
15- 20 уеагь	16.41%	53
20+ years	22.29%	72
tal		323



Q7 If you	live in	Faye	tteville,	where	do you
	work	or go	to scho	ool?	

newer Choices	Responses	
Work from home	15.46%	47
Fayetteville but not at home	26.64%	81
Peachtree City	5.59%	17
Newnan	0.86%	2
Airport Area	8.55%	26
Downtown/Midtown Atlanta	10.53%	32
Buckhead	1.32%	4
North Metro Atlanta	3.29%	10
Other (please specify)	27.96%	85
otal		304

#	Other (please specify)	Date
1	marietta	12/8/2016 4:27 PM

2	Spring Hill	12/5/2016 8:24 AM
3	Jonesboro	12/3/2016 10:48 PM
1	Тугопе	12/3/2016 6:18 PM
i	Retired	11/30/2016 2:07 PM
ì	Riverdale	11/30/2016 10:49 AM
7	White Water High School	11/30/2016 10:38 AM
	Sharpsburg	11/30/2016 10:14 AM
)	White Water High School	11/30/2016 10:05 AM
0	Henry county	11/30/2016 5:58 AM
1	Decatur	11/29/2016 9:36 AM
2	Retired	11/29/2016 9:20 AM
3	griffin	11/29/2016 8:55 AM
14	Fairburn	11/29/2016 8:39 AM
15	fairburn	11/29/2016 8:33 AM
6	Retired	11/28/2016 3:19 PM
7	Retired	11/28/2016 2:45 PM
18	Retired	11/28/2016 11:03 AM
19	Тулопе	11/28/2016 10:08 AM
20	housewife	11/28/2016 9:40 AM
21	Jonesboro	11/28/2016 9:30 AM
22	City of Fayetteville Main Street	11/28/2016 8:54 AM
23	south fulton	11/23/2016 3:54 PM
24	contract work	11/23/2016 3:46 PM
25	college park	11/23/2016 3:35 PM
26	medanaugh	11/23/2016 2:53 PM
27	Jonesboro	11/22/2018 3:41 PM
28	College Park	11/22/2016 3:39 PM
29	pfh	11/22/2016 3:35 PM
30	henry county	11/22/2016 3:33 PM
31	county wide (fayetle)	11/22/2016 3:24 PM
32	Decatur	11/22/2016 2:55 PM
33	griffin	11/22/2016 1:55 PM
34	Retired	11/22/2016 11:50 AM
35	Retired	11/22/2016 11:28 AM
36	Retired	11/22/2016 9:10 AM
37	sw atlania	11/22/2016 9:05 AM
38	Retired	11/21/2016 4:20 PM
39	no longer work in Buckhead	11/21/2016 3:39 PM
40	Griffin	11/21/2016 3:27 PM
41	Retired	11/21/2016 2:12 PM
42	Retired	11/21/2016 1:47 PM
43	Retired - did work at piedmont fayette hospital	11/21/2016 1:37 PM
----	---	---------------------
4	Retired	11/21/2016 11:48 AM
15	Retired	11/21/2016 11:32 AM
46	I don't work. You won't employ me.	11/20/2016 10:02 AM
17	McDonough	11/19/2016 8:17 AM
18	Decatur	11/17/2016 4:48 PM
19	Retired	11/17/2016 4:36 PM
50	Retired	11/17/2016 3:18 PM
i1	Retired	11/17/2016 2:45 PM
52	Fariburn	11/17/2016 12:04 PM
53	Stay at Home Parent	11/15/2016 9:17 AM
14	Union City	11/14/2016 9:25 PM
5	FAIRBURN	11/14/2016 8:59 PM
56	CDC, Chamblee Tucker area	11/6/2016 9:58 PM
57	Retired	11/5/2016 11;12 PM
i8	Forest park	11/3/2016 9:04 PM
9	Jonesboro	11/3/2016 5:40 PM
80	Claylon County Public Schools	11/3/2016 2:24 PM
51	retired	11/2/2016 8:33 PM
62	Sales across all of ga	11/2/2016 7:32 PM
63	Smyrna	11/2/2016 7:27 PM
4	Riverdale	11/2/2016 11:46 AM
65	Retired	11/2/2016 8:19 AM
6	Retired	11/2/2016 7:28 AM
7	Retired	11/2/2016 7:28 AM
18	union city	11/1/2016 11:46 PM
9	Stay at home mom	11/1/2016 10:31 PM
'0	Retired	11/1/2016 5:25 PM
11	Morrow	11/1/2016 4:06 PM
2	Retired	11/1/2016 3:56 PM
'3	Retired	11/1/2016 3:50 PM
'4	Tyrone	11/1/2016 3:37 PM
75	Retired	11/1/2016 3:29 PM
6	Retired	11/1/2016 3:15 PM
7	Unemployed	11/1/2016 1:08 PM
'8	Repairman work all over.	11/1/2016 1:04 PM
'9	I stay at home.	11/1/2016 12:24 FM
0	Тугоне	10/31/2016 3:56 PM
31	I don't work	10/31/2016 11:29 AM
32	Piedmont Fayette Hospital	10/31/2016 11:17 AM
83	Riverdale	10/31/2016 6:39 AM

84	Relired
85	Retired

10/30/2016 11:58 PM 10/30/2016 11:31 PM

Q8 If you live in Fayetteville, how many miles is your commute one way?

Answered: 204 Skipped: 350

#	Responses	Date
1	28	12/8/2016 4:37 PM
2	36	12/8/2016 4:34 PM
3	38	12/8/2016 4:32 PM
4	50	12/8/2016 4:27 PM
5	14	12/7/2016 4:06 PM
6	1	12/7/2016 11:48 AM
7	1	12/5/2016 8:24 AM
6	10 miles	12/3/2016 10:48 PM
9	5 miles	12/3/2016 7:13 PM
10	1.5	12/3/2016 7:05 PM
11	6	12/3/2016 7:04 PM
12	3	12/3/2016 6:59 PM
13	3 -4 miles	12/3/2016 6:46 PM
14	2.1 miles	12/3/2016 6:28 PM
15	3 miles	12/3/2016 6:27 PM
16	6	12/3/2016 6:24 PM
17	17	12/3/2016 6:19 PM
18	40	12/3/2016 6:16 PM
19	5	12/3/2016 6:16 PM
20	test	12/3/2016 6:07 PM
21	32	12/1/2016 10:06 AM
22	25	11/30/2016 2:15 PM
23	10	11/30/2016 1:54 PM
24	26	11/30/2016 1:50 PM
25	4	11/30/2016 1:47 PM
26	5	11/30/2016 11:15 AM
27	5	11/30/2016 10:36 AM
28	33	11/30/2016 10:26 AM
29	1/4	11/30/2016 10:19 AM
30	13	11/30/2016 10:14 AM
31	5	11/30/2016 10:12 AM
32	5	11/30/2016 10:05 AM
33	23	11/29/2016 9:36 AM
34	23	11/29/2016 9:14 AM

35	30	11/29/2016 9:01 AM
6	30	11/29/2016 8:55 AM
7	12	11/29/2016 8:51 AM
8	20	11/29/2016 8:39 AM
39	20	11/29/2016 8:33 AM
0	23	11/28/2016 4:43 PM
1	18	11/28/2016 3:56 PM
2	10	11/28/2016 3:38 PM
3	6	11/28/2016 3:09 PM
4	4	11/28/2016 3:04 PM
5	2	11/28/2016 1:43 PM
6	15	11/28/2016 10:23 AM
7	15	11/28/2016 10:21 AM
8	14	11/28/2016 10:03 AM
9	7	11/26/2016 10:00 AM
0	20	11/28/2016 9:43 AM
1	45	11/28/2016 9:09 AM
52	60	11/28/2016 9:04 AM
i3	60	11/28/2016 9:03 AM
54	2	11/23/2016 4:17 PM
5	8	11/23/2016 4:14 PM
6	22	11/23/2016 4:12 PM
7	35	11/23/2016 4:05 PM
8	19	11/23/2016 4:00 PM
59	15	11/23/2016 3:54 PM
0	15	11/23/2018 3:35 PM
51	25	11/23/2016 3:32 PM
32	30	11/23/2016 2:53 PM
63	40	11/23/2016 10:38 AM
54	35	11/23/2016 8:59 AM
55	3	11/23/2016 8:45 AM
6	5	11/22/2016 3:54 PM
37	2	11/22/2016 3:44 PM
38	12	11/22/2016 3:41 PM
59	15	11/22/2016 3:35 PM
0	15	11/22/2016 3:33 PM
71	13	11/22/2016 3:12 PM
72	28	11/22/2016 2:55 PM
73	25	11/22/2016 2:36 PM
74	35	11/22/2016 2:33 PM
75	32	11/22/2016 2:25 PM

76	5	11/22/2016 2:03 PM
77	30	11/22/2016 1:55 PM
78	3	11/22/2016 11:35 AM
79	4	11/22/2016 9:13 AM
80	30	11/22/2016 9:05 AM
81	35	11/21/2016 3:39 PM
32	35	11/21/2016 3:37 PM
33	30	11/21/2016 3:27 PM
34	30	11/21/2016 3:21 PM
35	30	11/21/2016 3:17 PM
36	1	11/21/2016 2:07 PM
7	18	11/21/2016 11:41 AM
8	20	11/21/2016 9:30 AM
39	I don't commute.	11/20/2016 10:02 AM
90	19	11/19/2018 8:17 AM
-	34	11/17/2016 4:48 PM
2	5	11/17/2016 4:06 PM
33	6	11/17/2016 3:26 PM
14	20	11/17/2016 3:13 PM
95	5-15	11/17/2016 3:06 PM
96	6	11/17/2016 3:01 PM
97	12miles	11/17/2016 12:04 PM
		11/17/2016 10:43 AM
98	3	
9		11/17/2016 8:02 AM
00	7 miles	11/16/2016 3:27 PM
01	3	11/16/2016 2:41 PM
02	4	11/16/2016 2:24 PM
103	8	11/16/2016 12:27 PM
04	2	11/16/2016 7:50 AM
105		11/15/2016 4:32 AM
106	21	11/14/2016 9:35 PM
107	24	11/14/2016 9:25 PM
108	10	11/14/2016 9:06 PM
109	20	11/14/2016 9:00 PM
110	18	11/14/2016 8:59 PM
11	25	11/7/2016 9:59 AM
112	27	11/7/2016 7:25 AM
113	1	11/7/2016 6:49 AM
114	40	11/6/2016 9:58 PM
115	1	11/6/2016 5:20 PM
116	2	11/6/2016 5:09 PM

117	n/a	11/5/2016 11:12 PM
18	30	11/4/2016 11:31 AM
19	18	11/4/2016 9:50 AM
20	33	11/3/2016 11:10 PM
121	10	11/3/2016 9:04 PM
122	8	11/3/2016 5:40 PM
23	5	11/3/2016 2:57 PM
24	3	11/3/2016 2:45 PM
25	7	11/3/2016 2:35 PM
26	5 miles	11/3/2016 2:24 PM
127	5	11/3/2016 1:17 PM
28	na	11/2/2016 8:33 PM
29	Varied. Drive 5000 miles a month	11/2/2016 7:32 PM
130	35	11/2/2016 7:27 PM
131	2	11/2/2016 5:23 PM
32	26	11/2/2016 12:50 PM
133	36	11/2/2016 12:23 PM
134	15	11/2/2016 11:46 AM
135	15	11/2/2016 11:30 AM
136	0	11/2/2016 10:23 AM
137	0	11/2/2016 8:59 AM
138	Na	11/2/2016 8:16 AM
139	45	11/2/2016 7:47 AM
140	Zero	11/2/2016 7:28 AM
141	15	11/2/2016 7:12 AM
142	6 miles	11/2/2016 6:37 AM
143	20	11/2/2016 6:23 AM
144	36	11/2/2016 6:17 AM
145	9	11/2/2016 4:04 AM
146	10	11/1/2016 11:46 PM
147	25 - 30	11/1/2016 11:12 PM
148	2	11/1/2016 10:53 PM
149	N/A	11/1/2016 10:31 PM
150	16 miles	11/1/2016 8:16 PM
151	25	11/1/2016 8:00 PM
152	42	11/1/2016 6:32 PM
153	50	11/1/2016 5:04 PM
154	21	11/1/2016 4:06 PM
155	D	11/1/2016 3:56 PM
156	12	11/1/2016 3:49 PM
157	3.5 miles	11/1/2016 3:43 PM

SurveyMonkey

158	0	11/1/2016 3:38 PM
59	20	11/1/2016 3:37 PM
60	27	11/1/2016 3:32 PM
61	0	11/1/2016 3:29 PM
62	0	11/1/2016 3:15 PM
63	20	11/1/2016 3:14 PM
64	5	11/1/2016 3:11 PM
65	5 miles	11/1/2016 1:10 PM
66	0	11/1/2016 1:08 PM
67	Varies	11/1/2016 1:04 PM
68	40	11/1/2016 12:57 PM
69	21	11/1/2016 12:43 PM
70	D	11/1/2016 12:41 PM
71	1	11/1/2016 12:16 PM
72	1	11/1/2016 11:45 AM
73	5 miles	10/31/2016 7:40 PM
74	45	10/31/2016 7:21 PM
175	10 miles	10/31/2016 4:23 PM
76	Depends	10/31/2016 4:15 PM
77	8	10/31/2016 3:56 PM
78	1/2 mile	10/31/2016 3:40 PM
79	7 miles	10/31/2016 12:29 PM
80	NA	10/31/2016 11:29 AM
81	4-5 miles	10/31/2016 11:17 AM
82	10	10/31/2016 11:01 AM
83	3	10/31/2016 10:20 AM
84	28 miles apprx	10/31/2016 10:16 AM
85	3-4 MILES	10/31/2016 9:19 AM
86	3	10/31/2016 8:57 AM
87	1	10/31/2016 7:36 AM
188	4	10/31/2016 6:52 AM
189	10 miles	10/31/2016 6:39 AM
190	12	10/31/2016 5:59 AM
191	N/A	10/30/2016 11:58 PM
92	5	10/30/2016 10:46 PM
93	30	10/30/2018 10:44 PM
94	4 miles	10/30/2016 12:29 PM
95	2	10/30/2016 9:42 AM
96	3 miles	10/29/2016 8:40 PM
97	17	10/29/2016 12:21 PM
198	5	10/29/2016 7:16 AM

30 / 80

199	7	10/29/2016 6:40 AM
200	1.5	10/28/2016 9:06 PM
201	5 miles	10/28/2016 8:25 PM
202	3	10/28/2016 8:00 PM
203	2	10/28/2016 4:54 PM
204	5 miles	10/28/2016 2:18 PM



Q9 How old are you?

Answer Choices	Responses	
Under 18	6.58%	29
18-22	2.95%	13
23-30	9.52%	42
31-40	14.51%	64
41-50	22.68%	100
51-60	22.45%	99
61-70	15.87%	70
71-80	4.31%	15
80+	1.13%	5
Fotal		441



Q10 What is your work status?	Please
check all that apply.	

nswer Choices	Responses	
Work full time	57.37%	253
Work part time	11.11%	49
Retired	14.29%	63
Semi-retired	3.40%	15
Attend school	7.03%	31
Self employed	7.71%	34
Unemplayed	2.04%	9
Homemaker/ stay at home parent	6.12%	27
nal Respondents: 441		



Answer Choices	Responses	
The same kind of single family homes that we already have in Fayetteville	67.12% 29	
Townhouses	31.74% 13	
Apariment complexes	14.84% 6	
Loft apartments over stores	34.47% 15	
Cotlage homes	29.91% 13	
Tiny houses	12.56% 5	
Aparlments just for seniors	21.23% 9	
Stepless ranch houses	27.85% 12	
Other (please specify)	12.33% 5	
otal Respondents: 438		

#	Other (please specify)	Date	

1	no apartments	12/8/2016 4:36 PM
2	No government housing	12/6/2016 4:54 PM
3	two floored houses	12/5/2016 8:30 AM
1	Homes under 2000 sq fl with superior finishes like \$\$million homes	12/3/2016 6:19 PM
5	Retirement subdivisions,	12/1/2016 10:26 AM
6	condos	11/30/2016 2:06 PM
7	apts over stores	11/30/2016 11:13 AM
3	senior housing	11/30/2016 10:28 AM
Ð	stepless ranch homes only for seniors	11/30/2016 10:25 AM
10	ranch type senior housing	11/30/2016 10:22 AM
11	ranch type senior housing	11/30/2016 10:17 AM
2	condos	11/29/2016 8:42 AM
13	no more	11/29/2016 8:38 AM
14	pet friendly housing	11/28/2016 4:41 PM
15	mixture for all	11/28/2016 3:08 PM
16	block housing	11/28/2016 9:27 AM
17	low income	11/23/2016 3:31 PM
18	less people	11/23/2016 3:16 PM
19	newly married	11/23/2016 8:51 AM
20	apt for special needs adults (not group homes)	11/22/2016 2:59 PM
21	maintained housing communities, e.g., laws	11/21/2016 4:58 PM
22	maintained (lawn,gutters,hoa)	11/21/2016 4:19 PM
23	rv park	11/21/2016 3:51 PM
24	affordable housing no more than \$150,000	11/21/2016 1:58 PM
25	if planned poperly workforce housing is important	11/21/2016 1:54 PM
26	a variety - enough 'lower costs' types to give younger types places to live	11/21/2016 1:36 PM
27	Affordable housing under \$500	11/20/2016 10:14 AM
28	Like Stratford Station, Fenwick, Beauregard Court	11/17/2016 4:12 PM
29	A mix for all ages	11/17/2016 3:04 PM
30	A tiny house community!	11/16/2016 3:32 PM
31	small historic looking houses with lots of architectural detail on small lots.	11/16/2016 2:39 PM
32	small homes on small lots that are not deed restricted to 55+	11/15/2016 4:34 PM
33	Upscale Condominiums	11/15/2016 1:25 PM
34	Single family, large lots.	11/14/2016 10:21 PM
35	Sustainable housing that appeals to Millennials. Not cookie cutter, one size fits all.	11/14/2016 9:48 PM
36	Small houses with high design quality and low equare footage. On small lots! I hate cutting grass!	11/10/2016 4:39 PM
37	Green homes along river	11/5/2016 9:44 PM
38	Nice homes	11/3/2016 8:08 PM
39	Workforce	11/3/2016 5:56 PM
40	The lofts need to be priced for middle class and higher	11/3/2016 3:01 PM
41	Stepless ranch 100% brick communities of 30 - 50 size focused on retirement type community.	11/2/2016 12:59 PM

42	A variety of homes	11/2/2016 9:07 AM
43	Seniors Communities with relail and medical services	11/2/2016 8:34 AM
44	NO APARTMENTS OR TOWNHOUSES PERIODI	11/1/2016 10:58 PM
45	NONE, wait to see what Pinewood does to your city!!	11/1/2016 8:30 PM
46	ranch with carport	11/1/2016 4:01 PM
47	housing that can be afforded by singles/families who make around 30k a year	11/1/2016 3:44 PM
48	Trash	11/1/2016 12:58 PM
49	THE CITY HAS ENOUGH HOUSING, TO MUCH BUILDING	11/1/2016 7:16 AM
50	mixed construction that supports walkable development	11/1/2016 3:51 AM
51	More nice but affordable housing specifically for post college students and young professional families	10/31/2016 12:37 PM
52	One story homes for families looking to downsize or retire to.	10/31/2016 11:47 AM
53	NO APARTMENTS	10/30/2016 10:44 AM
54	Kinds that will not attract section 8, or low budget housing	10/29/2016 9:37 PM



wer Choices	Responses	
Has streets arranged on a grid system with stores, offices, and restaurants in walking distance	58.02%	246
Has lots of cul-de-sacs, is separated from other uses, and is more oriented toward driving	41.98%	178
		424



iswer Choices	Responses	
Historic – like it was built between 1880 and 1920	28.86%	127
A mix of old and new architecture, as long as it is walkable	66.36%	292
Other (please specify)	4.77%	21
otal		440

#	Other (please specify)	Date
1	NOT mini lots with postage stamp lots	12/1/2016 10:26 AM
2	epurpose what is already there	11/23/2016 4:16 PM
3	no more construction - use/remodel the existing empty spaces!	11/22/2016 2:59 PM
4	Historic and mix of old and new	11/22/2016 9:23 AM
5	Historic and mix of old and new	11/22/2016 9:02 AM
6	No new construction unless it's to remodel old buildings. Wildlife needs a natural environment to live. Stop being selfish. Progress should include the preservation of our environment to aid in everyone's survival.	11/20/2016 10:14 AM
7	and as long as there is a sense of cohesiveness	11/17/2016 3:11 PM
8	Fayetteville is one of the few lowns which survived the destruction of the Civil War. That should be honored.	11/17/2016 12:11 PM
9	A mix of styles with attention to details that are important to Mellinials, like sustainability, access to farmers markets, restaurants, etc	11/14/2016 9:48 PM
10	a river, restaurants with patios and side walks, green space, nice children'/ playground park with sprinklers, walking paths like pledmont park area, parking on street or in parking deck.	11/5/2016 9:44 PM
11	Like a European city, with outdoor cafes, boutiques and fine restaurants.	11/3/2016 8:08 PM
12	suburbs	11/3/2016 2:52 PM
13	Historic and walkable	11/2/2016 9:07 AM
14	resolve the traffic gridlock on the square, you are way ahead of yourselves here	11/1/2016 8:30 PM
15	Quality, not cheap or junky	11/1/2016 7:49 PM

16	Put nipples on the walls make furniture out of brass specimens and superfluously sprinkle shallots as far as the eye can see	11/1/2016 12:58 PM
17	DOWNTOWN AREA IS GREAT THE WAY IT IS	11/1/2016 7:16 AM
18	I love the historic look. I think the designs can incorporate old and new but still need to be intentional and timeless. Serence is a great example.	10/31/2016 12:37 PM
19	Buildings should be innovative with the materials used.	10/30/2016 9:46 AM
20	Riverfront, bar hopping	10/29/2016 9:37 PM
21	Something In this decade, maintained and attracts quality individuals instead of criminals	10/29/2015 B:14 AM



swer Choices	Responses	
Community oriented retail	67.99%	291
Restaurants that stay open late	64.02%	274
Start up businesses	39.25%	168
Call centers	5.37%	2:
Data centers	13.08%	5
Colleges/ Higher education	45.09%	193
Other (please specify)	17.06%	7:
tal Respondents: 428		

#	Other (please specify)	Date
1	varlety restaurants	12/7/2016 11:52 AM
2	no more dollar stores and such	12/1/2016 10:26 AM
3	something for teens	11/30/2016 2:06 PM
4	speciality stores	11/30/2016 11:32 AM
5	recreation (indoor)	11/30/2016 11:13 AM
6	enterlainment centers	11/30/2016 10:48 AM
7	cafe style eatery	11/29/2016 9:13 AM

8	nightife/clubs	11/29/2016 9:04 AM
9	clubs (nightlife) 18-older	11/29/2016 9:01 AM
0	bars	11/29/2016 8:46 AM
1	all vendors should be allowed to attend this fair/festival	11/29/2016 8:38 AM
12	performing arts center	11/29/2016 8:28 AM
13	Trader joes; Barnes & Noble to return?	11/28/2016 4:49 PM
14	trade school type education	11/28/2016 4:41 PM
15	vocational / lech school; small town atmosphere	11/28/2016 3:49 PM
6	move theater	11/28/2016 9:55 AM
7	dog friendly	11/26/2016 9:49 AM
8	construction business	11/28/2016 9:27 AM
9	mommy and me music, play areas, pure barrel for kids; orange theory	11/23/2016 4:08 PM
20	high end	11/23/2016 4:00 PM
21	more electric type retail - non-chain restaurants	11/23/2016 3:49 PM
22	small businesses	11/23/2016 3:16 PM
23	more things to do in the county for kids	11/23/2016 8:44 AM
24	small comm bus	11/22/2016 4:04 PM
25	like the current mix	11/22/2016 3:19 PM
26	more outside dining available	11/22/2016 3:02 PM
27	high end stores	11/21/2016 4:37 PM
28	Corporate	11/21/2016 3:55 PM
29	community colleges	11/21/2016 3:36 PM
30	upscale restaurants/not chains	11/21/2016 3:26 PM
31	retail, eg, pottery barn; bue restaurants, not chain restaurants	11/21/2016 1:47 PM
32	bookstore	11/21/2016 11:46 AM
33	start up-shared office space; part production lacilities	11/21/2016 11:20 AM
34	Telework office canters	11/21/2016 10:56 AM
35	Use vacant old buildings. Those things are eye sores.	11/20/2016 10:14 AM
36	youth hangouts	11/17/2016 8:42 PM
37	like Lee Center	11/17/2016 4:12 PM
38	Corporate HQ Offices	11/17/2016 4:02 PM
39	big business	11/17/2016 3:21 PM
40	Restaurants on southside of city	11/17/2016 2:59 PM
41	Pure Barre, Massage Envy, Nordstrom	11/18/2016 2:53 PM
42	more fitness options, an honest to goodness spa	11/16/2016 2:39 PM
13	tattoo shops	11/15/2016 4:34 PM
14	Companies offering higher educated/ salaried positions	11/15/2018 9:25 AM
45	We need technology oriented business, wellness industry, alternative/holistic health	11/14/2016 9:4B PM
46	Boutique shops and none fast food restaurants	11/14/2016 9:07 PM
47	Cool locally owned businesses, no more chains. Live music! BARS.	11/10/2016 4:39 PM

48	Churches like Southside, Businesses that has you learn a new skill like cooking classes, salsa or ballroom dancing or pottery painting, green businesses, antique stores and florists, great restaurants like the ones in serenbe farmhouse, or Murphy's in virginia highlands,	11/5/2016 9:44 PM
49	Higher end business. No more Beall's or thrift shops	11/3/2016 8:08 PM
50	medical facilities	11/3/2016 2:53 PM
51	Hope Ga. Military College will plan to expand in the future	11/3/2016 2:50 PM
52	Maybe Convert some of the old Houses Downlown to music and arts centered living spaces for artists.	11/2/2016 10:56 AM
53	Some unique restaurants with diffrent types of foods.	11/2/2016 9:03 AM
54	Rec for children	11/2/2016 8:34 AM
55	Artists of all types	11/2/2016 6:29 AM
56	Draft house would be nice! Offering music and movies.	11/1/2016 5:41 PM
67	offices that will hire professional, white-color jobs	11/1/2016 3:44 PM
58	Restaurants not bars, not open late.	11/1/2016 3:37 PM
59	A wider variety of restaurants	11/1/2016 3:23 PM
60	None	11/1/2016 1:13 PM
61	More garbage collection ad agencies	11/1/2016 12:58 PM
62	ITS ENOUGH BUSINESSES IN FAYETTEVILLE	11/1/2016 7:16 AM
63	Enterbainment	11/1/2016 4:53 AM
64	1	10/31/2016 7:49 PM
65	upscale restaurants with good food	10/31/2016 3:56 PM
66	We need something like a community center or YMCA that offers swim lessons, gymnastics, workout facilities with babyeitting.	10/31/2016 11:47 AM
67	open opportunities for night life businesses, restaurants, bars, etc. staying within the standards of Fayetteville.	10/31/2016 8:14 AM
68	NO NEW BUSINESSES	10/30/2016 10:44 AM
69	Recreation	10/29/2016 3:05 PM
70	High end and well known businesses. Not these no name fly by night low end businesses we have	10/29/2016 8:14 AM
71	Reslaurants that don't stay open late	10/29/2016 7:25 AM
72	Bara	10/28/2016 5:28 PM
73	Permanent Food Truck Court with outdoor seating- pet friendly	10/28/2016 2:57 PM

Q15 How can Fayetteville stand out more as a special place that is different from other nearby communities? Please check all that apply.



iswer Choices	Responses
Gateway signs to let people know they're in the City	28.64% 122
Special sidewalks/crosswalks, streetlights, and other streetscape improvements	66.43% 283
Add businesses to Downtown	50.47% 21
Add stores with offices or apartments above to Downtown	36.38% 155
Build a big park Downtown	45.31% 193
Other (please specify)	23.24% 9
tal Respondents: 426	

#	Other (please specify)	Date
1	civic and multi-use center	12/7/2016 4:09 PM
2	Community centers with public pools	12/6/2016 4:54 PM
3	restaurants that are really cheap so people can afford them; homeless shelters every mile; not kill animals when they are at the pound or other places; more trees!	12/5/2016 8:30 AM
4	Also food trucks,	12/3/2016 8:22 PM
5	parks, work on areas that would bring more Pinewood activities this way, there is a market there	12/1/2016 10:26 AM

6	maximize downtown places like ptc, tyrone, etc. downtown has "no soul", downtown square area invites the sense of community.	11/30/2016 3:32 PM
7	more shopping places and an indoor place to play indoors if the weather prohibit the use of outside recreation	11/30/2016 11:13 AM
8	entertainmet centers for teenagers	11/30/2016 10:48 AM
9	musical festivals	11/29/2016 9:13 AM
10	remain an upscale town	11/29/2016 9:04 AM
11	build up night life to attract youngr people; get more hang out food places (sonic, etc) to bring more young adults	11/29/2016 9:01 AM
12	fill all the vacant buildings first then build	11/29/2016 8:42 AM
13	bike path; extend bolf paths to neighborhoods outside city limits	11/26/2016 4:41 PM
14	venues for perforers, special events	11/26/2016 3:53 PM
15	dog park, more child friendly	11/26/2016 3:08 PM
16	further inhancement of patriot park	11/26/2016 3:04 PM
17	fenced in dog park	11/28/2016 11:06 AM
18	have special events	11/28/2016 10:13 AM
19	dogs sport park	11/26/2016 9:49 AM
20	dog park	11/28/2016 9:39 AM
21	mímic marietta's square	11/28/2016 9:08 AM
22	put a carousel in town; bagel store	11/23/2016 4:25 PM
23	more green space	11/23/2016 4:00 PM
24	move out the thugs	11/23/2016 3:56 PM
25	more parks - dog parks	11/23/2016 3:53 PM
26	more special community events	11/23/2016 3:49 PM
27	parking for downtown area	11/23/2016 3:24 PM
28	less growth less people is better	11/23/2016 3:16 PM
29	performing arts, art museums, college/university;bike paths & education w/citiens & police o bike; laws & bike safety	11/23/2016 12:01 PM
30	fine arts center; cyclying - 2 way rds too small	11/23/2016 8:51 AM
31	golf cart trails, particularly on bernhard	11/22/2016 3:57 PM
32	keep the current istorical modern; old meets new ways; it's the greatest thing we love about Fayetteville	11/22/2016 3:19 PM
33	get rid of the ugly useless lady on the corner of the mural on lanier & 85, paint over her with something that 'fits' the rest of the scene.	11/22/2016 2:59 PM
34	keep the town w/a historic feel	11/22/2016 2:26 PM
35	always have an event each saturday and have students from nearby schools help community.	11/22/2016 11:59 AM
36	dog park	11/22/2016 11:35 AM
37	we need a commutiy arts center	11/22/2016 9:12 AM
38	has a 'city feel' & potential for a lively walk path town area, appears to b moving in that direction, hoo-rey	11/21/2016 4:58 PM
39	multi use bike paths	11/21/2016 4:01 PM
40	Corporate businesses	11/21/2016 3:55 PM
41	develop & maintain a fully integrated transportation grid for walking, biking electric (cars,carts) with station for exercise, water, rest, wifi, recharging for batteries, cell phone, caris, etc.	11/21/2016 3:51 PM
42	more eating places, more mightliffe, more activities	11/21/2016 3:36 PM
43	bike/golf cart paths	11/21/2016 2:02 PM
44	live-work-play-housing	11/21/2016 1:54 PM

15	mix of historic & modern to reflect diversity; odel after astervile, nc.	11/21/2016 1:47 PM
46	walkable area feeding into square; development that connects square all the way to the hospital/pinewood	11/21/2016 1:36 PM
7	more activity for preteens/leens beside church & sports	11/21/2016 11:31 AM
18	parks with purpose	11/21/2016 11:20 AM
19	Dr Sam's botanical garden	11/21/2016 10:56 AM
60	We really need sidewalks everywhere. This should be a town much like Decatur. They promote healthy lifestyles so pedestrians can walk, ride bikes, and run just about everywhere.	11/20/2016 10:14 AM
51	Make it unique	11/19/2016 8:23 AM
52	more bike & walk friendly, cart paths, foot paths	11/17/2016 4:54 PM
53	Develop the south side commerce park for jobs	11/17/2016 4:02 PM
54	riverwalk system	11/17/2016 3:21 PM
5	maka it (or keep it, where applicable) accessible to pedestrians and bicycles	11/17/2016 3:12 PM
6	waler canal	11/17/2016 10:47 AM
57	Must build a parking deck	11/17/2016 8:13 AM
58	How about a city sponsored business incubator? "Fayetleville grows businesses"	11/16/2016 2:53 PM
59	buy and tear down crappy buildings downtown, build a new downtown like Suwannee did	11/16/2016 2:39 PM
30	More walk ability more businesses to gather. Is coffee shops!	11/16/2016 12:30 PM
61	Green space!!!! Every city has a nice one	11/15/2016 8:02 PM
62	get rid of all the nasty old strip mails	11/15/2016 4:34 PM
63	Add character, currently it comes across as a crossroad to get to somewhere else.	11/15/2016 1:25 PM
64	Create a feeling of "community" in the downtown area that draws people there 24/7.	11/14/2016 9:48 PM
65	Enhance downlown area	11/14/2016 9:07 PM
66	No more fugly McMansions. Builders here need a crash course in architecture.	11/10/2016 4:39 PM
67	Events/Performing Arts Facility - place to gather	11/9/2016 5:03 PM
68	Reduce Crime	11/7/2016 7:38 AM
69	more public art, more cool/different gathering places, more parks, more (unusual) events, fewer chain stores/restaurants and more local merchants	11/6/2016 5:15 PM
70	Water connects people. Do you think that will help Fayetteville Stand out? River and restaurents and nice stores. Painting pottery, florist, nice clothing stores, tourist store with geogia items and cute things to buy, Fayetteville merchandise, river river river park sprinklers in the summer, fireworks fourth of july, etc,.	11/5/2016 9:44 PM
71	Golf cart paths	11/3/2016 8:08 PM
72	dog park	11/3/2016 2:52 PM
73	an art gallery, a place for art classes (like Spruill in Sandy Springs)	11/3/2016 2:50 PM
74	water canal	11/3/2016 1:19 PM
75	More events	11/2/2016 7:40 PM
76	Add a golf cart trail	11/2/2016 7:33 PM
77	Don not bring in more retail stores the police cant handle what they have now!!!!	11/2/2016 11:38 AM
78	DOG PARKII	11/2/2016 10:56 AM
79	Special sidewalks, streelights and becoming a walkable and bike friendly community.	11/2/2016 10:41 AM
80	Keep it clean and crime free . Walkable streets and friendly people.	11/2/2016 9:07 AM
81	Computer & electronic training center	11/2/2016 8:34 AM
82	Logo	11/2/2016 6:29 AM

83	Do NOT overpopulate the area with apartments, townhouses, or more big box retailers	11/1/2016 10:58 PM
84	We desperately need a nice big park with a walking trail for families. We lack in this area and my family and I have to commute outside the city to find nice play areas. In a sense, we are putting money in other city's pockets by driving families out.	11/1/2016 3:23 PM
85	Needs more fiber	11/1/2016 12:58 PM
36	We're already different bc of pinewood studios. The cuty needs to play up its existence and the surrounding area.	11/1/2016 12:50 PM
37	Family friendly safe environment	11/1/2016 12:46 PM
38	IT STANDS OUT ALREADY	11/1/2016 7:16 AM
39	Becoming recognized as a walkable and bike-friendly community	11/1/2016 3:51 AM
90	None of the above	10/31/2016 11:37 AM
€1	It already does.	10/31/2016 7:35 AM
2	NO NEW BUSINESSES NO APARTMENTS	10/30/2016 10:44 AM
3	A water feature would be nice	10/29/2016 8:50 PM
14	Unique park features I.e. water features	10/29/2016 3:05 PM
5	Clean up the city look overall. Remove the strip mails that have been her since the 70's and are run down. Supply a cleaner sharper look and atmosphere instead of a run down low end appearance	10/29/2016 8:14 AM
96	Patrol presence at known criminal entry and exit routes (main roads).	10/29/2016 7:05 AM
97	Bars	10/28/2016 5:28 PM
8	Unique events that draw larger crowds to the area to harbor excitement about Fayetteville	10/28/2016 5:13 PM
99	allow after hour spots	10/28/2016 2:27 PM

Q16 A recent study found that only 20% of high school students plan to live in Fayetteville after college. What changes should the City make to retain and attract young adults? Please check all that apply.



wer Choices	Responses	
More places lo go at night	63.48%	268
More festivals/events	53.70%	225
More outdoor recreational opportunities	61.10%	256
Build a Performing Arts Center	35.32%	148
Opportunities for continuing education	43.20%	181
More things to walk to/a more walkable community	60.14%	252
Other (please specify)	21.24%	89
Il Respondents: 419		

#	Other (please specify)	Date
1	jobs to support our young people	12/8/2016 4:42 PM
2	jobs	12/8/2016 4:33 PM
3	jab openings	12/8/2016 4:31 PM
4	recreation center	12/7/2016 4:09 PM
5	oportunity for growth	12/7/2016 11:52 AM

6	Pools	12/6/2016 4:54 PM
,	A variety of restaurants that stay open late. More places for teens to go and have fun i.e. Skyzone, Slingshot Entertainment, Arcades, A place for teens to study;	12/3/2016 8:22 PM
3	Affordable spaces.	12/3/2016 6:32 PM
9	More jobs	12/3/2016 6:19 PM
10	industry, high employment offices,	12/1/2016 10:26 AM
11	25 yr old son has no desire to come back "boring"	11/30/2016 3:32 PM
12	recreation center	11/30/2016 2:15 PM
13	more friendly atmosphere for young singles	11/30/2016 11:32 AM
14	more recreational places	11/30/2016 11:27 AM
15	indoor recreation	11/30/2016 11:13 AM
16	schools - quality isn't great	11/30/2016 10:28 AM
17	youg people will come back when they are ready to buy a home and start a family	11/30/2016 10:22 AM
18	youg people will come back when they are ready to settle & raise a family	11/30/2016 10:17 AM
19	jobs	11/29/2016 9:19 AM
20	more unique and different eating places	11/29/2016 9:01 AM
21	fayetie county is bet designed for families	11/28/2016 3:49 PM
22	public swimming pool	11/28/2016 9:17 AM
23	more high paying jobs	11/23/2016 4:00 PM
24	things to do other than shop/eat	11/23/2016 8:51 AM
25	better emploment oppor	11/22/2016 4:04 PM
26	jadoj	11/22/2016 3:57 PM
27	revitalize the older (run down) parts of fville to make them more appealing	11/22/2016 3:19 PM
28	youth oriented indoor sports facility; multi-purpose	11/21/2016 4:58 PM
29	mora indoor facilities for youth-families	11/21/2016 4:19 PM
30	well pacing jobs with a future	11/21/2016 2:18 PM
31	jobs	11/21/2016 2:08 PM
32	bike path/fitness centers	11/21/2016 2:02 PM
33	jobs that pay well	11/21/2016 1:54 PM
34	restaurants	11/21/2016 1:39 PM
35	green space/parks-the ridge is a great start	11/21/2016 1:36 PM
36	jobs	11/21/2016 11:20 AM
37	Affordable Housing and jobs	11/21/2016 10:56 AM
38	Sidewalks, free events including yoga, music festivals (not bluegrass, Christian, or country)	11/20/2016 10:14 AM
39	Places to work	11/17/2016 4:43 PM
40	Tech school	11/17/2016 4:12 PM
41	Jobs other than retail / career jobs	11/17/2016 4:02 PM
42	Affordable Housing	11/17/2016 3:33 PM
43	Better advertisement of what already exists. We have a lot!	11/17/2016 3:11 PM
44	Opportunities for work	11/17/2016 2:53 PM

15	recruit businesses so that these college educated adults have someplace to work. Don't y'all realize that millenials will not tolerate long commutes the way that previous generations did?	11/16/2016 2:53 PM
46	young adults are generally single, so all the things that single people want	11/16/2016 2:39 PM
47	Be more welcoming to single people. People don't automatically get married and have kids right after collegel	11/15/2016 4:34 PM
18	Stop trying to attract young singles. We are a sleepy suburb. That's why people have always moved here. There's no interstate, quick access to ATL, large bars or clubs to attract those people - and that's a good thing. You move to Fayetteville to "settle down and raise a family."	11/15/2016 9:25 AM
49	Nothing. Fayetteville should remain a charming mid-aized bedroom community to Atlanta. You might as well ask Atlanta how THEY should change to attract people that like quiet, safe, albeit dull neighborhoods! You	11/14/2016 10:21 PM
50	Walking is good only if you have something special to walk to day & night. If you build apartments and only grocery and cheap retails to walk to, then no one will want to live there	11/14/2016 9:48 PM
51	More stores, restaurants, etc. Similar to North side of town.	11/14/2016 9:07 PM
52	Small business incubator	11/14/2016 9:06 PM
53	The biggest reason millennials aren't moving back is because most job opportunities in Fayette County are retail or service industry. More people would move here if they could also work here, particularly if they have higher education	11/14/2016 9:04 PM
54	Bars, pubs, coffeehouses, art stores, book stores, tatioo shops, business incubator program, no more chain anything. How many fast food places could one town possibly need?!	11/10/2016 4:39 PM
55	A river. Boating. Boat rides. Nice places to walk make, the city beautiful. Patios to eat.	11/5/2016 9:44 PM
56	Jobs	11/3/2016 8:08 PM
57	Afford to live here	11/3/2016 5:56 PM
58	Bring current (relavant) acts to exsisting venues to attract a younger audience	11/3/2016 3:52 PM
59	Realize importance of 'young adults', but I would not build a community around their wants/desires.	11/3/2016 2:50 PM
60	More events like concerts and rec center	11/2/2016 7:40 PM
61	Bring in industry are you stupid there are no jobs	11/2/2016 11:38 AM
62	Bike paths and walking paths for all to make movement easier.	11/2/2016 10:41 AM
63	Look at Symma and see what it's doing	11/2/2018 9:07 AM
64	Most are leaving because of the lack of aftordable housing in the area. I work full time for the BOE and can't afford rent on a one bed room appartment in the areat	11/2/2016 9:03 AM
65	Shuddles or other public transportation	11/2/2016 8:34 AM
66	Mentoring programs and facilities for business and artists	11/2/2016 6:29 AM
67	It looks like Riverdale now it needs to go back to the 1980's when it was a nice suburban area. I don't even enjoy living here now.	11/1/2016 10:58 PM
68	They aren't coming back until they settle down and start a family. Just make Fayetteville less of a traffic bottleneck.	11/1/2016 7:49 PM
69	River district, or waterside restaurants and sheps. Dog park, or dog friendly trails.	11/1/2016 5:41 PM
70	Allemative means of transportation	11/1/2016 5:12 PM
71	Jobs in the city (and housing to support entry level / lower income earners)	11/1/2016 3:44 PM
72	More jobs, and this has always been the case even when I was in high school.	11/1/2016 3:37 PM
73	None	11/1/2016 1:13 PM
74	Don't be such fogies	11/1/2016 12:58 PM
75	Affordable housing for young adults	11/1/2016 12:50 PM
76	Festivals & events need to be more oriented to modern tastes and not the same old, same old things.	11/1/2016 11:04 AM
77	NO CHANGES THEY COME BACK TO A SAFE PLACE	11/1/2016 7:16 AM
78	Designate bicycle lanes and routes for commuters	11/1/2016 3:51 AM

79	Our college students plan to move to Fayetteville when they start families. (I have 2 college students.) We need to cater to the families who already live in Fayetteville and want to stay.	10/31/2016 11:47 AM
80	Affordable housing	10/31/2016 11:37 AM
81	change of vision and objectives, make of Fayetteville the next peach tree city and even better.	10/31/2016 8:14 AM
82	Maintain the family friendly atmosphere	10/31/2016 7:35 AM
83	Affordable housing maybe? I am not sure.	10/31/2016 1:22 AM
84	Bring in more jobs. Not places like dollar stores or more restaurants, big business that can employ hundreds of people.	10/30/2016 11:01 PM
85	A good path system for carts, bikes and walking	10/29/2016 8:50 PM
86	Improve schools.	10/29/2016 3:05 PM
87	There is no up to date business, retail or eating establishments. Most of your buildings are vacant and run down. You have almost no well known eating establishments or entertainment. The amphtheater only selects bands that are from the 60's where most band members are dead. Nothing is being done to raise any kind of level to step out of the 60's or 70's to the present era.	10/29/2016 8:14 AM
88	Stop trying to attract young adults. Most of them are lazy, entitled, liberels	10/28/2016 9:12 PM
89	Clubs	10/28/2016 5:28 PM

Q17 Where should the City's road network be improved? What specific improvements are needed?

Answered: 190 Skipped: 364

Answer C	Choices	Responses	
First	Priority Location and Improvement	100.00%	19
Seco	ond Priority Location and Improvement	48.95%	9
Third	d Priority Location and Improvement	23.16%	4
#	First Priority Location and Improvement	Date	
1	east-west - major roads going thru county w/less traffic lights	12/8/2016 4:42 P	M
2	pavillion - fix the potholes	12/8/2016 4:31 P	M
3	hwy 54 east side - roadway and businesses	12/7/2016 4:09 P	M
4	85 south wider	12/8/2016 4:54 P	M
5	jimmie mayfield - better road	12/5/2016 8:30 A	
6	Hwy 85	12/3/2016 10:51	PM
7	Downtown Fayetteville more businesses, restaurants and refacing	12/3/2016 8:22 P	м
8	Space as in lanes.	12/3/2016 6:32 P	м
9	Red wine road	12/3/2016 6:31 F	M
10	N/A	12/3/2016 6:18 F	M
11	85 south to the end of the county or Bredford?(south of the highschool)	12/1/2016 10:26	AM
12	ga hwy 85 f of sq - 4 lanes to WHS	11/30/2016 3:32	PM
13	hwy 54 - trolley (limited)	11/30/2016 2:06	PM
14	fayette bypass - completion	11/30/2016 1:52	PM
15	dawntown - fix the potholes	11/30/2016 1:49	PM
16	hwy 85 & 54 - do away with parallel roads	11/30/2016 10:3-	4 AM
17	54/weatherly dr - need traffic light	11/30/2016 10:1	7 AM
18	hwy 85 & 54 -lights w/better flow	11/29/2016 9:29	AM
19	downlown - no 1 way streets	11/29/2016 9:26	AM
20	downtown - businesses	11/29/2016 9:21	AM
21	city wide - golf cart accessable	11/29/2016 9:13	AM
22	hwy 85 & 54 - too much congestion	11/29/2016 9:04	AM
23	the square - too much traffic/not enough parking	11/29/2016 9:01	AM
24	hwy 85 & 54 - too much congestion	11/29/2016 8:54	AM
25	center of Fayette 54/8 - too much congestion	11/29/2016 8:49	AM
26	no round abouts	11/29/2016 8:38	AM
27	ga hwy 85 & 54 - less wait time - better flow	11/28/2016 4:29	PM
28	hwy 85 - seems to be in progress	11/28/2016 3:49	PM
29	everywhere - need paving	11/28/2016 3:37	PM

30	54/85 - better flow	11/28/2016 3:28 PM
31	no round abouts	11/28/2016 3:16 PM
32	stonewall/gynn st - longer crossing period for old/young	11/28/2016 3:08 PM
33	hwy 54 - pave	11/28/2016 3:04 PM
34	hwy 54 - pave	11/28/2016 2:35 PM
35	jeff davis/54 - intersection	11/28/2016 1:42 PM
36	hwy 8 - widen on the south end	11/28/2016 11:44 AM
37	sandy creek rd - how will they deal w/Pinewood traffic?	11/28/2016 11:25 AM
38	rte 54/74 - loo much traffic	11/28/2016 11:06 AM
39	sidewalks	11/28/2016 10:19 AM
40	bypass - finish complete	11/28/2016 10:06 AM
11	downtown - pedestrian traffic lights shoul last longer to cross street	11/28/2016 9:49 AM
42	92 n, white rd area - add additional lanes	11/28/2016 9:39 AM
43	hwy 92 - underground power lines/double lanes	11/28/2016 9:27 AM
44	92n from 85 - add lighting on one side of road	11/28/2016 9:17 AM
45	dpwm tpwm 85 - ad more turn arount points	11/28/2016 9:08 AM
46	hwy 85 & 54	11/23/2016 4:29 PM
47	stonewall & hwy 85 - loo congested, open wider	11/23/2016 4:25 PM
48	roads	11/23/2016 4:12 PM
49	downtown	11/23/2016 4:08 PM
50	downtown less traffic - slower	11/23/2016 4:04 PM
51	road by dunkin donuts & pavioion	11/23/2016 3:12 PM
52	54/85 junction - adjust timing of lights to prevent blocking intersection	11/23/2016 12:01 PM
53	Hwy 85- wilden	11/23/2016 8:51 AM
54	Bernhard rd golf cart trails	11/22/2016 3:57 PM
55	S Jeff & Helen Sams - lots of wrecks	11/22/2016 3:48 PM
56	anhoch/seary/harp - traffic flow off anhoch/seary/harp	11/22/2016 3:28 PM
57	kenwood road - more sidewalks	11/22/2016 3:08 PM
58	downtown - more walkable	11/22/2016 2:29 PM
59	through town - ensure no potholes	11/22/2016 2:01 PM
80	Intersection of Goza & Old Greenville - have seen several accidents here	11/22/2016 1:51 PM
61	tiger rd - make traffic slowdown	11/22/2016 11:59 AM
62	54 E / 54 W - add 3rd lane to ease congestion @ rie 85	11/22/2016 11:40 AM
53	rte 85 - remove lane reduction near Fayette Vet Hospital	11/22/2016 11:31 AM
64	the square - make another road to go around like the 285 of Fayetteville	11/22/2016 9:23 AM
S5	85 - western by pass completion	11/21/2016 4:41 PM
56	92 south - more lights needed	11/21/2016 4:37 PM
67	town square - eliminate 1-way street to prevent left turn back ups	11/21/2016 4:19 PM
58	all - sycronized treffic signals	11/21/2016 4:01 PM
59	downtown -more parking, better flow of traffic	11/21/2016 3:36 PM
70	downtown - too much congestion/improved traffic flow	11/21/2016 3:26 PM

71	downtown square - traffic is the biggest problem	11/21/2016 3:19 PM
72	hood ave - connect to sandy creek	11/21/2016 2:18 PM
13	jimmle mayfield/sjd - Improve intersection	11/21/2016 2:08 PM
4	downtown square - better traffic flow	11/21/2016 1:58 PM
75	turn light @ grady & ga 85	11/21/2016 1:39 PM
76	streets around the courthouse square	11/21/2016 1:36 PM
77	state road 85 - Increas lans near grady	11/21/2016 11:49 AM
78	hw 54 east to weatherly park - extend sidewalk through to downtown	11/21/2016 11:46 AM
79	harp Improvements	11/21/2016 11:31 AM
30	east side - parkway to move traffic around city	11/21/2016 10:56 AM
81	With all these roundabouts, typical Americans don't know how to use them. If you want to construct them, educate people how to use them. We come close to accidents way too many times.	11/20/2016 10:14 AM
32	more walkable downtown	11/17/2016 8:42 PM
83	Around courthouse - revisit 1 way 54 & traffic lights	11/17/2016 4:43 PM
34	By pass - finish from Pinewood to interstate	11/17/2016 4:12 PM
85	Hwy 85 by Kroger - widen road all the way to high school	11/17/2016 4:02 PM
86	Intersection of 85 & 54 - get traffic away from here	11/17/2016 3:41 PM
87	bike lanes wherever possible; several pleces like on 54 there are bike lanes that start and end randomly, please expand bicycle lanes throughout fayeteville	11/17/2016 3:12 PM
88	54 & 74 - One huge round about or overpass (possible?)	11/17/2016 3:11 PM
89	54 - Resurface	11/17/2016 3:04 PM
90	Lafayette Ave & Hwy 85- turning at intersection safe for school	11/17/2016 2:59 PM
91	Around the square - get traffic thru square	11/17/2016 2:53 PM
92	Reducing congestion of pass through traffic in downtown area.	11/17/2016 12:11 PM
93	Get rid of one way pair downlown, move cars thru slower, stop and visit for awhile, close Stonewall Avenue for events	11/16/2016 2:53 PM
94	GA 85 is wider than needed and should be narrowed to create much wider sidewalks/ landscaped medians/ reduce runoff	11/16/2016 2:39 PM
95	Goza and Antioch	11/16/2016 12:30 PM
96	54 and 85	11/16/2016 7:53 AM
97	All the neighborhoods should connect. Cui de sacs suck.	11/15/2016 4:34 PM
96	Hwy 65 and Hwy 54 is a constant trafile jam. Bypass needs to be done correctly.	11/15/2016 1:25 PM
99	Eliminate forced traffic through the square area.	11/15/2016 9:25 AM
100	54 and 85 bottleneck	11/14/2016 10:21 PM
101	The Square	11/14/2016 9:48 PM
102	Lee Street and Bradley Drive needs to be connected	11/14/2016 9:43 PM
103	Sidewalks down hwy 92	11/14/2016 9:41 PM
104	downtown area is massively congested and impedes traffice easl/west and north/south	11/14/2016 9:11 PM
105	Better flow of traffic through downtown	11/14/2016 9:07 PM
106	Increases bike lanes and multi use sidewalks	11/14/2018 9:08 PM
107	There needs to be an expressway to Atlanta. Hwy 85 is always slow, crowded, and packed with red lights. People would be more willing to live here but work in Atlanta if they could get the work easily.	11/14/2016 9:04 PM

109	I believe this is based on what you do with community place to gather	11/9/2016 5:03 PM
10	Highway 54	11/7/2016 7:38 AM
111	?	11/6/2016 10:01 PM
112	get rld of one way streets, have more of a grld network	11/6/2016 5:23 PM
113	create a grid street network, conduct a study to find the best way	11/6/2016 5:15 PM
114	Right in downtown. Make it less busy, more restaurants, parking deck, less busy as far as truck that drive through the city.	11/5/2016 9:44 PM
115	Eliminate all traffic circles	11/4/2016 11:49 AM
116	South Jeff Davis and Helen Sam'sroundabout, buy an easement on the vacant corner property	11/3/2016 8:08 PM
117	Down town in the Square	11/3/2016 3:03 PM
118	never should have done round abouts on 92 and red lights on Jeff Davis	11/3/2016 2:52 PM
19	around Courthouse	11/3/2016 2:50 PM
120	Light at Jeff Davis & st that goes in front of Post Office	11/2/2016 9:03 PM
21	Cart paths	11/2/2016 7:40 PM
22	Hwy 54 street lights	11/2/2016 7:33 PM
23	Courthouse area	11/2/2016 12:59 PM
124	More restrarants on the southside of the city	11/2/2016 12:27 PM
25	Downtown 54 east and west	11/2/2016 11:38 AM
26	Downtown. Do something to deal with traffic around the square.	11/2/2016 10:56 AM
27	Addition of designated bicycle lanes and roules that would connect Fayetteville to Peachtree City.	11/2/2016 10:41 AM
28	Jeff Davis Rd	11/2/2016 9:08 AM
129	Finish started projects	11/2/2016 9:07 AM
130	The roads right around down town and fayette county high	11/2/2016 9:03 AM
131	Traffic light at Brogdon and New Hope roads	11/2/2016 8:34 AM
132	Highway 54 East bound (smoothed)	11/2/2016 8:34 AM
133	Traffic control	11/2/2016 7:35 AM
134	Ga 85 from how 92south to the Pavillion	11/2/2016 7:30 AM
135	54 & 85	11/2/2016 7:16 AM
136	filling in pot holes	11/2/2016 6:42 AM
137	Gingercake as a bypass kind of road.	11/2/2016 6:29 AM
136	improve timing of red lights to change quicker when cross traffic is lower or non - existent along GA 85 and 314.	11/2/2016 12:09 AM
139	The square.	11/1/2016 11:12 PM
140	Hwy 54 and Hwy 74 intersection near PTC	11/1/2016 10:58 PM
141	downlown square-get rid of one way, widen road	11/1/2016 8:30 PM
42	Alternatives to having to get through the courthouse square	11/1/2016 7:49 PM
143	there needs to be a bypass for through traffic but that's more of a county project	11/1/2016 6:41 PM
144	Courthouse square	11/1/2016 5:41 PM
145	downtown square split	11/1/2016 5:12 PM
146	85 south just before kroger	11/1/2016 4:23 PM
147	2nd left turn lane at Grady/54W	11/1/2016 4:01 PM
148	Re-paving Road between Burch Rd and Brandywine	11/1/2016 3:57 PM

149	54 & Sharon/Adding and widening roads for 800+ new residents across from CFA Luau	11/1/2016 3:43 PM
150	The intersection of Highway 54 and SR 85	11/1/2016 3:23 PM
151	Cart paths	11/1/2016 3:18 PM
52	Lake down overused yield signs (all over city)	11/1/2016 1:19 PM
153	uptown	11/1/2018 12:58 PM
154	85/54 better traffic patterns	11/1/2016 11:51 AM
155	traffic flow through Fayetteville (54 & 85)	11/1/2018 11:04 AM
156	Towards Pinewood Forrest plan for traffic	11/1/2016 11:01 AM
157	Designate bicycle tanes and routes for commuters	11/1/2016 3:51 AM
58	Around the square	10/31/2016 9:23 PM
159	Block off downtown.	10/31/2016 8:47 PM
60	Downtown area - more exciting venues	10/31/2016 7:49 PM
161	85 and 54	10/31/2016 4:19 PM
162	Grady and 54	10/31/2016 12:37 PM
163	Do not add roundabouls anywhere. Drivers do not know how to safely use them. Traffic lights instead.	10/31/2016 11:47 AM
164	Hwy 54 repaved	10/31/2016 11:37 AM
165	Down Town / Traffic Bypass	10/31/2016 10:26 AM
166	Bypass around Fayetteville - hopes of eliminating downtown congestion	10/31/2016 10:02 AM
167	AROUND THE FAYETTE PAVILION	10/31/2016 9:28 AM
168	Downtown highways and intersections	10/31/2016 9:05 AM
169	downlown/the square - traffic lights timing/access improvement, traffic light on glynn st north bound to turn into 54 west is a mess.	10/31/2016 B:14 AM
170	GA hwy 85 congestion	10/31/2016 7:27 AM
171	85 and 314	10/31/2016 6:56 AM
172	54 Eat and West	10/31/2016 6:03 AM
173	get some traffic off of hwy 85	10/31/2016 4:57 AM
174	Highway 54 and 92 intersection	10/31/2016 1:22 AM
175	Improve downlown	10/31/2016 12:11 AM
176	Intersection of Lanier and 85, figure out a way to reduce the traffic back up	10/30/2016 11:01 PM
177	314 widen to 4 lanes up to the airport	10/30/2016 10:49 PM
178	Highways 54 and 85 reconfiguration	10/30/2016 12:37 PM
179	Eliminate heavy truck traffic through the City, unless making a delivery	10/29/2016 8:50 PM
180	Lanier avenue	10/28/2016 4:49 PM
181	Downlown	10/29/2016 3:05 PM
182	New extension of downtown	10/29/2016 12:28 PM
183	The Square	10/29/2016 B:14 AM
184	The square needs to bo improved	10/29/2016 7:25 AM
185	N. Glynn Street (between Lafayette Avanue and Stonewail). Eliminale congestion.	10/29/2016 7:05 AM
186	Georgia Ave and 85 traffic light	10/28/2016 B:04 PM
187	Traffic	10/28/2016 7:43 PM
188	The downlown square, more parking and adding more accessibility for golf carts to travel throughout the city	10/28/2016 5:13 PM

189	Stonewail & Glynn Street -Downtown Traffic- consider adding additional grid around this area so people have more connection opportunities. I believe this is being addressed in the new Downtown Master Plan.	10/28/2016 2:57 PM
190	Improvemnts being done daily	10/28/2016 2:27 PM
#	Second Priority Location and Improvement	Date
1	north-south - major roads going thru traffic lights	12/8/2016 4:42 PM
2	85 - syncrhoize lights - faster commute in the moming	12/8/2016 4:31 PM
3	Tum junkman property into a park	12/6/2016 4:54 PM
4	Fayette High school- refacing, renovating the inside and adding space	12/3/2016 8:22 PM
5	Improvements of the roads themselves. No potholes, tree limbs laying in the street, or anything that can cause damage.	12/3/2016 6:32 PM
6	54 East of the softball fields to the county line	12/1/2016 10:26 AM
7	hwy 85 - trolley (limited)	11/30/2016 2:06 PM
8	ga ave west/n jeff davis - light or stop sign	11/30/2016 10:34 AM
9	city wide - electric charge stations	11/29/2016 9:13 AM
10	ga hwy 85 & jeff davis - less wait time - better flow	11/28/2016 4:29 PM
11	roads everywhere - repave	11/28/2016 3:49 PM
12	stonewall - pave	11/28/2016 3:04 PM
13	hood ave - pave & complete	11/28/2016 2:35 PM
14	s jeff davis - more business growth; wider lanes	11/28/2016 9:27 AM
15	85 & 92	11/23/2016 4:25 PM
16	trails - walking	11/23/2016 4:12 PM
17	ability to cross streets	11/23/2016 4:04 PM
18	old greenville rd & goza - lov viz intersection! better warning on goza	11/23/2016 12:01 PM
19	Kingwood - has no sidewalks	11/23/2016 8:51 AM
20	Georgia Ave & N Jeff Davis - a mess	11/22/2016 3:48 PM
21	bike lanes throughout	11/22/2016 3:28 PM
22	more street lights	11/22/2016 3:08 PM
23	neighborhoods - ensure no potholes	11/22/2016 2:01 PM
24	92 south - add another lane both ways	11/22/2016 11:40 AM
25	south glynn - continous sidewalk down to Ramah	11/21/2016 4:19 PM
26	Inner parcel connection for all new commercial	11/21/2016 2:18 PM
27	downlown - mark bicycle lanes and routes	11/21/2016 10:56 AM
28	314 and 85 confusing/dangerous	11/17/2016 8:42 PM
29	Grady & Glynn St -turn signal for Grady & Bradley	11/17/2016 4:43 PM
30	bike lanes on veteran's, where they're building all the stuff for the movie studios	11/17/2016 3:12 PM
31	92 - 4 lanes	11/17/2016 3:04 PM
32	Develop a strategic plan to create more of a grid street network to help alleviate traffic and improve mobility	11/16/2016 2:53 PM
33	fix bridge and connect Hood Avenue/Hood Road	11/16/2016 2:39 PM
34	Goze and 85	11/16/2016 12:30 PM
35	Hwy 85 South to Hwy 54West needs an alternate road.	11/15/2016 1:25 PM
36	Design and build a proper "square." Do we need that Holiday Inn?	11/15/2016 9:25 AM

37	Pavilion to the Square	11/14/2016 9:48 PM
88	Banks Road from 314 to Ellis Road	11/14/2016 9:43 PM
9	The intersection where HWY 92 turns south - there should not be 2 lanes going straight at that red light. When you are turning right there, it's hard to see cars because they are usually speeding.	11/14/2016 9:41 PM
0	North Fayette it's the first area most well see	11/14/2016 9:06 PM
1	Create more north - south roads. Maybe punch thru Sharon Drive to Hood Avenue.	11/10/2016 4:39 PM
2	highway 279	11/7/2016 7:38 AM
3	?	11/8/2016 10:01 PM
1	more median landscaping like they installed in 1999	11/6/2016 5:15 PM
5	Tag offices and parking turn that area into a park and relocate	11/5/2016 9:44 PM
3	54/85	11/3/2016 8:08 PM
,	GA 85/ N Glynn St	11/3/2016 3:03 PM
;	Bike paths south of city	11/2/2016 7:40 PM
1	Jeff Davis and 85	11/2/2016 12:59 PM
1	314 and south jeff davis	11/2/2016 11:38 AM
	Manasses Rd. Fill pot holes.	11/2/2016 10:56 AM
2	Highway 54 toward Peachtree City	11/2/2016 9:08 AM
ļ	Sidewalks or bicycle paths	11/2/2016 9:07 AM
1	Sidewalks to extend into areas scrounding the city	11/2/2016 8:34 AM
;	Intersection of Goza and Antioch (round about should be put here)	11/2/2016 8:34 AM
i	Improve security	11/2/2016 7:35 AM
,	East West hwy 54	11/2/2016 7:30 AM
3	resurface roads that haven't been maintained since 1986	11/2/2016 6:42 AM
•	connector from new roundabout to go behind CVS.	11/2/2016 12:09 AM
)	Easler iless congested way to get to Atlanta	11/1/2016 11:12 PM
1	Seay Road and Harp Road NO ROUNDABOUTS ON MAIN HIGHWAYS LIKE 92 SOUTH	11/1/2016 10:58 PM
2	SR 85 and 54 the whole lengthless traffic	11/1/2016 8:30 PM
5	Hwy 92 south	11/1/2016 5:41 PM
4	54	11/1/2016 4:23 PM
5	ramah road roundabout	11/1/2016 4:01 PM
в	More street lights on Beauregard	11/1/2016 3:57 PM
7	54 & Sharon/Traffic light control so people don't sit forever waiting for a light change and then only 5 cars get through	11/1/2016 3:43 PM
в	Side walks	11/1/2018 3:18 PM
9	Finish re-paving, in a timely manner (south of 92 N)	11/1/2016 1:19 PM
5	through johnny's pizza	11/1/2016 12:58 PM
1	The one ways downtown make traffic a knightmare	11/1/2016 11:01 AM
2	East side connector to divert traffic from downtown	11/1/2016 3:51 AM
3	Hwy 54.	10/31/2016 8:47 PM
4	54 heading east blokup during peak traffic	10/31/2016 12:37 PM
5	Hwy 92 repaved	10/31/2016 11:37 AM
6	Get the traffic light to work with each other	10/31/2016 10:26 AM

77	AROUND THE DOWNTON SQUARE	10/31/2016 9:28 AM
78	Local downtown streets	10/31/2016 9:05 AM
79	downtown/ the square - 54 east bound onto Glynn st north. traffic is becoming impossible.	10/31/2016 8:14 AM
80	Hwy 54 congestion	10/31/2016 7:27 AM
81	85 and eilis	10/31/2016 6:56 AM
82	Grady	10/31/2016 6:03 AM
83	s jeff davis north bound backs up in the morning	10/31/2016 4:57 AM
84	Widen state road 85 south of Grady	10/31/2016 12:11 AM
85	Stonewall and 85, reduce traffic congestion	10/30/2016 11:01 PM
86	Grid system of streets in the new downtown area	10/30/2016 12:37 PM
87	Finish the By Pass approved 2004 Splost	10/29/2016 8:50 PM
88	Stonewall	10/29/2016 4:49 PM
89	314 intersection	10/29/2016 3:05 PM
90	The Square	10/29/2016 8:14 AM
91	Better entry and egress from Dunkin Donuts, which adds to the above congestion.	10/29/2016 7:05 AM
92	Hood Ave should connect out to pinewood	10/28/2016 8:04 PM
93	Grady Ave. & Hwy 54- Grady Ave needs to be widened. Many people use this as a cut through.	10/28/2016 2:57 PM
#	Third Priority Location and Improvement	Date
1	Speed bumps in naiborhoods	12/6/2016 4:54 PM
2	Traffic areas in downtown Fayetteville	12/3/2016 8:22 PM
3	Take the 4lane all the way past RaceTrak on 85 south of downtown	12/1/2016 10:26 AM
4	ga 85 @ dunkin donuts - no left turn out of dunkin donuts	11/30/2016 10:34 AM
5	hwy 54 & redwine	11/28/2016 4:29 PM
6	hood ave - reopen to public	11/28/2016 3:04 PM
7	corner of firethorn & menydale - stop sign in place at this crossing	11/28/2016 9:27 AM
8	walking more easily	11/23/2016 4:04 PM
9	hwy 85 & porter rd - several fatal accidents in last few years - warning/slowing on hwy 85 @ porter	11/23/2016 12:01 PM
10	(1144) hwy 92 S - widen road in front of church (whitewater)	11/22/2016 11:40 AM
11	north glynn - trees, shrubs to soften the look al all those tacky businesses	11/21/2016 4:19 PM
12	develop & retrofit ord comm where special permits	11/21/2016 2:18 PM
13	connect all the subdivisions together, why are there no collector streets here?!	11/16/2016 2:39 PM
14	Gardy Ave and Hwy 54 are about to become a traffic nightmare. Intersection needs to be redisgned before itdoes.	11/15/2016 1:25 PM
15	Find a way to develop larger community neighborhoods in the Whitewater school district; instead of the piece-meal land developments in the south. Neighborhoods foster a sense of belonging.	11/15/2016 9:25 AM
16	Entrance & exit of square in Hwy 54	11/14/2016 9:48 PM
17	5 mile radius from downtown	11/14/2016 9:06 PM
18	?	11/6/2016 10:01 PM
19	Area across from hospital next to Frozen Yogurt. Turn that into shopping plaza like the Avenue in PTC.	11/5/2016 9:44 PM
20	Expand 85 to 4 lanes were it narrows down two 2 lanes than back to one stupid design someone should be fired for that mess	11/2/2016 11:38 AM
21	Gingercake Rd.	11/2/2016 10:56 AM

22	Keep what we have in good condition	11/2/2016 9:07 AM
23	Address the growing traffic	11/2/2016 8:34 AM
24	Hwy 92 from Fayetteville to Inman Rd	11/2/2016 7:30 AM
25	Park	11/1/2016 11:12 PM
26	Straighten 2 sharp curves on Hilo Road for safety. Why they added another sharp curve at the end near Hwy 92 was stupid.	11/1/2016 10:58 PM
27	Hwy 92 north	11/1/2016 5:41 PM
28	92north	11/1/2016 4:23 PM
29	Re-paving Grady Ave	11/1/2016 3:57 PM
30	Stop with the roundabouts!!!	11/1/2016 1:19 PM
31	Brush your teeth	11/1/2016 12:58 PM
32	Fewer lights.	10/31/2016 8:47 PM
33	74//54 ptc not fayetteville but huge detrrant to coming in or out of Fayette hard on commuters	10/31/2016 12:37 PM
34	SOUTH END OF GA 85	10/31/2016 9:28 AM
35	Hood Rd. connection (out of city limits)- Iry and Join efforts with Fayette county this will alleviate traffic on 54 and the square.	10/31/2016 8:14 AM
36	Surface streets	10/31/2016 7:27 AM
37	Jimmy Mayfield and 92 connector	10/31/2016 6:56 AM
38	4 lane grady ave	10/31/2016 4:57 AM
39	Creale a cut through from Redwine to Lester Road.	10/31/2016 12:11 AM
40	Bypass need to ease some downtown traffic	10/30/2016 12:37 PM
41	Grady and Hwy 54	10/29/2016 3:05 PM
42	The Square	10/29/2016 8:14 AM
43	Rosewood and 54 traffic light	10/28/2016 8:04 PM
44	Whitney Road- If this road was repaired & upgraded, it could be used as a cut through and take some traffic off Hwy 85 South.	10/28/2016 2:57 PM
Q18 Where should the City's sidewalk/path network be improved? What specific improvements are needed?

Answered: 170 Skipped: 384

Answer (Choices R	esponses
First	Priority Location and Improvement	00.00% 17
Seco	ond Priority Location and Improvement 34	6.47% 6
Third	d Priority Location and Improvement	8.82% 3
#	First Priority Location and Improvement	Date
1	carl paths	12/8/2016 4:42 PM
2	carl paths - connect to PTC	12/8/2016 4:36 PM
3	carl paths	12/8/2016 4:33 PM
4	redwine road - expand the cart path	12/8/2016 4:31 PM
5	hwy 54 east side	12/7/2016 4:09 PM
8	Widen ali	12/6/2016 4:54 PM
7	jimmie mayfield - more sidewalks	12/5/2016 8:30 AM
в	Bwy 314 and white road	12/3/2016 10:51 PM
9	The path/trail from downtown Fayetteville to all surrounding residences and plazas to connect to PeachtreeCity tr	alls 12/3/2016 8:22 PM
10	School areas	12/3/2016 6:32 PM
11	N/A	12/3/2016 6:18 PM
12	All highways should have sidewalks, old 92 that is now Jeff by the police station and along the corridor there	12/1/2016 10:26 AM
13	ga 92 - finish the stretch to J. Davis	11/30/2016 3:32 PM
14	hwy 54 - sidewalk from grady to downtown	11/30/2016 2:15 PM
15	ramah rd - kroger/gas slation/broadway diner - left turn out of shopping ctr onto hwy 85; lett turn out of middle sch	nool 11/30/2016 2:11 PM
16	everywhere	11/30/2016 1:52 PM
17	314 to the pavillon - continuing the sidewalk	11/30/2016 11:32 AM
18	white rd - sidewalks & golfcart paths	11/30/2016 10:54 AM
19	banks - sidewalks near 85	11/29/2016 9:35 AM
20	s. jeff davis	11/29/2016 9:29 AM
21	s fayetteville by harp rd - golf cart paths	11/29/2016 9:24 AM
22	redwine	11/29/2016 9:21 AM
23	carl paths	11/29/2016 9:13 AM
24	314 - sidewalks added	11/29/2016 8:52 AM
25	s jeff davis - bike lanes	11/28/2016 4:49 PM
26	the square - handle traffic better, one blook is not enough	11/28/2016 3:34 PM
27	downtawn	11/28/2016 3:28 PM
28	better synchronization of treffic signals	11/26/2016 3:23 PM
29	all over	11/28/2016 3:16 PM

30	downtown - more sidewalks	11/28/2016 3:12 PM
31	all sidewalks - widen all for golf carts	11/28/2016 3:04 PM
2	sidewalks - wider for cart paths	11/28/2016 2:35 PM
3	downlown	11/28/2016 1:42 PM
34	redwine - connect the cart path on both ens of redwine	11/28/2016 10:20 AM
5	more of them	11/28/2016 10:19 AM
36	s 85 - whitewater schools to bernhart rd	11/28/2016 10:06 AM
37	downtown - pedestrian traffic lights shoul last longer to cross street	11/28/2016 9:49 AM
8	jeff davis area - new regulations on construction	11/28/2016 9:27 AM
39	92 connector to hilo rd - add sidewalk and blke lanes	11/28/2016 9:17 AM
10	92 - add more sidewalk; golf cart trait	11/26/2016 9:08 AM
11	85 south - sidewalks	11/23/2016 4:29 PM
12	hwy 85 s - sidewalks at the way to chase 7 publix	11/23/2016 4:25 PM
13	everywhere	11/23/2016 4:12 PM
14	downtown	11/23/2016 4:08 PM
15	Redwine rd - connect subdivisions with current carts with ptc	11/23/2016 4:04 PM
46	older neighborhoods (like mine!) that don't have sidewalks	11/23/2016 3:49 PM
47	downtown	11/23/2016 3:18 PM
48	pavilion	11/23/2016 3:12 PM
49	Improved & expanded - throughout city limits	11/23/2016 12:01 PM
50	Harp rd along redwine rd - street to walk to town	11/23/2016 10:46 AM
51	Bernhard rd - golf cart trails	11/22/2016 3:57 PM
52	fural areas - more walking trails into city	11/22/2016 3:51 PM
53	92 connector - sidewalks	11/22/2016 3:28 PM
54	just more park in general	11/22/2016 3:02 PM
55	white road - golf cart trails	11/22/2018 2:40 PM
56	hwy 314 - golf trail	11/22/2016 2:38 PM
57	314 area - guif trali	11/22/2016 2:35 PM
58	downtown - golf car pathways	11/22/2016 2:01 PM
59	Tiger trails - more wifi	11/22/2016 1:54 PM
60	near neighborhoods - more sidewalks for pediestrians and kids	11/22/2016 11:59 AM
61	downtown -bike and walking paths	11/22/2016 11:53 AM
62	downtown - improved sidewalks	11/22/2016 11:40 AM
63	connect with ptc golf cart paths where possible	11/22/2016 11:35 AM
64	hawn rd, old senoia rd - add sidewalks/golf cart paths	11/22/2016 11:31 AM
65	lown aware - diagonal walkways	11/21/2016 4:58 PM
66	numerous plans - connect the existing paths	11/21/2016 4:41 PM
67	92 south - allowing people to walk to stores	11/21/2016 4:37 PM
68	downtown area - wider sidewalks	11/21/2016 4:19 PM
69	city center to lake horton - multi use path	11/21/2016 4:01 PM
70	downtown square - attached business; continue to includ new businesses in the area	11/21/2016 3:26 PM

71	connect area downtown that have partial coverage	11/21/2016 2:18 PM
72	over 54 - bridge	11/21/2016 1:47 PM
73	everywhere - proposal development looked great	11/21/2016 1:36 PM
74	along sr 85	11/21/2016 1:23 PM
75	downtown	11/21/2016 11:55 AM
76	gingercake rd - lighting	11/21/2016 11:38 AM
77	hwy 54 - sidewalks on both side of highway	11/21/2016 11:34 AM
78	ianler ave hwy 54 w - fill gaps in path-extend to hospital and pinewood	11/21/2016 10:56 AM
79	sidewalks to all parks. It's very dangerous to try to walk to a park without them.	11/20/2015 10:14 AM
во	Connect cart path on Redwine Rd	11/19/2016 8:23 AM
81	downtown, up 85 and 314	11/17/2016 8:42 PM
32	Hillsdale dr and the hood behind	11/17/2018 4:54 PM
33	Bradley to Jeff Davis	11/17/2016 4:43 PM
94	Golfcourt paths - bicycling trails	11/17/2016 4:35 PM
85	Downtown - connecting library, courthouse square	11/17/2016 4:12 PM
36	Redwine rd - complete the path redwine to ptc	11/17/2016 4:02 PM
37	Glynn St N to S - pathway	11/17/2016 3:55 PM
98	54 towards hospital	11/17/2016 3:44 PM
89	make sure to build and maintain sidewalks where new residential structures are being built eg along 54	11/17/2016 3:12 PM
90	Multi-use behind summit pointe along redwine rd need to be extended	11/17/2016 2:59 PM
91	All over	11/17/2016 2:53 PM
92	Everywhere golf cart paths from PTC to FayettevIlle	11/17/2016 10:47 AM
93	Connect the golf cart path from red wine Road to Lester road	11/17/2016 8:13 AM
94	If we want businesses downtown, then we need WIDE sidewalks downtown.	11/16/2016 2:53 PM
95	build sidewalks everywhere first priority is the gaps	11/16/2016 2:39 PM
96	The entire length of Hwy 85	11/15/2016 1:25 PM
97	STOP building sidewalks to nowhere! (and benches) No one ever walks on them.	11/15/2016 9:25 AM
98	The Square	11/14/2016 9:48 PM
99	Bike trail to McCurry park from downtown	11/14/2016 9:43 PM
100	We need sidewalks on hwy 92 south	11/14/2016 9:41 PM
101	Downtown	11/14/2016 9:07 PM
102	Throughout connect parks	11/14/2016 9:06 PM
103	When I lived in peachtree city i walked/book the golf cart paths everywhere. I couldn't even tell you where the sidewalks are in Fayetteville because shopping centers and residential areas are completely disjointed.	11/14/2016 9:04 PM
104	There was a road that was supposed to go thru the Lakemont subdivision. You can see it on the City Zoning Map right across from Ramah Rd. Let's put a trail there that will connect all the way over to Lester Road.	11/10/2016 4:39 PM
105	space to walk which can we geared toward performing arts/events center	11/9/2016 5:03 PM
106	Downtown	11/7/2016 7:38 AM
107	?	11/6/2016 10:01 PM
108	sidewalks on both sides of all streets, no exceptions	11/6/2016 5:15 PM
109	Make 54 all side walks into downtown so people can walk it if they want to	11/5/2016 9:44 PM

110	Rt 54 sidewalks, bike paths	11/3/2016 11:24 PM
111	Downtown	11/3/2016 8:08 PM
12	Probably impossible to build but a walk/bike path to PTC from Fayetteville would be great	11/3/2016 3:52 PM
113	Leading to the Square	11/3/2016 3:03 PM
114	golf cart paths in fayetteville	11/3/2016 1:19 PM
115	Cart paths	11/2/2016 7:40 PM
116	Hwy 54 sidewalks and golf cart trail	11/2/2016 7:33 PM
117	Pavillion area	11/2/2016 12:59 PM
118	southside	11/2/2016 12:27 PM
19	Beauregard to the square	11/2/2016 12:09 PM
120	Allow cart paths like ptc are your guys stupid	11/2/2016 11:38 AM
21	Downlown. Take advantage of greenspace making a walking path around downlown.	11/2/2016 10:56 AM
22	Extend the path on Lanler Ave west/Hwy 54 to Hospital and Pinewood	11/2/2016 10:41 AM
23	Sandy creek , Lee's mill, new hope area	11/2/2016 9:07 AM
24	Extend them beyound the city into unencorporated area	11/2/2016 8:34 AM
25	Parks need improvements	11/2/2016 7:35 AM
26	Going east and west	11/2/2016 6:29 AM
127	A complete sidewalk on at least one side of the road from downtown to the Pavillon.	11/2/2016 12:09 AM
128	The square	11/1/2016 11:12 PM
129	Only need sidewalks in downtown area, not residential.	11/1/2016 10:58 PM
130	Sidewalks, yes, paths no you will never be able to accomodate or maintain the PTC path style, PTC cannot even do it	11/1/2016 8:30 PM
131	More trees along the paths or build them where they would be shady	11/1/2016 7:49 PM
132	any sidewalks that dead end to nothing our do not connect to reach other should be addressed first	11/1/2016 6:41 PM
133	Courthouse square to Broadway Diner area	11/1/2016 5:41 PM
34	better connections to neighborhoods just outside of city (S. Jeff Davis)	11/1/2016 5:12 PM
35	Better lighting at all sidewalks	11/1/2016 4:23 PM
36	need a mini-bettline around the city center	11/1/2016 4:01 PM
37	add benches/shade areas to stop and rest throughout	11/1/2016 3:44 PM
38	Hwy 65/Sidewalks need redoing	11/1/2016 3:43 PM
139	Fill in the gaps where there is no sidewalk, strange areas where the side walk disappears and then starts back.	11/1/2016 3:37 PM
140	Sidewalks are needed along Hwy 314. I pass through the area and see several people who run/walk and have to do so in the grass which is near the road.	11/1/2016 3:23 PM
141	Connect Harp and Redwine	11/1/2016 3:18 PM
142	More of it (especially near schools)	11/1/2016 1:19 PM
143	With impunity	11/1/2016 12:58 PM
144	Need a sidewalk all the way along south jeff davis drive	11/1/2016 12:28 PM
145	Everywhere	11/1/2018 11:51 AM
146	expand path system to the county housing developments on Redwine.	11/1/2016 11:04 AM
147	Some of the sidewalks don't actually go anywhere	11/1/2016 11:01 AM
148	Extend path on Lanier AVE West / HWY 54 to Hospital & Pinewood	11/1/2016 3:51 AM
149	Everywhere	10/31/2016 9:23 PM

150	Downtown,	10/31/2016 8:47 PM
151	A pedestrian only light .	10/31/2016 4:19 PM
152	Extended to South Jeff Davis	10/31/2016 12:37 PM
53	Golf carl paths to make Fayetteville more competitive with PTC.	10/31/2016 11:47 AM
54	Hwy 54 extend them	10/31/2016 11:37 AM
55	keep the ones we have and build new ones, don't tear up the ones we already have.	10/31/2016 10:26 AM
56	Not certain	10/31/2016 10:02 AM
57	Downtown sidewalks should be repaired to make them more welkable.	10/31/2016 9:05 AM
58	Hwy 85	10/31/2016 7:27 AM
59	Connect to Pinewood	10/31/2016 6:03 AM
60	good shape	
61	Bredley avenue	10/31/2016 1:22 AM
62	Connect Golf Carts path to Peachtree City	10/30/2016 10:49 PM
63	Citywide path network is needed to connect with County	10/30/2016 12:37 PM
64	Down town	10/29/2016 8:50 PM
65	Around downtown. Better conectivity	10/29/2016 3:05 PM
66	Multiuse paths	10/29/2016 12:28 PM
167	Hwy 85	10/29/2016 8:14 AM
68	Downtown square, golf cart access to other parts of city	10/28/2016 5:13 PM
69	Downtown- many sidewalks are in bad shape. If we what to increase walkability we need good sidewalks.	10/28/2016 2:57 PM
70	Don't know	10/28/2016 2:27 PM
	Second Priority Location and Improvement	Date
1	More wooded running paths	12/6/2016 4:54 PM
!	Hwy 92	12/3/2016 10:51 PM
3	Downtown areas (restaurants)	12/3/2016 6:32 PM
	92 connector and along 85	12/1/2016 10:26 AM
	ga 54 w - multi use path all the way to hosp	11/30/2016 3:32 PM
	sections of 314 - sidewalks & golfcart paths to the pavilion	11/30/2016 10:54 AM
,	sidewalks - ey 85 in shopping arees	11/29/2016 9:35 AM
]	helen sams parkway - bike lanes; sidewalk all the way to town	11/28/2016 4:49 PM
)	downtown - areas where no car allowed on walking traffic	11/28/2016 3:12 PM
0	tiger trall - widen	11/28/2016 3:04 PM
1	hwy 92 - wider sidewalks/cobble sidewalks	11/28/2016 9:27 AM
2	hwy 54 - sidewalks from downtown to piedmont fayette	11/23/2016 4:25 PM
3	shopping district	11/23/2016 3:18 PM
4	safee bike paths - throughout city iimits	11/23/2016 12:01 PM
5	gingercake - sidewalks going north	11/22/2016 3:28 PM
6	communities - golf cart pathways	11/22/2016 2:01 PM
7	large intersection	11/21/2016 4:58 PM
17	large intersection south glynn - cpntinous sidewalk down to ramah	11/21/2016 4:58 PM 11/21/2016 4:19 PM

20	over 85	11/21/2016 1:47 PM
1	along sr 54	11/21/2016 1:23 PM
2	hood ave - lighting	11/21/2016 11:38 AM
3	the ridge nature area - connect from grady, rewine and old norton road	11/21/2016 10:56 AM
24	Grady Avenue	11/17/2016 8:42 PM
25	Grady to S Glynn/92	11/17/2016 4:43 PM
26	Downtown - court facility paths, bike parking	11/17/2016 4:12 PM
27	Connect gulf paths to hospital area and pinewood area	11/17/2016 8:13 AM
28	fancy brick crosswalks downtown	11/16/2016 2:39 PM
29	The entire length of Hwy 54	11/15/2016 1:25 PM
30	Area around the square on Hwy 54	11/14/2016 9:48 PM
1	Hwy 54	11/7/2018 7:38 AM
32	?	11/6/2016 10:01 PM
33	Main street. Side walk and create paths for biking and walking with park in downtown	11/5/2016 9:44 PM
34	Sidewalks on secondary roads	11/3/2016 11:24 PM
35	Along 54 going towards PTC	11/3/2016 8:08 PM
36	no need for sidewalk improvements until people use them	11/3/2016 3:52 PM
37	Bike paths south of city	11/2/2016 7:40 PM
38	Along Hwy 85 from Pavillion to Jeff Davis	11/2/2016 12:59 PM
39	Monitor people using golf carts on sidewalks	11/2/2016 10:56 AM
40	Establish connecting paths from Grady Ave, Redwine Rd and Old Norton Rd thru greespeace to Ridge Nature Area.	11/2/2016 10:41 AM
41	Blke paths to schools	11/2/2016 9:07 AM
12	Around FCHS	11/2/2016 6:29 AM
43	lighted Street signs and street lights along sidewalk for better safety and visibilit along 54, 85 and 314.y	11/2/2016 12:09 AM
44	Subdivisions	11/1/2016 11:12 PM
45	I would love to see some dirt paths closer to town (maybe the small piece of property adjacent to the senior center and justice center backing up to Williamsburg Way)	11/1/2016 7:49 PM
46	Hwy 54 Tiger trail to Hospital or Sandy creek	11/1/2016 5:41 PM
47	Connections to square/ library area with safer crossings	11/1/2016 5:12 PM
48	bridges/crosswelks at intersections	11/1/2016 3:44 PM
49	On the sides of the roads	11/1/2016 12:58 PM
50	Establish connecting paths from Grady Ave, Redwine Rd, and Old Norton Rd thru greenspace to the Ridge Nature Area	11/1/2016 3:51 AM
51	Paths to nature areas	10/31/2016 8:47 PM
52	Extended from Luau to downtown	10/31/2016 12:37 PM
53	Jeff Davis Extended	10/31/2016 11:37 AM
54	Develop a system of wider sidewalks to accommodate more pedestrians.	10/31/2016 9:05 AM
55	Hwy 54	10/31/2016 7:27 AM
56	Bradley along highway 92	10/31/2016 1:22 AM
57	Pinewood Studio/Pinewood Forrest area needs a large path network	10/30/2016 12:37 PM
58	Improve path system between downtown and Pinewood Forrest	10/29/2016 8:50 PM

59	South Glynn Street access to shopping down Hwy 85	10/29/2016 3:05 PM
60	Remove power poles in downtown	10/29/2016 12:28 PM
61	Hwy 92 N	10/29/2016 8:14 AM
62	Any where connections are missing between developments.	10/28/2016 2:57 PM
#	Third Priority Location and Improvement	Date
1	White road	12/3/2016 10:51 PM
2	Pavilion and parks	12/3/2016 6:32 PM
3	all major streets in town	12/1/2016 10:26 AM
4	beauregard - widen sidewalk all the wa to the the square	11/30/2016 3:32 PM
5	connect hospital	11/28/2016 3:04 PM
6	s fayetteville - more bike paths like pto	11/28/2016 9:27 AM
7	banks crossing > pavillion - sidewalks and bridges across hwy 85	11/23/2016 4:25 PM
В	lown square - create a x type crosswalk that facilitates pedestrian traffic	11/21/2016 4:19 PM
9	glynn st hwy 85 n/s - extend paths	11/21/2016 10:56 AM
10	Downtown - fre parking, deck close to square	11/17/2016 4:12 PM
11	All gulf car paths should lead to downtown Fayetteville	11/17/2016 8:13 AM
12	Hwy 92 on the Northside	11/15/2016 1:25 PM
13	Hospital & Pinewood area	11/14/2016 9:48 PM
14	Ga Hwy 85	11/7/2016 7:38 AM
15	?	11/6/2016 10:01 PM
16	Old North Rd has side walks but at some point it just stops. If the side walls can be put in on all those roads it wod encourage walking into or towards the city	11/5/2016 9:44 PM
17	Goza and 85	11/3/2016 8:08 PM
18	Prevent golf carts from coming downtown. We are not a resort town.	11/2/2016 10:56 AM
19	Extend path on Glynn St/Hwy 54 N & S	11/2/2016 10:41 AM
20	Parks	11/1/2016 11:12 PM
21	Former Sams property in town	11/1/2016 7:49 PM
22	Hwy 85 both both and south of Courthouse.	11/1/2016 5:41 PM
23	Connections to Summit Point/ 92/85 area	11/1/2016 5:12 PM
24	with more impunity	11/1/2016 12:58 PM
25	Extend path on Glynn Street / HWY 54 N & S	11/1/2016 3:51 AM
26	Paths to entertainment vdnues	10/31/2016 8:47 PM
27	Improve path from grady and include a path to library	10/31/2016 12:37 PM
28	Grady Ave and Redwine Extend	10/31/2016 11:37 AM
29	Surface streets	10/31/2016 7:27 AM
30	Around the Publix and Kroger shopping centers where Starbucks, McDonalds and Delta Credit Union is located.	10/31/2016 1:22 AM
31	Path system from Downtown to Pinewood Forrest	10/30/2016 12:37 PM
32	New development areas- make sure they are required to install mulit-use paths going forward. (no more 5 feet slowalks)	10/28/2016 2:57 PM



aswer Choices	Responses	
Natural parks	65.71%	276
Trails	66.19%	278
Bicycling facilities	44.76%	188
Skateboard park	13.81%	58
Dog park	46.43%	19(
Large central park that can accommodate events	55.95%	23
Performing arts center	39.76%	16
Outdoor gathering places	60.95%	25
Fountains or a water feature	40.00%	16
Other (please specify)	10.24%	4

Total Respondents: 420

#	Other (please specify)	Date
1	free place for teens to hang out	12/5/2016 8:30 AM
2	Transportation within the county	12/3/2016 8:22 PM
3	We have alot that is not always utilized	12/1/2016 10:26 AM
4	things for teenagers	11/30/2016 2:15 PM
5	ice skating	11/29/2016 8:32 AM
6	the ridge great asset!	11/28/2016 2:35 PM
7	small parks about 1 to 2 acres in size	11/28/2016 10:13 AM
8	covered arena - see heritage park in henry county	11/28/2016 9:49 AM
9	golf cart trail to shopping center; park; like ptc	11/28/2016 9:08 AM
10	Golf cart paths	11/23/2016 4:08 PM
11	place shere kids cen hang out	11/22/2016 11:59 AM
12	recreation centers	11/21/2016 4:23 PM
13	we drove to Tyrone to swim; playground for kids	11/21/2016 4:19 PM
14	while water creek from ginger cake to stars mill	11/21/2016 4:01 PM
15	community colleges or some other education places	11/21/2016 3:36 PM
16	amenities of new developments as part of development i.e not taxes	11/21/2016 2:18 PM
17	splash park	11/21/2016 11:20 AM
18	botanical garden	11/21/2016 10:56 AM
19	Untouched wild areas for wildlife and areas for Native Americans to reside. Let them choose how they want it to be.	11/20/2016 10:14 AM
20	greenspaces interconnecting	11/17/2016 4:54 PM
21	Golf carl paths	11/17/2016 4:35 PM
22	golf cart walke/trails	11/17/2016 3:21 PM
23	water canal	11/17/2016 10:47 AM
2 4	Tiny house community.	11/16/2016 3:32 PM
25	The city needs these areas to be centered around the Square & Pinewood Srudios	11/14/2016 9:48 PM
26	River	11/5/2016 9:44 PM
27	A trampoline park, Andretti's	11/3/2016 8:08 PM
28	Cart paths and trails to cut down auto traffic	11/2/2016 11:38 AM
29	YMCA with pool	11/2/2016 10:28 AM
30	Shuddles or other low cost transportation for seniors	11/2/2016 8:34 AM
31	more swimming and other watersports	11/2/2016 12:09 AM
32	Let private businesses pay for this, NOT the city	11/1/2016 8:30 PM
33	Splash pad	11/1/2016 5:19 PM
34	walkable entertainment/dining district	11/1/2016 5:12 PM
35	public outdoor art (sculptures, mosaic/mural walls, etc)	11/1/2016 3:44 PM
36	Trash cans to sink into	11/1/2016 12:58 PM
37	Golf cart paths	11/1/2016 12:46 PM
38	the fountain in Fayetteville is in need of repair and NEEDS a sculpture feature.	11/1/2016 11:04 AM

,

39	Dr Sam's Botanical Garden	11/1/2016 3:51 AM
40	Big community center with a pool, basketball courts, gymnastics, workout facilities.	10/31/2016 11:47 AM
41	Sport facilities for youth to ply basketball, swim, game rooms, etc.	10/31/2016 12:11 AM
42	Carl paths	10/28/2016 8:04 PM
43	Food Truck Court	10/28/2016 2:57 PM

Q20 What concerns do you have about growth, development, and redevelopment?

Answered: 264 Skipped: 290

#	Responses	Date
	more police protection; cut crime; keep out Fulton & Clayton Co trashil; arrest law breakers, high fines, take back our county!! don't need more apt buildings, single family housing, bring in some good paying jobs!	12/8/2016 4:42 PM
2	everyone is saying no apartments and what is being built - apartments, are you listening or wasting or time! I clean up the city.	12/8/2016 4:36 PM
3	crime - school systems are getting bad	12/8/2016 4:33 PM
1	ctime - a higher level of clientele needs to b brought into the pavilion in order to keep crime down, would rather into PTC or Newnan then spend my money in Fayetteville	12/8/2016 4:31 PM
5	traffic	12/8/2016 4:26 PM
3	planned appropriately with experiences gained from outside municipalities	12/7/2016 4:09 PM
7	Fayetteville seems to be getting the same type of businesses/restaurants; need variety; options for alternative living for those who do not want responsibility or can't afford a new home.	12/7/2016 11:52 AM
3	No government housing. Improve education. Add low cast school sports all kids can do.	12/8/2016 4:54 PM
9	tree habitats and everything in nature is being knocked down or wiped out; keep nature so we have more animals and fresh air.	12/5/2016 8:30 AM
10	None	12/4/2016 7:20 PM
1	None at this time	12/3/2016 10:51 PM
2	I am concerned that the city will not develop and evolve like the surreunding countiesI am concerned that the leaders governing our city are afraid of change	12/3/2016 8:22 PM
13	I want the city to maintain its status as a small, family town. I would not like it to become overindustrialized.	12/3/2016 7:04 PM
14	I just feel that if Fayetteville wants to keep its millennials, then it drastically needs to improve and add more attractions like the ones I checked off in this survey.	12/3/2016 6:39 PM
15	i don't want things to be done the cheap way. I know we pay for everything through laxes and sometimes that's not enough, but i don't appreciate when things are not properly redeveloped. For example, the potholes. It's either petched over or you guys leave it comepletely unfixed and I'm tired and disgusted with the half effort. You either fix it completely or don't at all.	12/3/2016 6:32 PM
16	N/A	12/3/2016 6:18 PM
17	I don't want this wonderful town to get rundown like so many other communities around the southside. We have a great opportunity to improve now before we have to dig ourselves out of a hole. We need to work to have more businesses to come here and not newnan or McDonough. We don't have an interstate running through here, but we have a lot of other options and positive things.	12/1/2016 10:26 AM
18	need balance, business = taxes; reduce frequency for restrains to sell x% of food vs alcohol; diversify; who are we catering to? do we want to be a stand alone self sufficient city; bedroom community of the atl? that should drive our master plan	11/30/2016 3:32 PM
19	low Income high density housing should be avoided; limit big stores; pawn shop and thrift stores should be avoided	11/30/2016 2:11 PM
20	make sure its managed and does not affect the safety of the community; keeping the schools quality the same or better	11/30/2016 2:06 PM
21	too many apartment buildings; quality of education standards; taxes rising	11/30/2016 11:32 AM
22	prevent crime with a large police pressure using community policies; having good relations with the Fayette residents to protect the city of Fayetteville throughout the growth process	11/30/2016 10:54 AM
23	apartment numbers exceeding desirable renters!	11/30/2016 10:34 AM
24	crime; schools; more green space; red center complex; percentage of apartment to single homes	11/30/2016 10:28 AM

25	no senior housing; crime - too many apartments	11/30/2018 10:25 AM
6	stop apartment building, homes will bring more revenue & less crime	11/30/2016 10:22 AM
7	too many apartments, homes and subdivisions will bring more revenue & far less crime	11/30/2016 10:17 AM
8	re-model of many of the older (not historic like the courthouse) buildings need revamping or modernization, many "mom & pop" restaurants would be financially beneficial to our city, many people have grown tired of the same old restaurants, more natural parks, trails that modernize Fayetteville & make it special, unique and a destination place.	11/30/2016 10:10 AM
9	more cultured places	11/29/2018 9:32 AM
0	transportation	11/29/2016 9:29 AM
1	new development should have above average cost or value per sq ft - not interested in low cost real estate	11/29/2016 9:13 AM
12	traffic getting worse	11/29/2016 9:04 AM
3	traffic is getting worse, young people keep leaving b/c not enough night life around and not enough affordable places to live (apartments)	11/29/2016 9:01 AM
14	small business growth	11/29/2016 8:52 AM
5	do not want to see low income housing	11/29/2016 8:49 AM
36	keep condos out and zero 1st line subdivisions	11/29/2016 8:44 AM
37	allow vendors of any kind to set up on the Saturday street fairs	11/29/2016 8:42 AM
88	opportunities for all vendors to attend this and other fairs/festivals	11/29/2016 8:38 AM
19	seems we do not have the population currently to support the number of local businesses	11/29/2016 8:32 AM
0	parking, traffic, road/stop light over use	11/28/2016 4:55 PM
1	less homes and more businesses	11/28/2016 4:52 PM
12	police who threaten people	11/28/2016 4:49 PM
13	traffic congestion; higher taxes	11/28/2016 4:41 PM
14	2 Publix, 2 Kroger, 2 Walgreen etc. so many old buildings that still have vacancies- fill those before any new ones get built, ie 54	11/28/2016 4:37 PM
45	bringing in the right people	11/28/2016 4:32 PM
16	traffic flow through Fayatteville - non residents driving through	11/28/2016 4:29 PM
17	sidewalks; families need more nightlife	11/28/2016 3:49 PM
48	should be more involvement from younger students in the community. If they see they can make a difference here, even if they decide to move away, the experiences will be more than beneficial	11/28/2016 3:40 PM
19	just do it right	11/28/2016 3:37 PM
50	do not want to see marts or any other buses in Fayette cty	11/28/2016 3:32 PM
51	too many new residents w/apartments & townhouses, not enough resources	11/28/2016 3:28 PM
52	better access to interstates	11/28/2016 3:23 PM
53	too many apartments/townhomes; big apartment complex they are building; many of us moving; Fayetteville too much like Roswell etc.	11/28/2016 3:12 PM
54	undesirables - drug problems etc.; policing our community & traffic congestion	11/28/2016 3:08 PM
55	quality and grey field area that enhance downtown, connectivity with walking walks; keep history alive in fayetleville	11/28/2016 3:04 PM
56	stay in guidelines/concerns for enforcing ordinances	11/28/2016 2:35 PM
57	over development - loss of historic feel	11/28/2016 1:42 PM
58	quit catering to the millennials, stay with what makes us different	11/28/2016 11:44 AM
59	taxes increasing / property values / mess during contruction	11/26/2016 11:06 AM
6D	don't want demographics to change	11/28/2016 10:22 AM
61	large business will leave	11/28/2016 10:19 AM

62	crime from riverdale	11/28/2016 10:13 AM
53	ability to maintain small lown feel when population is 100K+	11/28/2016 10:06 AM
54	we need to keep our personality, a modern homage to our past	11/28/2016 9:49 AM
35	adding large scale apartment buildings to the city will attract lower income residence, do not have public transportation in Fayetteville, it will make traffic worse	11/28/2016 9:39 AM
56	do not overbuild!!	11/28/2016 9:34 AM
67	nothing modern	11/28/2016 9:29 AM
58	the longevity of future structures, ex: traditional stick frame houses last 100 yrs; nontraditional cmu houses last + 200 yrs	11/28/2016 9:27 AM
69	keep young graduates in the city to attract people of all ages to our city	11/28/2016 9:17 AM
70	do not add any more apartment complex, but add luxury expensive condo	11/28/2016 9:08 AM
71	Retain the history and integrity - bring more businesses to downtown to the downtown area and close by - bring something that will attract the millenials	11/28/2016 8:56 AM
72	the infrastructure must be updated, it is getting crowded, traffic doesn't move freely	11/23/2016 4:25 PM
73	we are losing the small town fee	11/23/2016 4:16 PM
74	it's to fast! love the small lown feel	11/23/2016 4:13 PM
75	excited about growth; would like thing to still remain family oriented and not all toward millenials	11/23/2016 4:08 PM
76	keep it from becoming like riverdale	11/23/2016 4:04 PM
77	Fayetteville is quickly turning into riverdale	11/23/2016 4:00 PM
78	Fayetteville does not need low income housing	11/23/2016 3:56 PM
79	do not want low income families/crime moving to Fayetteville frum clayton co - stop the influx of clayton co moving into Fayette co	11/23/2016 3:53 PM
80	crime in retail centers	11/23/2016 3:49 PM
81	crime!!! I'm loosing my home to development and have no representation	11/23/2016 3:34 PM
82	keep it planed and controlled but geared for long term establishment	11/23/2016 3:18 PM
83	traffic	11/23/2016 3:16 PM
34	over growth, heavy traffic (car), urban sprawi - ems/police/hospital etc adequate to support population	11/23/2016 12:01 PM
85	restaurants & parks to town, music events; monthly market in the square; dog friendly	11/23/2016 10:46 AM
86	if this will really happen	11/23/2016 10:31 AM
87	do not think apartments are a good thing, will bring in people who do not care about community as others	11/23/2016 9:22 AM
88	prepare the roads 1st instead of waiting until problematic for traffic flow	11/23/2016 8:51 AM
89	not a lot to do here, same thing over and over. starting to get boring, only movies, bowling. place feels old	11/23/2016 8:44 AM
90	crime increasing	11/22/2016 4:04 PM
91	Fayette needs less buildings & more things that cause people to want to go outside	11/22/2016 3:51 PM
92	no big box stores - a real plan - Peachtree City was good for a while but now is awful-moved back to F'ville. Please no apartments/townhomes. Iove it like it it.	11/22/2016 3:48 PM
93	really like the family/community attractions. love the small town feeling & would like to see it continue, planning that was done in the early 1980's worked, continue to produce high property values & low crime rates!	11/22/2016 3:19 PM
94	no concerns	11/22/2016 3:05 PM
95	seem that the south side of Fayette is growing more than north, development should be mutual.	11/22/2016 2:35 PM
96	too man people	11/22/2016 2:21 PM
97	crime, drugs, robbers, schools	11/22/2016 2:19 PM

98	no more apartments, we have enough! I love the communities/neighborhoods. that is why Fayetteville remains attractive to families.	11/22/2016 2:01 PM
99	the apartment and our administrator in office	11/22/2016 11:59 AM
100	Fayetteville should be more conducive to events for families. now one has to go to Atlanta for family events.	11/22/2016 11:53 AM
101	that property taxes will not be drastically increased	11/22/2016 11:31 AM
102	do not want to see city grow loo much or loo fast	11/22/2016 9:07 AM
103	N Glynn st is lacky but has the potential to be an inviting part of Fayetteville. Relocation of business, strategically locating new businesses, parking landscaping, etc will be important. Inducement to business that bring meaningful jobs to fayetteville	11/21/2016 4:58 PM
104	too much too fast. roads need to calch up	11/21/2016 4:41 PM
105	too much emphasis on low income housing & no unity when it comes to shopping. City has become a hub for crime and does not feel comfortable for and safe for families. embarrassing	11/21/2016 4:37 PM
106	85(ga) going north-get rid of the small shops that have huge parking lots that are empty of cars & people, decent businesses moving to pic. Fayetteville is on the down slope with no decent future.	11/21/2016 4:30 PM
107	missing emphasis in technical connectivity, fiber optic drastically needed to attract business; residents would appreciate it too as more people are working from home, would give Fayetteville a 'progressive' vibe.	11/21/2016 4:19 PM
108	no attached multi family housing; no marta; no strip malla	11/21/2016 4:01 PM
109	Fayetteville should teach GA the south vs before developers fully integrated living communities for old/young, rich/poor, married/single emphasizing & encouraging positive & health behavior and activities, the housing of school in these communities have a goal of maintaining demographics similar to the city's working population.	11/21/2016 3:51 PM
110	leaning toward the older community; needs more nightlife to attract young adults so they stay here; college nearby for high school graduates; lack of opportunity to continue education; fun activities that attract young adults. Fayetteville is geared toward older adults. *keep it classy not trashy*	11/21/2016 3:36 PM
111	biggest concern is maintaining Fayetteville's upscale historic feel, we do not want to turn into a congested, low end city, keep the dty classy	11/21/2016 3:26 PM
112	the decline of n Fayetteville needs to be reversed and returned to a more upscale standard, empty storefronts & office bldg.'s should be utilized before new ones are built	11/21/2016 3:09 PM
113	traffic and sensible growth	11/21/2016 2:08 PM
114	see thoughtful development that enhances property value	11/21/2016 2:06 PM
115	too many low quality retail stores / no bill boards	11/21/2016 2:02 PM
116	there is a great need to develop an affordable housing plan for the city as there are many residents who need affordable housing solutions	11/21/2016 1:58 PM
117	smart, high density growth development in strategic segments of town	11/21/2016 1:54 PM
118	need to maintain a middle class environment, do not include apartments near downtown Fayetteville, add gold cart paths.	11/21/2016 1:47 PM
1 19	traffic; crime	11/21/2016 1:39 PM
120	too much development and not the right type, be very selective!	11/21/2016 1:36 PM
121	transportation and traffic is a great concern	11/21/2016 11:49 AM
122	east on 54 toward McDonough rd seems neglected; affordability for a single retired person-very interested in pinewood forrest development; would like to downsize to stepless ranch In not to distant future	11/21/2016 11:46 AM
123	unplanned growth, development & redevelopment	11/21/2016 11:40 AM
124	traffic	11/21/2016 11:38 AM
125	control of traffic patterns	11/21/2016 11:34 AM
126	so much open land-infill development would be good; neighborhoods w/pool, tennis courts and club house, need mora places for nightlife; more good restaurants	11/21/2016 11:31 AM
127	To grow retail, need more density but density is treated as a bad word	11/21/2016 11:20 AM

128	set community gals to be bicycle friendly & walk friendly; make developers build gaps in path system as impact; green space and green way plan is important to set priorities	11/21/2016 10:56 AM
129	How can the city grow positively without losing the support of long-time residents?	11/20/2016 10:57 AM
130	Stop wiping out wild areas. I see so many dead wildlife everywhere. Progress is when we respect the earth and care for all life.	11/20/2016 10:14 AM
131	School district rezoning	11/19/2016 8:23 AM
132	walkable, cool downtown, not overly (only) commercial	11/17/2016 8:42 PM
33	Please no canal!!! City Hall is great!! Modernizing an older building! Roundabouts are awesome, spend money from the canal or cart paths, link to other towns, neighborhoods, Plnewood, -see downtown Tilburg Netherlands!!	11/17/2016 4:54 PM
134	Lots of empty buildings that people don't want	11/17/2016 4:47 PM
135	New development instead of using existing structure-leaving too many vacant & poorly maintained properties-tearing down old development buildings	11/17/2018 4:43 PM
36	mass transit coming	11/17/2016 4:17 PM
37	Traffic	11/17/2016 4:12 PM
38	Too much focus of more housing. Need more professional career jobs & entertainment.	11/17/2016 4:02 PM
139	Planned!!	11/17/2016 3:41 PM
140	Stay on the plan	11/17/2016 3:33 PM
41	more green space and no more apt on Grady ave.	11/17/2016 3:21 PM
142	traffic congestion, ugly roads, cutting down trees everywhere, losing green space, losing places to ride my bike (already happening)	11/17/2016 3:12 PM
143	That people who support positive, intentional growth organize & make their voices heard	11/17/2016 3:11 PM
144	Need to develop land in an economically sustainable way. Need more career oriented jobs and buildings that go along with it.	11/17/2016 2:59 PM
45	Making sure it is quality growth	11/17/2016 2:53 PM
146	I don't want Fayetteville to become like Henry County or Coweta. I avoid those counties due to the poor planning which has caused traffic nightmares.	11/17/2016 12:11 PM
47	When can we begin?	11/17/2016 10:51 AM
148	That we have too many empty shops and keep building new - leaving the old ones for "junk" shops	11/17/2016 10:47 AM
149	I am 32 years old and single. I live here because it is close to my job. I want to buy a small house in a neighborhood not filled with old people. There isn't anything here for me. I think I am going to move to College Park and reverse commute.	11/16/2016 2:53 PM
150	Everything here is built for families with kids. Where are you supposed to live when you come back from college? Where are you supposed to live after you are married but before you have kids? Where are you supposed to live if you and your spouse choose not to have kids? Where are you supposed to live after you get divorced? Why are small homes only for senior citizens?	11/16/2016 2:39 PM
151	The new annexation. It is NOT a good idea from a home apprecuatio and crime perspective	11/16/2016 12:30 PM
52	To fast, to scon, ло Central Parkwe need green space!!!!	11/15/2016 8:02 PM
153	City should have more of a grid. Having multiple ways to get from point A to point B is important, Why don't the city leaders see this? Why isn't lhere a street plan for the city?	11/15/2016 4:34 PM
154	There are too may strip malks currently and we seem to be adding more. Hwy 85 is beginning to look like Tara Blvd in Clayton county.	11/15/2016 1:25 PM

155	The last 10+ years of Fayetteville have been the set-up for the decline of who and what Fayetteville was. The last two	11/15/2016 9:25 AM
	school zonings wrecked neighborhoods. Lower income families have replaced the people who left because of rezoning. Cheap apts are being built with no fore sight at Grady/54. (Guess what those will look like in 10 years - or less?) Dirty, abandoned strip malls populate N85 now. Families from ChickFilA, Defta, Home Depot and Coke used to move to Fayetteville. One look through the Pavillion, Hwy 85N, Grady/ 54, and the Fayette County High School feeders sends those families away. We are expected to be just like Riverdale and Morrow in the near future. It's the people who are here, not the redevelopment, that attracts or repels desirable new residents. There weren't any big redevelopment plans 15-20 years ago, but lots of families with good incomes and a great concern for how their children would grow up and be educated moved here anyway.	
56	Concerned with all the car lots, car washing stations and BUY gold places.	11/15/2016 7:37 AM
157	I don't want too much growth. It's already too busy and very congested!	11/15/2016 4:38 AM
158	Federal Government pressure to change socio-economic and demographic makeup by extending grants and other Inducements to put higher-density, cheaper housing in higher income neighborhoods.	11/14/2016 10:21 PM
159	I do not want my property value to go down. I live in the unincorporated county, but just minutes from the Square and Pinewood. I like a "mix" and do not want my neighborhood to become part of large developments. I also have concerns that without a hard look at what is being proposed the city may attract less desirable individuals to our town. We want productive people that want to work and play here. We do not want to accommodate citizens that are looking for inexpensive housing and easy accass to things.	11/14/2016 9:48 PM
160	Do not want low income appartment housing. Do not want to attract trashy businesses like Riverdale. Do not develop the property beside Ingles and Kingswood as commercial. It was once a BMX trail back there. We should maintain the green space (walking/biking trail at most)	11/14/2016 9:43 PM
161	I'd like to see affordable multi famity (yet upscale) housing in the Whitewater HS district.	11/14/2016 9:41 PM
162	High density development has no place on the south side of fayette where It would destroy existing neighborhoods and overcrowd schools. While I recognize the need for some apartments and town homes, they should be prioritized over existing homes and locations considered should be on the north and east sides of Fayetteville where there is already more mixed use development and other apartment homes.	11/14/2016 9:11 PM
163	Increase in congestion and crime	11/14/2016 9:07 PM
164	Too much focus on appeasing current residents need to draw new residents.	11/14/2016 9:06 PM
165	TRAFFICI I am loving the growth in Fayette County but the traffic on 85 and on 74 (I know it's PTC) are downright atrocious and will only get worse as the county continues to grow	11/14/2016 9:04 PM
166	I am concerned about this canal idea? What is it going to cost?! Where is the feasibility study? Why is it being kept from the public?! Also why are we doing a downtown plan when we haven't even finished the comprehensive plan? Has the County agreed to all the ideas in the plan? Are they going to sell their property to the City?	11/10/2016 4:39 PM
167	One -the tack of actually getting it done and really being proactive to enhance the community, to have actual growth and vitality in our community	11/9/2016 5:03 PM
168	Cost!	11/6/2016 10:01 PM
169	Exactly how much is this "canal" going to cost?! Can we pay for it without raising taxes or cutting services??? It so, great. If not, DON"T build it.	11/6/2016 5:23 PM
170	I am afraid that there are still people who believe that Fayetteville can still be a bedroom community. We are our own city with our own identity. Let's be the living room, not just the bedroom.	11/6/2016 5:15 PM
171	Low income housing should be avoided at all costs. We've got enough apartments - don't allow any more,	11/4/2016 11:49 AM
172	Too much growth that existing infrastructure cannot support; traffic congestion; crime.	11/4/2016 10:07 AM
173	Infrastructure cannot sustain continued growth. Loss of historic facilities. Currently, there are a number of vacant newly built strip shopping centers, need to relook the use and continued building. Why build new centers when current facilities remain vacant? Need a more vibrant recreational plan for Fayetteville.	11/3/2016 11:24 PM
174	We continue to bring discount stores and private businesses that set thomselves up for failure. The city needs to attract more known and upscale chains.	11/3/2016 8:08 PM
175	That we don't compromise the integrity of our community by lacing codes and lacing ordinances	11/3/2016 5:58 PM
1 76	I think planned growth is a good (hing. The city needs redevelopment to become a more vibrant, young and relevant suburban city.	11/3/2016 3:52 PM
177	safety and the wrong people moving In	11/3/2016 3:01 PM

178	Transportation	11/3/2016 2:59 PM
179	increase in crime over the recent years	11/3/2016 2:53 PM
180	That Fayetteville will lose it's small town charm, safety and will become like Henry County, over populated and horrendous traffic	11/3/2016 2:52 PM
181	Don't think it is wise to focus on a group that represents such a little percentage of our population. Young families will want to five in a good, stable community. We offer that now. There does need to be more things to do to build a sense of 'community.'	11/3/2016 2:50 PM
182	Crime toward the pavilion mall area	11/2/2016 7:40 PM
183	Making Fayetteville too busy will take away from the quiet i enjoy in the city	11/2/2016 7:33 PM
1 8 4	No more apartments!!!	11/2/2016 5:25 PM
185	No transit services available	11/2/2016 12:59 PM
186	none	11/2/2016 12:27 PM
187	You all talk a big storey but nothing happens. We need industry and no public transportation i know by this survey that is what you want. If you do i can tell you 40% will move and you will be just like riverdale Sam Rhone 265 aquire lane	11/2/2016 11:38 AM
188	I think we need to let go of the older mindset that is inhibiting the advancement of our city. We need to bring investment into this community that will extend far into the future. The best way to do this is to focus on bringing in people in the 20-40 year age range to move in and raise families here.	11/2/2016 10:56 AM
189	I would like to see Fayetteville set the community goals to recognized as a Walk-Friendly and Bicycle Friendly community, and add short term project to implement, all schools, parks and recreation areas should be connected by a path system. Site developers should be required to provide path easements and build onsite section as part of the impact plan, widen sidewalks to standard to 10 feet wide where possible.	11/2/2016 10:41 AM
190	Traffic and Safety for all.	11/2/2016 9:08 AM
191	Keep crime down	11/2/2016 9:07 AM
192	We need to redevelop some of building that are empty before we start building new buildings. We need unique business and restaurants if we keep going the direction were going with housing prices and chain restants that don't have good food the millinals are not going to want to live here!	11/2/2016 9:03 AM
193	Wish to see quality of echools maintained.	11/2/2016 8:34 AM
194	It's growing and expanding way too much for the movie industry. The movie industry hasn't heen in Fayetteville for 20 years or more. The people have. We don't want to live in a mini version of Atlanta. If we did we'd move. As for the young people who are moving away after high school, that's more because of college. There isn't really a choice in Fayetteville unless we want to get a degree online. Once we decide to start a family, we usually end up moving back, so I don't feel the need for you to "appeal" to us. I don't think we should have low rent apartments. It's proven to bring the crime rate up. If we must add more housing, put in condos or nicer apartments.	11/2/2016 8:34 AM
195	That it will get out of control!!!	11/2/2016 7:35 AM
196	Crime	11/2/2016 7:30 AM
197	The area doesn't grow if it is perceived to be unsafe. This is happening North of 92. Need to reinforce safety before we can attract new businesses. (I'm watching a news story on TV about a Fayette County convenience stora robbery as i type this). Otherwise the businesses and activity will continue to move through and away from FayettevIlle.	11/2/2016 12:09 AM
198	Property value going down. Congestion. Crime	11/1/2016 11:12 PM
199	I loved living in Fayetteville during the late 1970's and 1980's. Began chaoging drastically in mid to late 1990's. It reminds me of Riverdale now. It is not the city that I want attracting more millennials is NOT the answer. We need to focus on more quality housing choices in the \$250 - \$300,000 price range with covenants to protect homeowner's investments. We need to avoid bringing MORE BIG BOX stores in; and instead, focus on working with the Fayette Pavilion owner to offer more reasonable rent prices to keep the nicer businesses in to help maintain the area; otherwise, in 5 years it will be a vacant eyesora. The city council should say NO to any more dollar stores, drug stores, or gas stations. The new development across from Truett's Luau is awful why would any developer put the building so VERY CLOSE to a main state highway not a good idea. And Pinewood studio needs to be limited in its growth; otherwise; in a few years when their tax break expires, it will just be one big ghost town. Fayetteville needs to focus on	11/1/2016 10:58 PM

	•	-
200	Fayetteville mayor and council are being led by the nose into Pinewood Forrest. No leadership being exhibited. Where have you budgeted for additional EMS, FIRE, PD and city hall dept. staffing to accommodate the added work load existing staff is taking on with this rapid growth?	11/1/2016 8:30 PM
201	Too many low cost apartments being built will bring in the wrong crowd. We have too many empty buildings (IE: all around Teuett's Luau) building new buildings for new business is a waste and makes the old building look junky.	11/1/2016 7:54 PM
202	We are losing the jewel we moved to Fayetle County to enjoy because the city wants to gobble up property that calls for acre lots in the county land use plan. This is the reason Fayetle County, excluding PTC, has been different from the rest of metro Atlanta. We don't need apartments, townhomes, or condos. Quality single family homes should be the focus. If they are built on less than an acre the difference should be made up in greenspace. Higher density means traffic!	11/1/2016 7:49 PM
03	I'm concerned that the existing roads will not be able to support the amount of higher density housing that is being built and planned.	11/1/2016 6:41 PM
204	Part of the City's charm is the lack of massive highways. It important for commuters to have access, but if we make access too easy it will detract from the small town feeling we all love living in Fayettev/lle. Just look what has happened to PTC. We need more small businesses and morn and pop restaurants, like Junk Marra's and City Cafe and Bakery! Less chains food restaurants and no more big retail!	11/1/2016 5:41 PM
205	My concerns are mainly that people will fight for the status quo. I do think that transportation and traffic should be planned for with higher density development.	11/1/2016 5:12 PM
206	None	11/1/2016 4:23 PM
207	we need to encourage better residential product so that the offerings are not the same as every other metro suburb	11/1/2016 4:01 PM
208	I grew up in this county and can't afford to live here on my own despite having a masters degree. When I look for jobs - most require technical skills rather than degrees. We need more professional jobs - including entry level and higher level. Also a big fan of walkability and creating "third spaces" for people to gather/create community.	11/1/2016 3:44 PM
209	Becoming like Henry County where the roads cannot accommodate the new housing and businesses and traffic is a Nightmare	11/1/2016 3:43 PM
210	Crime and becoming to "city"	11/1/2016 3:39 PM
211	Fayettaville is too close to Clayton county, when you bring in all new things you bring in people that will destroy the area. It will not be a safe hometown any more just an extension of Clayton County and the current residents will flee for a better and safer place to live.	11/1/2016 3:37 PM
212	No concerns, just keep within the same historic landscape.	11/1/2016 1:19 PM
213	Too many businesses duplicated so closely. Choice of product is important to me, but it looks like riverdale.	11/1/2016 12:58 PM
214	You can't add more development without worrying about the traffic. Streets should be widened first beforehand. Especially 92 & 85. Also the street lights timing is homific and needs to be fixed. Get transportation running smoothly before adding more people to reduce the congestion and frustration which will only lead to people leaving the city.	11/1/2016 12:50 PM
215	Low income/public housing bringing crime to the area	11/1/2016 12:46 PM
216	We need to keep the village, family orientated feel about the place. If you start building inexpensive, small homes you are going to attract people that don't care and have no respect for the town they live in.	11/1/2016 12:28 PM
217	Building occurs without thinking of the roads. Over crowded streets. No public transportation, no thought to keeping Fayetteville historic. The new mural is not historic and not that catchy not forward thinking.	11/1/2016 11:04 AM
218	Growth too quickly without proper planning.	11/1/2016 11:01 AM
219	TO MUCH DEVELOPMENT	11/1/2016 7:16 AM
220	There's not places for young adults (23-30) to spend time. No hip or cool bars/ entertainment places where people can hang out. I have friends in other parts of the city and they do not like traveling to Fayeffeville because there is nothing to do.	11/1/2016 4:53 AM
221	I would like to see Fayetteville set community goals to be racognized as a Walk-Friendly and Bicycle-Friendly community, and add short term projects to implement. All schools, parks and recreation areas should be connected by the path system. Site developers should be required to provide path easements and build onsite section as part of impact. Widen sidewalks to path standard, 10 feet wide where possible.	11/1/2016 3:51 AM
222	Keep out Section 8 Housing	10/31/2016 10:16 PM
223	Cost and ease If moving through the dty when construction is active	10/31/2016 9:23 PM

224	Increased costs, congestion	10/31/2016 8:47 PM
225	Growth too fast.	10/31/2016 7:49 PM
226	The type of people it will attract. We need housing to attract college educated not government housing	10/31/2016 4:19 PM
227	the city being over populated due to daytime traffic making it hard to trevel through the city	10/31/2016 4:02 PM
228	My concern we don't have enough Police officers to handle the increase development and growth I saw only one police officer at the Halloween festival on Saturday(clearly not enough)	10/31/2016 3:56 PM
229	none	10/31/2016 1:12 PM
230	Biggest concern is that housing will be built first with a promise of things to come. To create the right demand we need features here first or simultaneously. Build the things young people want to do and they will come!	10/31/2016 12:37 PM
231	I moved to Fayetteville, and to the home I chose for the schools. Specifically for Whitewater High School. I am extremely concerned that my children will be redistricted and that there is significant risk to my property value. I am a single mom and my home is my only asset. I don't know if people who speak of all this change really consider that all the families who moved here, pay taxes, are involved in our community and support the local businesses are petrified of losing all the wonderful things we moved here for and stay here for.	10/31/2016 11:47 AM
232	The growth of the city will not be appealing to the elderly residents and become over populated.	10/31/2016 11:37 AM
233	Take care of the citizens that built the City, if the younger folks don't like Fayetteville let them leave. People came to Fayetteville because it's a bedroom commity.	10/31/2016 10:26 AM
234	That ALL people be welcomed and treated fairly as long as they are productive citizens. No more favorites or like it USED to be	10/31/2016 10:20 AM
235	Crime rate is the what affect me the most, it is the primary reason we don't come to Fayetteville at night. The school system is the other factor for us not raising our children in Fayetteville.	10/31/2016 10:02 AM
236	MY CONCERNS FOR THE RAPID GROWTH AND IDEAS IN THE PUBLIC SAFETY. IT SEEMS THAT PUBLIC 10/31/2 SAFETY IS BEHIND AND WILL NOT BE ABLE TO CONTROL OR PROVIDE THE SERVICE THEY NEED TO BECAUSE OF MANPOWER ISSUES. THIS SHOULD BE A PRIORTY FIRST SO PUBLIC SAFETY DOESN'T HAVE TO PLAY CATCH-UP AND NOT PERPARED FOR THE GROWTH.	
237	Please ensure that it is managed properly.	10/31/2016 9:05 AM
238	the city should take advantage of the opportunity of having pinewood (it will attract businesses, traffic and advertisement) in the city and revitalize the road grid and commercial opportunities to make it more approachable to millennials as well as to attract upscale population.	10/31/2016 6:14 AM
239	Crime	10/31/2016 7:35 AM
240	The county does not play well with others. Fayetteville must maintain ethical leadership that does not tolerate the unethical behavior of the county.	10/31/2016 7:27 AM
241	Low income apartments, dollar stores and pawn shops do nothing but decrease value and increase crime.	10/31/2016 6:56 AM
242	Nothingwe need the growth and development.	10/31/2016 6:03 AM
243	none	10/31/2016 4:57 AM
244	Treffic	10/31/2016 1:22 AM
245	Lack of transportation.	10/31/2016 12:11 AM
246	I am concerned that the growth that is constantly being proposed will ultimately lead to an implosion of the city. I understand that the leaders want to attract millennials, but I don't think building a bunch of \$300,000+ plus homes is the way to do it. How are they going to pay for these homes if the only available jobs are at Dollar General, Family Dollar, Publix and Kroger. They need more than minimum wage jobs to afford to live here. There is an abundance of homes in foreclosure due to the owner's inability to afford them so why keep building even more expensive ones. Bring in some factories or distribution centers or something that the with attract the people you want to come. You have to make the move worth their effort.	10/30/2016 11:01 PM
247	Keep city residents safe but offer alternative mode of transportation to down town Atlanta	10/30/2016 10:49 PM
248	Progress is needed or else the City will decline in the future.	10/30/2016 12:37 PM
249	GROWTH IS NOT ALWAYS A GOOD THING. YOU TELL US IT WILL BRING MORE MONEY TO THE CITY, BUT	10/30/2016 10:44 AM

250	The city down town development seems to be doing a great job; but development of top leadership within the police department needs much improvement.	10/29/2016 9:37 PM
251	That we will have more Apartment Complexes in the downtown city area.	10/29/2016 8:50 FM
252	Traffic	10/29/2016 3:05 PM
253	Balance. Retain historical flavor with attracting young professionals without compromising elderly.	10/29/2016 12:28 PM
254	Major concerns is that the people making these decisions are so out of touch and evidently does not drive northbound past the square. The interpretations of affordable housing is allowing government subsidizing which everyone knows is a political correct term for welfare receipts and criminals. The continuation of allowing no name businesses or fly by night business to pop up, leave and buildings are left vacant. No effort is made to attract actively familiar establishments that would attract consumers. While I live in the county, ALL my retail, etc tax dollars and shopping is now done in Coweta County.	10/29/2016 B:14 AM
255	Don't want the late night clubs and restaurants. Lots of mischief when late night hours and drinking involved.	10/29/2016 7:25 AM
256	Public Safety (Fire, Police, Road Department keeping the roads clean and accessible). Keeping crime down so the community can enjoy the hard work The City of Fayetteville has put in.	10/29/2016 7:05 AM
257	We are going to attract TOO many young people and we will become the new Clayton County. We are already on our way, starting with the Pavilion.	10/28/2016 9:12 PM
258	With all of the apartments currently being built, no more should be started until these are over 50% of capacity	10/28/2016 8:04 PM
259	Its to late to save it from Clayton county	10/28/2016 7:43 PM
260	The higher possibility of bringing crime	10/28/2016 5:28 FM
261	My current concern is that nothing will change and Fayetteville will continue to remain stagnant	10/28/2016 5:13 PM
262	The only concern I have is getting more of the same businesses, restaurants, etc. that we already have.	10/28/2016 4:58 PM
263	I would really like to see TAD areas being redeveloped. I think we need a better plan to market these areas to developers.	10/28/2016 2:57 PM
264	No young adults on boards that control what can and can not come here.	10/28/2016 2:27 PM

Q21 If applicable, please name the AVPRIDE student who referred you

Answered: 18 Skipped: 536

#	Responses	Date
1	Zach	12/6/2016 4:54 PM
2	Duffy Weldon	12/4/2016 7:20 PM
3	Jolie	12/4/2016 10:35 AM
4	Imani Hence	12/3/2016 10:51 PM
5	Michael Carter	12/3/2016 8:22 PM
6	Michael Carler	12/3/2016 7:16 PM
7	Bridgette Davenport	12/3/2016 7:05 PM
8	Bridgette Davenport	12/3/2016 7:04 PM
9	Michael Carter	12/3/2016 6:39 PM
10	Jaila Lewis	12/3/2016 6:32 PM
11	Alana Barr	12/3/2016 6:25 PM
12	Aaron Hackett	12/3/2016 6:23 PM
13	Bridgette Davenport	12/3/2016 6:19 PM
14	Alana Barr	12/3/2016 6:18 PM
15	I got a mass email.	12/1/2016 10:26 AM
16	Quentin Byrd	11/20/2016 10:57 AM
17	Myself: Veronica Warner 678-763-0724 contact me	11/20/2016 10:14 AM
18	Michael Mumper	11/17/2016 8:42 PM

APPENDIX B - PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

City of Fayetteville Comprehensive Plan Steering Committee Meeting #1 Monday, October 3, 2016 at 6:30 pm Fayetteville City Hall, City Council Chambers

Rick Halbert

Meeting Attendees:

Steering Committee Members in Attendance:

	κιςκ παιθεις
Greg Aikin	Rich Hoffman
Janice Boyd	Jeff Hollis
Kelly Brown	Abe Morrall
Robert Burch	Brett Nolan
Cathy Cochran	Katie Pace
Ken Collins	Lauren Panter
Larry Dell	Debra Renfroe
Michelle Fowler	Ken Steele
Rachel Goergen	Carlotta Ungaro
Karen Graiser	Cam Williams
Ken Collins Larry Dell Michelle Fowler Rachel Goergen	Debra Renfrœ Ken Steele Carlotta Ungaro

City of Fayetteville:

Mayor Ed Johnson Ray Gibson, City Manager Alan Jones, Assistant City Manager Julie Brown, Senior Planner

The Collaborative Firm staff: Jahnee Prince, Project Manager Maurice Ungaro

Summary

The City of Fayetteville held its first Comprehensive Plan Steering Committee Meeting on Monday, October 3rd, 2016, at 6:30 pm at City Hall in the City Council Chambers.

Mayor Johnson welcomed the Comprehensive Plan Steering Committee members. The Collaborative Firm consultant team and city staff were introduced. Each of the Steering Committee members introduced themselves.

Project Manager-Jahnee Prince, Collaborative Firm, Acting City of Fayetteville Planning Director introduced the plan, explained the comprehensive planning process and requirements, the steering committee's responsibilities throughout the process, and the tentative timeline for the project. She also explained how the public meetings will be structured and what outcomes are anticipated from each meeting. Ms. Prince also explained all of the planned outreach activities to get people to attend the public meetings and explained what kinds of questions are typically asked in a community survey.

Steering Committee Responsibilities:

- Help to get the word out about Public Meetings
- Assist in facilitating discussions at Public Meetings
- Help the consultant understand and distill public input into meaningful goals and objectives
- Review data, background information, and draft documents
- Give feedback to the consultant

Timeline:

Steering Committee meetings are planned for the following dates:

10-17-16 11-14-16 12-12-16 1-23-17 2-13-17 Public Meetings will be held on the following dates: 11-1-16 11-29-16 2-27-17

Committee Member Input:

Rachel Goergen spoke about maintaining the small town atmosphere of Fayetteville while becoming a place where her children would want to live.

Rick Halbert spoke about the fast pace of development at Pinewood Atlanta Studios and the soon to start Mixed-Use Project Pinewood Forrest, which will be located directly across the street from the studio. Lots of bike and golf cart paths are being used for both developments and should be incorporated into the City's Comprehensive Plan as well. Mr. Halbert stated Fayetteville may not be ready for the surge in development we are about to see.

Chamber of Commerce CEO Carlotta Ungaro encouraged committee members to review the Economic Development Study that is available on the city's website. Mrs. Ungaro also suggested committee members review the website Strong towns.

Gregg Aikin stated we need to decide if we want to become a destination city.

Rich Hoffman stated we need restaurants that will stay open later than 10:00pm.

Karen Graiser stated she would love to see something along the lines of a Ponce City Market in Fayetteville.

Brent Nollan stated we should review and update our Code of Ordinances.

Ms. Prince stated that it seems that several issues are emerging that Steering Committee will need to address and should be included in the community survey.

- How to make Fayetteville a place that future generations will want to live?
- Should Fayetteville be a destination? Do we want more nightlife here? How can Fayetteville be a unique place by building on what we already have? Do we want more chains? Or more unique businesses (especially restaurants)?
- Should Downtown Fayetteville continue to require historic architecture? Does the style of architecture really matter as long as the area is walkable and the uses are mixed to create a vibrant Downtown?
- In our more suburban areas along State Highways, are the current architectural requirements accomplishing what we want in those areas?

Ms. Prince told the Steering Committee that she would email them a draft of the community survey and some additional reading materials to be discussed at the next Steering Committee meeting.

The meeting concluded with a review of next steps in the process.

The next Steering Committee meeting will be held on Monday, October 17, at 6:30 pm, at City Hall in the City Council Chambers.

City of Fayetteville Comprehensive Plan Steering Committee Meeting #2 Monday, October 17, 2016 at 6:30 pm Fayetteville City Hall, City Council Chambers

Meeting Attendees:

Steering Committee Members in Attendance:

Greg Aikin Janice Boyd Robert Burch Cathy Cochran Ken Collins Larry Dell Michelle Fowler Rachel Goergen Karen Graiser, Rick Halbert Rich Hoffman Jeff Hollis Abe Morrall Brett Nolan Katie Pace Lauren Panter Debra Renfroe Ken Steele Carlotta Ungaro Cam Williams

City of Fayetteville:

Mayor Ed Johnson Ray Gibson, City Manager Alan Jones, Assistant City Manager Julie Brown, Senior Planner

The Collaborative Firm staff: Jahnee Prince, Project Manager Maurice Ungaro

Summary

The planning team presented previous planning documents. The Steering Committee discussed the merits of each of the previous planning documents to better help the Planning Team to determine which issues need to be addressed and which questions need to be asked in the community survey.

Ms. Prince presented a rough draft of a survey and the Steering Committee members suggested revisions. Ms. Prince announced that the online survey and paper surveys will be ready on Friday, October 28. The link to the online survey will be emailed to the Steering Committee, who are asked to send it out to their email contacts who live in the City. Ms. Prince asked for

volunteers to help hand out meeting invitations and surveys at Market Day on October 28. Brett Nollan volunteered.

Ms. Prince explained the outreach methods in use for the Public Meeting #1 to be held on Tuesday, November 1. Outreach methods include

- Meeting invitation flyer and poster to be distributed to churches and schools
- Press release
- City website and Facebook
- Invitation handouts at last Market Day (surveys start on this day as well)

Ms. Prince explained the expectations of Steering Committee in the outreach process.

- Send pdf of invitation to all of your email contacts who live in the City
- Bring flyers to every gathering you attend between now and November 1
- Ask owners/managers of businesses that you frequent to post a poster and/or hand out meeting flyers

The Planning Team then took the Steering Committee through what would happen at the first Community Meeting to be held on November 1. Janice Boyd and Cathy Cochran volunteered to staff the sign in table. Larry Dell, Ken Collins and Debra Renfroe volunteered to do whatever was necessary.

City of Fayetteville Comprehensive Plan Steering Committee Meeting #3 Monday, November 14, 2016 at 6:30 pm Fayetteville City Hall, City Council Chambers

Meeting Attendees:

Steering Committee Members in Attendance:

Greg Aikin Janice Boyd Kelly Brown Robert Burch Cathy Cochran Ken Collins Larry Dell Michelle Fowler Rachel Goergen Len Gough Karen Graiser Rick Halbert Rich Hoffman Jeff Hollis Abe Morrall Brett Nolan Katie Pace Lauren Panter Debra Renfroe Ken Steele Carlotta Ungaro

City of Fayetteville:

Mayor Ed Johnson Ray Gibson, City Manager Alan Jones, Assistant City Manager Julie Brown, Senior Planner

The Collaborative Firm staff:

Jahnee Prince, Project Manager Maurice Ungaro

Summary

Ms. Prince introduced the two newly appointed Steering Committee Members, Len Gough and Jeff Hollis.

Ms. Prince presented the Community Survey Results to date, noting that we had 441 responses so far and that all the paper copies gathered at the first public meeting and at Market Day would have to be entered into SurveyMonkey manually. Michelle Fowler volunteered to help enter surveys into SurveyMonkey. Ms. Prince gave a recap of the November 1 Community Meeting. There were nearly 120 people in attendance. Ms. Prince thanked the Steering Committee for all their hard work in making the meeting a success. Larry Dell said that Jahnee and her team did an excellent job on the outreach for the meeting.

Ms. Prince presented the answers to the question boards presented at the November 1 meeting and Visual Preference Survey Results. The Steering Committee discussed the Visual Preference Survey results, noting preferred lot sizes, architecture, and development types. The Steering Committee reiterated the communities' concerns regarding garden apartment complexes versus the need for people living downtown to patronize the local businesses.

Ms. Prince walked the Steering Committee through what would take place at the November 29 Community Meeting and detailed the outreach efforts to date. Jeff Hollis reminded the group of the im

City of Fayetteville Comprehensive Plan Steering Committee Meeting #4 Monday, December 12, 2016 at 6:30 pm

Fayetteville City Hall, City Council Chambers

Meeting Attendees:

Steering Committee Members in Attendance:

Greg Aikin Janice Boyd Robert Burch Cathy Cochran Ken Collins Larry Dell Michelle Fowler Rachel Goergen Len Gough Karen Graiser Rick Halbert Rich Hoffman Jeff Hollis Abe Morrall Brett Nolan Katie Pace Lauren Panter Debra Renfroe Ken Steele Carlotta Ungaro

City of Fayetteville:

Mayor Ed Johnson Ray Gibson, City Manager Alan Jones, Assistant City Manager Julie Brown, Senior Planner

The Collaborative Firm staff:

Jahnee Prince, Project Manager Larry Lucas Ms. Prince explained that the project schedule incorporated one extra month at the end to be utilized if needed. Based on the lack of clear direction in Community Survey Results, there will be more time/analysis/deliberation/ strategy work for the Steering Committee and the planning team, so two additional Steering Committee meetings have been added. The project completion date is one month later, but the required June 30 adoption deadline date will be met.

Larry Lucas presented the small group maps from the November 29 Community Meeting. Karen Graiser asked numerous questions regarding the maps. Mr. Lucas explained that the summary map shows the common features from all of the small group maps. If the Steering Committee is comfortable with the summary map, it will become the first draft of the Future Land Use Map. Ken Steele explained the importance of the Future Land Use Map to the Steering Committee.

Ms. Prince informed the Steering Committee that the Community Survey closed on December 8. There were 554 responses which included: 158 paper surveys filled out at Market Day, 66 paper surveys completed at the November 1 Community Workshop, 281 surveys online, 49 paper surveys filled out at City Hall or brought to City Hall. Ms. Prince reminded the Steering Committee that they were emailed a copy of the Surveymonkey report. Ms. Prince presented the final survey results.

The Steering Committee discussed Needs and Opportunities and a general outline for the Comprehensive Plan Document. The meeting concluded with a discussion of a proposed Vision Statement.

City of Fayetteville Comprehensive Plan Steering Committee Meeting #5 Monday, January 9, 2017 at 6:30 pm

Fayetteville City Hall, City Council Chambers

Meeting Attendees:

Steering Committee Members in Attendance:

Greg Aikin Ken Collins Michelle Fowler Rachel Goergen Karen Graiser Rich Hoffman Jeff Hollis Abe Morrall Brett Nolan Lauren Panter Debra Renfroe Ken Steele Carlotta Ungaro

City of Fayetteville:

Mayor Ed Johnson Ray Gibson, City Manager LaShawn Gardiner, City Planner Julie Brown, Senior Planner Reggie James, Planner

The Collaborative Firm staff:

Jahnee Prince, Project Manager Larry Lucas

Ms. Prince provided a review of the proposed Needs and Opportunities List. After significant discussion, the Steering Committee added more entries to each list.

As requested by the Steering Committee at their previous meeting Ms. Prince reviewed the Community Survey results by tenure of residency. Ms. Prince discussed each survey question and how tenure of residency did or did not affect the answers to the questions.

Both new residents and long time residents want the following:

- Special sidewalks/crosswalks, streetlights and other streetscape improvements
- More businesses and activity downtown
- More places to go at night
- More festivals/events
- More outdoor recreational opportunities: Parks and greenspace (in general), trails, developing a large central park and other outdoor gathering places.
- A more walkable community

Both groups are concerned about:

- Maintaining residential property values
- Apartments attracting undesirable residents
- Crime
- Schools
- Traffic
- Large supply of retail space/retail zoned land and not enough local demand which:
- Decreases rental rates
- Allows cheaper rents so that discount or second hand stores are more likely to open
- Leaves existing, less desirable retail spaces vacant

The Steering Committee discussed the proposed Vision Statement for the Plan.

Ms. Prince presented all of the demographic data to be included in the Comprehensive Plan.

City of Fayetteville Comprehensive Plan Steering Committee Meeting #6 Monday, January 30, 2017 at 6:30 pm Fayetteville City Hall, City Council Chambers

Meeting Attendees:

Steering Committee Members in Attendance:

Cathy Cochran		
Ken Collins		
Larry Dell		
Michelle Fowler		
Rachel Goergen		
Rick Halbert		

Rich Hoffman Jeff Hollis Abe Morrall Brett Nolan Lauren Panter Debra Renfroe Ken Steele Carlotta Ungaro

City of Fayetteville:

Mayor Ed Johnson Kathaleen Brewer, City Councilmember LaShawn Gardiner, City Planner Julie Brown, Senior Planner Reggie James, Planner

The Collaborative Firm staff:

Jahnee Prince, Project Manager

The meeting began with a review of vision statement discussed at the last meeting. Ken Steele provided a historical perspective on the City's vision statement and on the City's logo. The Steering Committee agreed on the vision statement

The Steering Committee discussed the transportation Issues raised through the community survey and the community meetings. The committee agreed on how to prioritize the issues and created a priority list of needed improvements. From this list, the Steering Committee engaged in a goal setting session specifically for transportation.

Ms. Prince presented to the Steering Committee the first draft of the Future Land Use Map which was based on the summary map. The summary map was based on the individual group maps prepared in the November 29 community meeting. Ms. Prince also presented some proposed future land use categories/ character areas based on the most liked development types and patterns expressed by the community in the Visual Preference Survey. The Steering Committee discussed the proposed future land use categories/ character areas. Brett Nolan raised several questions regarding Fayetteville's proposed future land use categories/ categories/ character areas as compared to other cities.

The Steering Committee gave Ms. Prince some feedback on Comprehensive Plan outline to assist her in her revisions.

City of Fayetteville Comprehensive Plan Steering Committee Meeting #7 February 13, 2016 at 6:30 pm

Fayetteville City Hall, City Council Chambers

Meeting Attendees:

Steering Committee Members in Attendance:

Greg Aikin Janice Boyd Ken Collins Michelle Fowler Rachel Goergen Karen Graiser Rick Halbert Rich Hoffman Jeff Hollis Abe Morrall Brett Nolan Debra Renfroe Carlotta Ungaro

City of Fayetteville:

Mayor Ed Johnson Kathaleen Brewer, City Councilmember LaShawn Gardiner, City Planner Julie Brown, Senior Planner Reggie James, Planner

The Collaborative Firm staff: Jahnee Prince, Project Manager

Summary

The Steering Committee discussed the land use and economic development Issues raised through the community survey and the community meetings. The Steering Committee engaged in goal setting sessions for land use and economic development

Ms. Prince thanked the Steering Committee for their feedback on the first draft of the Comprehensive Plan. She said that she would continue to write and revise based on their feedback.

The Steering Committee reviewed the revised draft of the Future Land Use Map and revised future land use categories/ character areas. The Steering Committee discussed the proposed future land use categories/ character areas and provided feedback to Ms. Prince.

City of Fayetteville Comprehensive Plan Steering Committee Meeting #8 Monday, March 6, 2017 at 6:30 pm

Fayetteville City Hall, City Council Chambers

Meeting Attendees:

Steering Committee Members in Attendance:

	Karen Graiser
Greg Aikin	Rick Halbert
Janice Boyd	Rich Hoffman
Ken Collins	Jeff Hollis
Larry Dell	Abe Morrall
Michelle Fowler	Brett Nolan
Rachel Goergen	Debra Renfroe
Len Gough	Carlotta Ungaro

City of Fayetteville:

Mayor Ed Johnson Kathaleen Brewer, City Councilmember LaShawn Gardiner, City Planner Julie Brown, Senior Planner Reggie James, Planner

The Collaborative Firm staff:

Jahnee Prince, Project Manager

Summary

The Steering Committee discussed all of the land use, transportation, and economic development goals written to date. Through a great deal of discussion, the goals were further refined

Karon Graison

Ms. Prince thanked the Steering Committee for their feedback on the second draft of the Comprehensive Plan. She said that she would continue to write and revise based on their feedback. Ms. Prince asked for all of the feedback to be submitted in writing, either via email or through hard copies with red pen. Carlotta Ungaro suggested left justifying text that wrapped pictures for easier reading.

The Steering Committee reviewed an updated draft of the Future Land Use Map and revised future land use categories/ character areas. The Steering Committee discussed the proposed future land use categories/ character areas and provided feedback to Ms. Prince. Ms. Prince requested that changes to specific parcels be recorded directly on the draft Future Land Use Map for her to give to The Collaborative Firm's GIS consultant.

City of Fayetteville Comprehensive Plan Steering Committee Meeting #9 Monday, March 20, 2017 at 6:30 pm

Fayetteville City Hall, City Council Chambers

Meeting Attendees:

Steering Committee Members in Attendance:

Greg Aikin	Rich Hoffman
Janice Boyd	Jeff Hollis
Cathy Cochran	Abe Morrall
Ken Collins	Brett Nolan
Karen Graiser	Debra Renfroe
Rick Halbert	Carlotta Ungaro

City of Fayetteville:

Mayor Ed Johnson Kathaleen Brewer, City Councilmember Paul Oddo, City Councilmember Harlan Shirley, City Councilmember Ray Gibson, City Manager LaShawn Gardiner, City Planner Julie Brown, Senior Planner Reggie James, Planner

The Collaborative Firm staff:

Jahnee Prince, Project Manager

Summary

Ms. Prince thanked the Steering Committee for their feedback on the Comprehensive Plan document and Future Land Use Map. She said that she would continue to write and revise based on their feedback. Ms. Prince asked for all of the feedback to be submitted in writing, either via email or through hard copies with red pen.

Ms. Prince explained the outreach methods in use for the Public Meeting #3 to be held on March 27. Outreach methods include:

- Meeting invitation flyer and poster to be distributed to businesses, churches, and schools
- Press release
- City website and Facebook
- Email blasts to:
 - o people who attended previous community meetings
 - o City Council's contacts
 - o Planning and Zoning Commission's contacts

Ms. Prince reminded the Steering Committee members of their part in the outreach process.

- Send pdf of invitation to all of your email contacts who live in the City
- Bring flyers to every gathering you attend between now and the public meeting
- Ask owners/managers of businesses that you frequent to post a poster and/or hand out meeting flyers

Ms. Prince then showed the Steering Committee the presentation that she would be making at the March 27 community meeting. The Steering Committee provided feedback to Ms. Prince and she promised to make revisions.

A group photo was taken of the Steering Committee.

City of Fayetteville Comprehensive Plan Steering Committee Meeting #10 Monday, April 10, 2017 at 6:30 pm Fayetteville City Hall, City Council Chambers

Meeting Attendees:

Steering Committee Members in Attendance:

Greg Aikin Janice Boyd Cathy Cochran Ken Collins Larry Dell Michelle Fowler Len Gough Rick Halbert Rich Hoffman Jeff Hollis Abe Morrall Brett Nolan Debra Renfroe Ken Steele Carlotta Ungaro

City of Fayetteville: Mayor Ed Johnson Ray Gibson, City Manager Kathleen Brewer, City Councilmember Harlan Shirley, City Councilmember LaShawn Gardiner, City Planner Julie Brown, Senior Planner

The Collaborative Firm staff: Jahnee Prince, Project Manager

Summary

Ms. Prince began the meeting with a review of Comment Card feedback received from the Community Meeting held on March 27. Several Steering Committee members stated that it seemed like the people providing feedback hadn't read the plan. Ms. Prince confirmed that the Comprehensive Plan draft, including the Future Land Use map were posted on the City's website. City staff has also emailed out copies to people who have requested it. Ken Collins stated that he was happy to receive so many positive comments on the Comprehensive Plan process and on the contents of the plan.

Ms. Prince said that there were a number of specific properties that must be discussed in order to finalize the Future Land Use Map:

Fayette Pavilion Phase 3 (GA 314 side): The Steering Committee decided that this parcel should be designated for Business Park uses.

Downtown area for more detailed study: The Steering Committee decided that the Highway 85 North corridor from Lafayette to SR 314 should undergo additional study to facilitate the transition from a suburban environment to a small scale urban environment.

Rolader property: The Steering Committee decided that the property should be designated for high density single family uses, but noted that great architecture and site design were key to the success of any high density single family area. Kathaleen Brewer asked when revisions to the Zoning Ordinance would be made to address this and other issues. Ms. Prince responded that a Zoning Ordinance audit and text amendments were planned to take place right after the adoption of the Comprehensive Plan.

Williams property: The Steering Committee decided that the Williams property should be designated Low Density Residential. Ms. Prince noted that the property owner would likely appeal this decision to the City Council in a public hearing.

Mayor Johnson thanked the Steering Committee for their service to the City.